
 

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q
 
☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the quarterly period ended February 28, 2018
 

OR
 
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the transition period from ______to ______       
  

Commission File Number: 1-11869
  

FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.
 

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
 

 
Delaware 13-3362547

(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

 
601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851
(Address of principal executive office) (Zip Code)

 
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (203) 810-1000

 

 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days.    Yes ☒    No ☐
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant
was required to submit and post such files).    Yes ☒    No ☐
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of
“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

 
Large accelerated filer ☒  Accelerated filer ☐  Non-accelerated filer ☐  Smaller reporting company  ☐  Emerging Growth Company ☐

 
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes ☐   No ☒
 
The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock, $.01 par value, as of March 29, 2018 was 38,874,450.
 

 



 
 
 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
Form 10-Q
For the Quarter Ended February 28, 2018
 
Index
 
  Page 
Part I FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
   

Item 1. Financial Statements  
   
 Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017 3
   
 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017 4
   
 Consolidated Balance Sheets at February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017 5
   
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017 6
   
 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 7
   

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 30
   

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 45
   

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 46
   
Part II OTHER INFORMATION  
   

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 47
   

Item 1A. Risk Factors 47
   

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 47
   

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 47
   

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 47
   

Item 5. Other Information 47
   

Item 6. Exhibits 48
   
 Signatures 48
 
For additional information about FactSet Research Systems Inc. and access to its Annual Reports to Stockholders and Securities and Exchange Commission filings,
free of charge, please visit the website at http://investor.factset.com. Any information on or linked from the website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-
Q.
 

2



 
 
 

PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME – Unaudited
 

  
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Six Months Ended

February 28,  
(In thousands, except per share data)  2018   2017   2018   2017  
Revenues  $ 335,231  $ 294,354  $ 664,372  $ 582,417 
 

Operating expenses                 
Cost of services   163,232   131,635   324,756   258,885 
Selling, general and administrative   76,514   70,973   155,033   141,467 

Total operating expenses   239,746   202,608   479,789   400,352 
                 

Operating income   95,485   91,746   184,583   182,065 
Other expense                 

Loss on sale of business   —   (1,208)   —   (1,223)
Interest expense, net of interest income   (3,272)   (1,048)   (6,191)   (1,532)

Total other expense   (3,272)   (2,256)   (6,191)   (2,755)
                 

Income before income taxes   92,213   89,490   178,392   179,310 
                 
Provision for income taxes   39,076   22,780   54,876   46,017 

Net income  $ 53,137  $ 66,710  $ 123,516  $ 133,293 
                 
Basic earnings per common share  $ 1.36  $ 1.69  $ 3.16  $ 3.36 
Diluted earnings per common share  $ 1.33  $ 1.68  $ 3.11  $ 3.34 
                 
Basic weighted average common shares   38,991   39,489   39,038   39,659 
Diluted weighted average common shares   39,846   39,700   39,763   39,900 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FactSet Research Systems Inc.
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME – Unaudited
 

  
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Six Months Ended

February 28,  
(In thousands)  2018   2017   2018   2017  
Net income  $ 53,137  $ 66,710  $ 123,516  $ 133,293 
                 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax                 

Net unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedges*   (1,268)   1,401   (1,744)   1,848 
Foreign currency translation adjustments   9,400   861   17,866   (10,636)

Other comprehensive income (loss)   8,132   2,262   16,122   (8,788)
Comprehensive income  $ 61,269  $ 68,972  $ 139,638  $ 124,505 
 
* For the three and six months ended February 28, 2018, the unrealized gain on cash flow hedges was net of a tax benefit of $902 and $1,190, respectively. For the
three and six months ended February 28, 2017, the unrealized gain on cash flow hedges was net of a tax expense of $817 and $1,078, respectively.
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

  
February 28,

2018   
August 31,

2017  
(In thousands, except share data)  (Unaudited)      
ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 233,628  $ 194,731 
Investments   31,558   32,444 
Accounts receivable, net of reserves of $3,335 at February 28, 2018 and $2,738 at August 31, 2017   165,493   148,331 
Prepaid taxes   8,110   7,076 
Deferred taxes   —   2,668 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   33,278   24,126 

Total current assets   472,067   409,376 
         

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net   97,470   100,454 
         

Goodwill   716,912   707,560 
Intangible assets, net   164,687   173,543 
Deferred taxes   5,787   7,412 
Other assets   15,569   14,970 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 1,472,492  $ 1,413,315 
         
LIABILITIES         

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 59,395  $ 59,214 
Accrued compensation   37,797   61,083 
Deferred fees   65,728   47,495 
Deferred taxes   —   2,382 
Taxes payable   1,774   9,112 
Dividends payable   21,799   21,853 

Total current liabilities   186,493   201,139 
         

Long-term debt   574,702   575,000 
Deferred taxes   25,688   24,892 
Deferred fees   4,299   3,921 
Taxes payable   31,482   11,484 
Deferred rent and other non-current liabilities   37,738   37,188 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  $ 860,402  $ 853,624 
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 17)         

         
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         

Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued  $ —  $ — 
Common stock, $.01 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized, 39,047,153 and 51,845,132 shares issued;

38,927,153 and 39,023,032 shares outstanding at February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, respectively   390   518 
Additional paid-in capital   625,394   741,748 
Treasury stock, at cost: 120,000 and 12,822,100 shares at February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, respectively   (23,379)   (1,606,678)
Retained earnings   28,283   1,458,823 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (18,598)   (34,720)

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 612,090  $ 559,691 
         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 1,472,492  $ 1,413,315 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS – Unaudited
 

  
Six Months Ended

February 28,  
(in thousands)  2018   2017  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES         
Net income  $ 123,516  $ 133,293 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities         

Depreciation and amortization   28,372   20,649 
Stock-based compensation expense   15,420   13,611 
Loss on sale of business   —   1,223 
Deferred income taxes   2,934   3,032 
Loss on disposition of assets   25   142 
Tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements   —   (8,995)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions         

Accounts receivable, net of reserves   (16,307)   (30,998)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   147   3,352 
Accrued compensation   (23,595)   (17,699)
Deferred fees   18,098   1,152 
Taxes payable, net of prepaid taxes   17,166   10,561 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (11,915)   (3,982)
Deferred rent and other non-current liabilities   (186)   2,774 
Other working capital accounts, net   14   (57)

Net cash provided by operating activities   153,689   128,058 
         
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES         
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired   —   (71,689)
Purchases of investments   (9,487)   (25,149)
Proceeds from sales of investments   9,872   19,501 
Purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net of proceeds from dispositions   (12,375)   (18,046)

Net cash used in investing activities   (11,990)   (95,383)
         
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES         
Dividend payments   (43,406)   (39,568)
Repurchases of common stock   (113,906)   (166,427)
Proceeds from debt   —   65,000 
Other financing activities   442   (1,223)
Proceeds from employee stock plans   48,784   34,725 
Tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements   —   8,995 

Net cash used by financing activities   (108,086)   (98,498)
         
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   5,284   (7,233)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   38,897   (73,056)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   194,731   228,407 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 233,628  $ 155,351 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
February 28, 2018
(Unaudited)
 
 
1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS
 
FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company” or “FactSet”) is a global provider of integrated financial information, analytical applications and industry-leading
service for the global investment community. The Company delivers insight and information to investment professionals through its analytics, service, content, and
technology. These professionals include portfolio managers, investment research professionals, investment bankers, risk and performance analysts, and wealth
advisors. From streaming real-time data to historical information, including quotes, estimates, news and commentary, FactSet offers unique and third-party content
through desktop, web, mobile and off-platform solutions. The Company’s broad application suite offers tools and resources including company and industry analyses,
full screening tools, portfolio analysis, risk profiles, alpha-testing, portfolio optimization and research management solutions. With recent acquisitions, FactSet has
continued to expand its solutions across the investment lifecycle from idea generation to performance and client reporting. The Company’s revenues are derived from
subscriptions to products and services such as workstations, analytics, enterprise data, research management, and trade execution.
 
 
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
 
FactSet conducts business globally and is managed on a geographic basis. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany activity and balances have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.
 
The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of FactSet and the accompanying notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP").  In the opinion of management, the accompanying condensed consolidated
financial statements include all normal recurring adjustments, transactions or events discretely impacting the interim periods considered necessary to fairly state our
results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The information in this Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2017.
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date that the financial statements were issued.
 
 
3. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
 
As of the first six months of fiscal 2018, FactSet implemented all applicable new accounting standards and updates issued by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) that were in effect. There were no new standards or updates adopted during the first six months of fiscal 2018 that had a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
 
New Accounting Standards or Updates Recently Adopted
 
Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes
During the first quarter of fiscal 2018, FactSet adopted the accounting standard update issued by the FASB in November 2015 to simplify the presentation of deferred
taxes on the balance sheet. This accounting standard update required an entity to present all deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as non-current on the
balance sheet. Under the previous guidance, entities were required to separately present deferred taxes as current or non-current. Netting deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities by tax jurisdiction is still required under the new guidance. This accounting standard update is a change to the balance sheet presentation only.
The changes have been applied prospectively as permitted by the standard and prior periods have not been restated.
 
Share-Based Payments
During the first quarter of fiscal 2018, FactSet adopted the accounting standard update issued by the FASB in March 2016, which simplifies several aspects of the
accounting for employee share-based payment transactions, including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures and statutory tax withholding requirements, as well
as classification in the statement of cash flows. This accounting standard update increases the volatility within the Company’s provision for income taxes as all excess
tax benefits or deficiencies related to share-based payments that were previously reported within equity are now recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
The adoption of this standard resulted in the recognition of $6.1 million of excess tax benefits to FactSet’s provision for income taxes during the first six months of
fiscal 2018. In addition, this standard changed the classification of excess tax benefits presented in the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows from a
financing activity to an operating activity, which was applied on a prospective basis as permitted by the standard. Prior periods were not restated. Share-based payment
expense continues to reflect estimated forfeitures of share-based payment awards. The remaining provisions of this standard did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Recent Accounting Standards or Updates Not Yet Effective
 
Revenue Recognition
In May 2014 and July 2015, the FASB issued accounting standard updates, which clarified principles for recognizing revenue arising from contracts with clients and
superseded most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the revenue model is that an entity recognizes
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to clients in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. These accounting standard updates will be effective for FactSet beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, with early adoption in fiscal
2018 permitted, and will allow for either full retrospective or modified retrospective adoption. The Company plans to adopt the standard on September 1, 2018, and is
currently evaluating the impact of these accounting standard updates on its consolidated financial statements and the method of adoption.
 
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
In January 2016, the FASB issued an accounting standard update to amend its current guidance on the classification and measurement of certain financial instruments.
The accounting standard update significantly revises an entity’s accounting related to the presentation of certain fair value changes for financial liabilities measured at
fair value. This guidance also amends certain disclosure requirements associated with the fair value of financial instruments. This guidance will be effective for
FactSet beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update on its consolidated financial
statements.
 
Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued an accounting standard update related to accounting for leases. The guidance introduces a lessee model that requires most leases to
be reported on the balance sheet. The accounting standard update aligns many of the underlying principles of the new lessor model with those in the FASB’s new
revenue recognition standard. The guidance also eliminates the requirement in current U.S. GAAP for an entity to use bright-line tests in determining lease
classification. This accounting standard update will be effective for FactSet beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2020, with early adoption in fiscal 2019 permitted.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update on its consolidated financial statements.
 
Cash Flow Simplification
In August 2016, the FASB issued an accounting standard update, which simplifies how certain transactions are classified in the statement of cash flows. This includes
revised guidance on the cash flow classification of debt prepayments and debt extinguishment costs, contingent consideration payments made after a business
combination and distributions received from equity method investments. The guidance is intended to reduce diversity in practice across all industries. This accounting
standard update will be effective for FactSet beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard
update on its consolidated financial statements.
 
Income Taxes on Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets
In October 2016, the FASB issued an accounting standard update, which removes the prohibition against the immediate recognition of the current and deferred income
tax effects of intra-entity transfers of assets other than inventory. The guidance is intended to reduce diversity in practice related to the tax consequences of certain
types of intra-entity asset transfers, particularly those involving intellectual property. This accounting standard update will be effective for FactSet beginning in the
first quarter of fiscal 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update on its consolidated financial statements.
 
Goodwill Impairment Test
In January 2017, the FASB issued an accounting standard update, which removes the requirement for companies to compare the implied fair value of goodwill with its
carrying amount as part of step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. A goodwill impairment will now be the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds
its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. This accounting standard update will be effective for FactSet beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2021,
with early adoption permitted for any impairment tests performed after January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard
update on its consolidated financial statements.
 
Hedge Accounting Simplification
In August 2017, the FASB issued an accounting standard update to reduce the complexity and simplify the application of hedging accounting. The guidance refines
and expands hedge accounting for both financial and nonfinancial risk components, eliminates the need to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness, and
aligns the recognition and presentation of the effects of the hedging instrument and the hedged item in the financial statements. This guidance will be effective for
FactSet beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update
on its consolidated financial statements.
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Share-Based Payments
In May 2017, the FASB issued an accounting standard update, which amends the scope of modification accounting for share-based payment arrangements. The
guidance focuses on changes to the terms or conditions of share-based payment awards that would require the application of modification accounting and specifies that
an entity would not apply modification accounting if the fair value, vesting conditions and classification of the awards are the same immediately before and after the
modification. This accounting standard update will be effective for FactSet beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update on its consolidated financial statements.
 
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 
In February 2018, the FASB issued an accounting standard update, which allows companies to reclassify certain stranded income tax effects resulting from the
enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "TCJA") from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings. This accounting standard update will be
effective for FactSet beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting
standard update on its consolidated financial statements.
 
No other new accounting pronouncements issued or effective as of February 28, 2018 have had or are expected to have an impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
 
 
4. FAIR VALUE MEASURES
 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the use of various valuation methodologies, including market, income and cost approaches is
permissible. The Company considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact and considers assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability. 
 
Fair Value Hierarchy
 
The accounting guidance for fair value measurements establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value based on the reliability of inputs. A
financial instrument’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The
Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect their placement within the fair value
hierarchy levels. FactSet has categorized its cash equivalents, investments and derivatives within the fair value hierarchy as follows:
 
Level 1 – applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. These Level 1 assets and liabilities include
the Company’s corporate money market funds that are classified as cash equivalents.
 
Level 2 – applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets);
or model-derived valuations in which significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data. The Company’s
certificates of deposit, mutual funds and derivative instruments are classified as Level 2.
 
Level 3 – applies to assets or liabilities for which there are unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of the fair value
of the assets or liabilities. There were no Level 3 assets or liabilities held by the Company as of February 28, 2018 or August 31, 2017.
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(a) Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
 
The following tables shows by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at February
28, 2018 and August 31, 2017:
 
 

  Fair Value Measurements at February 28, 2018  
(in thousands)  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
Assets                 
Corporate money market funds (1)  $ 35,472  $ —  $ —  $ 35,472 
Mutual funds (2)   —   20,243   —   20,243 
Certificates of deposit (3)   —   11,315   —   11,315 
Derivative instruments (4)   —   3,921   —   3,921 

Total assets measured at fair value  $ 35,472  $ 35,479  $ —  $ 70,951 
                 
Liabilities                 
Derivative instruments (4)  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Total liabilities measured at fair value  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 
 
 
  Fair Value Measurements at August 31, 2017  
(in thousands)  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
Assets                 
Corporate money market funds (1)  $ 26,677  $ —  $ —  $ 26,677 
Mutual Funds (2)   —   18,364   —   18,364 
Certificates of deposit (3)   —   14,080   —   14,080 
Derivative instruments (4)   —   6,142   —   6,142 

Total assets measured at fair value  $ 26,677  $ 38,586  $ —  $ 65,263 
                 
Liabilities                 
Derivative instruments (4)  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Total liabilities measured at fair value  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 
 

 
(1) The Company’s corporate money market funds are traded in an active market and the net asset value of each fund on the last day of the quarter is used to

determine its fair value. As such, the Company’s corporate money market funds are classified as Level 1 and included in cash and cash equivalents on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 

 
(2) The Company’s mutual funds have a fair value based on the fair value of the underlying investments held by the mutual funds allocated to each share of the

mutual fund using a net asset value approach. The fair value of the underlying investments is based on observable inputs. As such, the Company’s mutual funds
are classified as Level 2 and are classified as investments (short-term) on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 

 
(3) The Company’s certificates of deposit held for investment are not debt securities and are classified as Level 2. These certificates of deposit have original

maturities greater than three months, but less than one year and, as such, are classified as investments (short-term) on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 

 
(4) The Company utilizes the income approach to measure fair value for its derivative instruments (foreign currency forward contracts). The income approach uses

pricing models that rely on market observable inputs such as spot, forward and interest rates, as well as credit default swap spreads and therefore, are
classified as Level 2.

 
The Company did not have any transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the periods presented.
 
(b) Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis
 
Certain assets, including goodwill and intangible assets, and liabilities, are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis; that is, the assets and liabilities are not
measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances such as when they are deemed to be other-than-
temporarily impaired. The fair values of these non-financial assets and liabilities are determined based on valuation techniques using the best information available
and may include quoted market prices, market comparables, and discounted cash flow projections. An impairment charge is recorded when the cost exceeds its fair
value, based upon the results of such valuations. During the six months ended February 28, 2018, no fair value adjustments or material fair value measurements were
required for the Company’s non-financial assets or liabilities.
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(c) Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value for Disclosure Purposes Only
 
As of February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, the fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was $575 million, respectively, which approximated its carrying amount
given its floating interest rate basis. The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was determined based on quoted market prices for debt with a similar maturity,
and thus categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
 
 
5. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
 
Cash Flow Hedges
 
FactSet conducts business outside the U.S. in several currencies including the British Pound Sterling, Euro, Indian Rupee, Japanese Yen and Philippine Peso. As such,
it is exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange rates compared to the U.S. dollar. The Company utilizes derivative instruments (foreign currency forward
contracts) to manage the exposures related to the effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations and reduce the volatility of earnings and cash flows associated with
changes in foreign currency. The Company does not enter into foreign currency forward contracts for trading or speculative purposes. In designing a specific hedging
approach, FactSet considered several factors, including offsetting exposures, the significance of exposures, the forecasting of risk and the potential effectiveness of the
hedge. The gains and losses on foreign currency forward contracts offset the variability in operating expenses associated with currency movements. The changes in
fair value for these foreign currency forward contracts are initially reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss (“AOCL”) and subsequently
reclassified into operating expenses when the hedged exposure affects earnings. There was no discontinuance of cash flow hedges during the first six months of fiscal
2018 and 2017, and as such, no corresponding gains or losses related to changes in the value of the Company’s contracts were reclassified into earnings prior to
settlement.
 
As of February 28, 2018, FactSet maintained the following foreign currency forward contracts on the Indian Rupee to hedge 75% of its exposure through the third
quarter of fiscal 2019 and 50% of its exposure from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019 through the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2020.
 
The following is a summary of all hedging positions and corresponding fair values:
 
(in thousands)  Gross Notional Value   Fair Value  
Currency Hedged (in U.S. dollars)  February 28, 2018   August 31, 2017   February 28, 2018   August 31, 2017  
Indian Rupee  $ 58,070  $ 51,000  $ 3,921  $ 6,142 
 
As of February 28, 2018, the gross notional value of foreign currency forward contracts to purchase Indian Rupees with U.S. dollars was Rs. 4.2 billion.
 
Counterparty Credit Risk
 
As a result of the use of derivative instruments, the Company is exposed to counterparty credit risk. FactSet has incorporated counterparty risk into the fair value of its
derivative assets and its own credit risk into the value of the Company’s derivative liabilities, when applicable. FactSet calculates credit risk from observable data
related to credit default swaps (“CDS”) as quoted by publicly available information. Counterparty risk is represented by CDS spreads related to the senior secured debt
of the respective bank with whom FactSet has executed these derivative transactions. As CDS spread information is not available for FactSet, the Company’s credit
risk is determined based on using a simple average of CDS spreads for peer companies. To mitigate counterparty credit risk, FactSet enters into contracts with large
financial institutions and regularly reviews its credit exposure balances as well as the creditworthiness of the counterparties. The Company does not expect any losses
as a result of default of its counterparties.
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Fair Value of Derivative Instruments 
 
The following table provides the fair value of derivative instruments:
 
(in thousands)
 
Designation of Derivatives Balance Sheet Location  

February 28,
2018   

August 31,
2017  

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments Assets: Foreign Currency Forward Contracts  
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 3,712  $ 3,796 
 Other assets  $ 209  $ 2,346 
 Liabilities: Foreign Currency Forward Contracts  
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ —  $ — 
 
All derivatives were designated as hedging instruments as of February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, respectively.
 
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships
 
The following table provides the pre-tax effect of derivative instruments in cash flow hedging relationships for the three months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017:
 
(in thousands)

 

(Loss) Gain Recognized
in AOCL on Derivatives

(Effective Portion)  

Location of Gain
(Loss)

Reclassified from
AOCL

into Income
(Effective Portion)  

Gain (Loss) Reclassified
from AOCL into Income

(Effective Portion)  
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships  2018  2017    2018  2017  
Foreign currency forward contracts  $ (1,346)  $ 1,188 SG&A  $ 824  $ (1,030)
 
The following table provides the pre-tax effect of derivative instruments in cash flow hedging relationships for the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017:
 
(in thousands)

 

(Loss) Gain Recognized
in AOCL on Derivatives

(Effective Portion)  

Location of Gain
(Loss)

Reclassified from
AOCL into Income
(Effective Portion)  

Gain (Loss) Reclassified
from AOCL into Income

(Effective Portion)  
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships  2018  2017    2018  2017  
Foreign currency forward contracts  $ (1,345)  $ 539 SG&A  $ 1,589  $ (2,387)
 
No amount of ineffectiveness was recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income for these designated cash flow hedges and all components of each derivative’s
gain or loss was included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness. As of February 28, 2018, FactSet estimates that approximately $3.7 million of net derivative gains
related to its cash flow hedges included in AOCL will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months.
 
Offsetting of Derivative Instruments
 
FactSet’s master netting and other similar arrangements with its respective counterparties allow for net settlement under certain conditions. As of February 28, 2018
and August 31, 2017, there were no net settlements recorded on Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 
 
6. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
 
The components of other comprehensive income and amounts reclassified out of AOCL into earnings during the three months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017 are
as follows:
 
 

  February 28, 2018   February 28, 2017  
(in thousands)  Pre-tax   Net of tax   Pre-tax   Net of tax  
Foreign currency translation adjustments  $ 9,400  $ 9,400  $ 861  $ 861 
Realized (gain) loss on cash flow hedges reclassified to earnings (1)   (824)   (582)   1,030   651 
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedges recognized in AOCL   (1,346)   (686)   1,188   750 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  $ 7,230  $ 8,132  $ 3,079  $ 2,262 
 
 (1) Reclassified to Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
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The components of other comprehensive income and amounts reclassified out of AOCL into earnings during the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017 are as
follows:
 
 

  February 28, 2018   February 28, 2017  
(in thousands)  Pre-tax   Net of tax   Pre-tax   Net of tax  
Foreign currency translation adjustments  $ 17,866  $ 17,866  $ (10,636)  $ (10,636)
Realized (gain) loss on cash flow hedges reclassified to earnings (1)   (1,589)   (1,058)   2,387   1,508 
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedges recognized in AOCL   (1,345)   (686)   539   340 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  $ 14,932  $ 16,122  $ (7,710)  $ (8,788)
 
 (2) Reclassified to Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
 
The components of AOCL are as follows:
 
(in thousands)  February 28, 2018   August 31, 2017  
Accumulated unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges, net of tax  $ 2,058  $ 3,802 
Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments   (20,656)   (38,522)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss  $ (18,598)  $ (34,720)
 
 
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
 
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that engage in business activities from which they may earn revenues and incur expenses, whose
operating results are regularly reviewed by the enterprise’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess
its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and senior management jointly review financial
information at the operating segment level. Senior management consists of certain executives who directly report to the CEO, consisting of the Chief Financial Officer,
Chief Technology and Product Officer, Global Head of Sales and Client Solutions, General Counsel and Chief Human Resources Officer. Senior management, along
with the CEO, constitute FactSet’s chief operating decision making group (“CODMG”) and is responsible for making decisions about resources allocated amongst the
operating segments based on actual results.
 
FactSet’s operating segments are aligned with how the Company, including its CODMG, manages the business and the demographic markets in which FactSet serves.
The Company’s internal financial reporting structure is based on three segments; the U.S., Europe and Asia Pacific. FactSet believes this alignment helps it better
manage the business and view the markets the Company serves, which are centered on providing integrated global financial and economic information. The primary
functional groups within the U.S., Europe and Asia Pacific segments include sales, consulting, data collection, product development and software engineering, which
provide global financial and economic information to investment managers, investment banks and other financial services professionals.
 
The U.S. segment services investment professionals including financial institutions throughout the Americas. The European and Asia Pacific segments service
investment professionals located throughout Europe and the Asia Pacific region, respectively. Segment revenues reflect direct sales to clients based in their respective
geographic locations. Each segment records compensation expense, including stock-based compensation, amortization of intangible assets, depreciation of furniture
and fixtures, amortization of leasehold improvements, communication costs, professional fees, rent expense, travel, office and other direct expenses.
 
Expenditures associated with the Company’s data centers, data costs and corporate charges are recorded by the U.S. segment and are not allocated to the other
segments. The centers of excellence, who focus primarily on content collection and are located in India and the Philippines, benefit all of the Company’s operating
segments and thus the expenses incurred at these locations are allocated to each segment based on a percentage of revenues. Of the total $716.9 million of goodwill
reported by the Company at February 28, 2018, 54% was recorded in the U.S. segment, 45% in the European segment and the remaining 1% in the Asia Pacific
segment.
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The following reflects the results of operations of the segments consistent with the Company’s management system. These results are used by management, both in
evaluating the performance of, and in allocating resources to, each of the segments.
 
(in thousands)
For the three months ended February 28, 2018  U.S.  Europe  Asia Pacific  Total 

Revenues from clients  $ 208,900  $ 96,206  $ 30,125  $ 335,231 
Segment operating profit   38,527   36,993   19,965   95,485 
Total assets   733,045   634,472   104,975   1,472,492 
Capital expenditures   3,729   755   1,979   6,463 

 
For the three months ended February 28, 2017  U.S.  Europe  Asia Pacific  Total 

Revenues from clients  $ 191,629  $ 76,273  $ 26,452  $ 294,354 
Segment operating profit   36,188   39,932   15,625   91,746 
Total assets   675,830   291,643   94,356   1,061,829 
Capital expenditures   3,976   170   1,363   5,509 

 
For the six months ended February 28, 2018  U.S.  Europe  Asia Pacific  Total 

Revenues from clients  $ 417,668  $ 187,933  $ 58,771  $ 664,372 
Segment operating profit   79,298   69,963   35,322   184,583 
Capital expenditures   7,274   2,279   2,822   12,375 

 
For the six months ended February 28, 2017  U.S.  Europe  Asia Pacific  Total 

Revenues from clients  $ 382,256  $ 148,136  $ 52,025  $ 582,417 
Segment operating profit   76,192   76,516   29,355   182,065 
Capital expenditures   15,100   661   2,285   18,046 

 
 
8. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
 
BISAM
 
On March 17, 2017, FactSet acquired BI-SAM Technologies (“BISAM”) for a total purchase price of $217.6 million. BISAM is a global provider of portfolio
performance and attribution, multi-asset risk, GIPS composites management and reporting. BISAM’s product offerings include B-One, BISAM’s cross-asset solution,
which will serve as a complement to both FactSet’s portfolio analytics suite and client reporting solutions, and Cognity, which enhances FactSet’s risk analysis for
derivatives and quantitative portfolio construction. These factors contributed to a purchase price in excess of fair value of BISAM’s net tangible and intangible assets,
leading to the recognition of goodwill. At the time of acquisition, BISAM employed over 160 employees based primarily in its New York, Boston, Paris, London and
Sofia offices. Total transaction costs of $3.2 million were recorded within Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) expenses in the Consolidated Statements of
Income during fiscal 2017.
 
Allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was finalized during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017. There were no significant
adjustments between the preliminary and final allocation. The total purchase price was allocated to BISAM’s net tangible and intangible assets based upon their
estimated fair value as of the date of acquisition.
 
(in thousands)  
Tangible assets acquired  $ 27,583 
Amortizable intangible assets     

Software technology   18,261 
Client relationships   37,597 
Trade name   741 

Goodwill   173,898 
Total assets acquired  $ 258,080 

Liabilities assumed   (40,443)
Net assets acquired  $ 217,637 
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Intangible assets of $56.6 million have been allocated to amortizable intangible assets consisting of client relationships, amortized over 16 years using an accelerated
amortization method; software technology, amortized over five years using a straight-line amortization method; and a trade name, amortized over four years using a
straight-line amortization method.
 
Goodwill totaling $173.9 million represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill generated
from the BISAM acquisition is included in the U.S. and European segments and is not deductible for income tax purposes. The results of operations of BISAM have
been included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income since the completion of the acquisition on March 17, 2017. Pro forma information has not been
presented because the effect of the BISAM acquisition is not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results.
 
Vermilion
 
On November 8, 2016, FactSet acquired Vermilion Holdings Limited (“Vermilion”) for a total purchase price of $67.9 million. Vermilion is a global provider of client
reporting and communications software and services to the financial services industry. Client reporting is a growing area of the market as regulatory requirements rise;
and with the acquisition of Vermilion and its Vermilion Reporting Suite (“VRS”), FactSet now offers a workflow around all elements of the client reporting process,
which it expects will expand as investors grow increasingly sophisticated. This factor contributed to a purchase price in excess of fair value of Vermilion’s net tangible
and intangible assets, leading to the recognition of goodwill. At the time of acquisition, Vermilion employed 59 individuals in its London, Boston and Singapore
offices. Total transaction costs of $0.7 million were recorded within SG&A expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income during fiscal 2017.
 
Allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was finalized during the third quarter of fiscal 2017. There were no significant
adjustments between the preliminary and final allocation. The total purchase price was allocated to Vermilion’s net tangible and intangible assets based upon their
estimated fair value as of the date of acquisition. Based upon the purchase price and the valuation, the allocation is as follows:
 
(in thousands)  
Tangible assets acquired  $ 7,916 
Amortizable intangible assets     

Software technology   10,916 
Client relationships   5,954 
Non-compete agreements   806 
Trade name   571 

Goodwill   51,157 
Total assets acquired  $ 77,320 

Liabilities assumed   (9,434)
Net assets acquired  $ 67,886 

 
Intangible assets of $18.2 million have been allocated to amortizable intangible assets consisting of client relationships, amortized over 15 years using an accelerated
amortization method; software technology, amortized over six years using a straight-line amortization method; non-compete agreements, amortized over three years
using a straight-line amortization method; and a trade name, amortized over four years using a straight-line amortization method.
 
Goodwill totaling $51.2 million represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill generated
from the Vermilion acquisition is included in the European segment and is not deductible for income tax purposes. The results of operations of Vermilion have been
included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income since the completion of the acquisition on November 8, 2016. Pro forma information has not been
presented because the effect of the Vermilion acquisition is not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results.
 
 
9. GOODWILL
 
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the six months ended February 28, 2018, are as follows:
 
(in thousands)  U.S.  Europe  Asia Pacific  Total 
Balance at August 31, 2017  $ 386,835  $ 317,759  $ 2,966  $ 707,560 

Foreign currency translations   —   11,460   93   11,553 
Other adjustments   (640)   (1,561)   —   (2,201)

Balance at February 28, 2018  $ 386,195  $ 327,658  $ 3,059  $ 716,912 
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Goodwill is not amortized as it is estimated to have an indefinite life. At least annually, the Company is required to test goodwill at the reporting unit level for
potential impairment, and, if impaired, write down to fair value based on the present value of discounted cash flows. The Company’s reporting units evaluated for
potential impairment were the U.S., Europe and Asia Pacific, which reflect the level of internal reporting the Company uses to manage its business and operations. The
three reporting units are consistent with the operating segments reported as there is no discrete financial information available for the subsidiaries within each
operating segment. The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017, consistent with the timing of previous years,
at which time it was determined that there was no impairment, with the fair value of each of the Company’s reporting units significantly exceeding carrying value.
 
 
10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
FactSet’s identifiable intangible assets consist of acquired content databases, client relationships, software technology, non-compete agreements and trade names
resulting from previous acquisitions, which have been fully integrated into the Company’s operations. The weighted average useful life of FactSet’s acquired
identifiable intangible assets at February 28, 2018 was 11.5 years. The Company amortizes intangible assets over their estimated useful lives, which are evaluated
quarterly to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization. There have been no changes to the estimate of the
remaining useful lives during the first six months of fiscal 2018. Amortizable intangible assets are tested for impairment, if indicators of impairment are present, based
on undiscounted cash flows, and, if impaired, written down to fair value based on discounted cash flows. No impairment of intangible assets has been identified during
any of the periods presented. The intangible assets have no assigned residual values.
 
The gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization totals related to the Company’s identifiable intangible assets are as follows:
 
At February 28, 2018
(in thousands)  Gross Carrying Amount   Accumulated Amortization   Net Carrying Amount  
Data content  $ 35,666  $ 20,812  $ 14,854 
Client relationships   101,598   26,336   75,262 
Software technology   107,420   37,897   69,523 
Non-compete agreements   4,891   1,978   2,913 
Trade names   4,140   2,005   2,135 

Total  $ 253,715  $ 89,028  $ 164,687 
 
At August 31, 2017
(in thousands)  Gross Carrying Amount   Accumulated Amortization   Net Carrying Amount  
Data content  $ 34,116  $ 18,899  $ 15,217 
Client relationships   99,779   22,339   77,440 
Software technology   105,963   30,889   75,074 
Non-compete agreements   4,833   1,518   3,315 
Trade names   4,080   1,583   2,497 

Total  $ 248,771  $ 75,228  $ 173,543 
 
Amortization expense recorded for intangible assets was $6.2 million and $4.2 million for the three months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Amortization expense recorded for intangible assets was $12.4 million and $8.0 million for the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of
February 28, 2018, estimated intangible asset amortization expense for each of the next five years and thereafter is as follows:
 

Fiscal Year (in thousands)  Estimated Amortization Expense  
2018 (remaining six months)  $ 12,492 
2019   24,089 
2020   23,365 
2021   21,829 
2022   19,459 
Thereafter   63,453 

Total  $ 164,687 
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11. COMMON STOCK AND EARNINGS PER SHARE
 
On February 7, 2018, FactSet’s Board of Directors approved a regular quarterly dividend of $0.56 per share, or $2.24 per share per annum. The cash dividend of $21.8
million was paid on March 20, 2018 to common stockholders of record at the close of business on February 28, 2018.
 
Shares of common stock outstanding were as follows:
 
 

  
Six Months ended

February 28,  
(in thousands)  2018   2017  
Balance at September 1   39,023   40,038 
Common stock issued for employee stock plans   495   506 
Repurchase of common stock from employees(1)   (6)   (37)
Repurchase of common stock under the share repurchase program   (585)   (985)
Repurchase of common stock under accelerated share repurchase agreement   —   (103)
Balance at February 28, 2018 and 2017, respectively   38,927   39,419 
 

 
(1) For the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, the Company repurchased 5,563 and 37,042 shares, or $1.0 million and $5.7 million, of common

stock, respectively, in settlement of employee tax withholding obligations due upon the vesting of restricted stock.
 
A reconciliation of the weighted average shares outstanding used in the basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) computations is as follows:
 

(in thousands, except per share data)  

 
 

Net Income
(Numerator)   

Weighted
Average

Common Shares
(Denominator)   

 
 

Per Share
Amount  

For the three months ended February 28, 2018             
Basic EPS             

Income available to common stockholders  $ 53,137   38,991  $ 1.36 
Diluted EPS             

Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock       855     
Income available to common stockholders plus assumed conversions  $ 53,137   39,846  $ 1.33 

For the three months ended February 28, 2017             
Basic EPS             

Income available to common stockholders  $ 66,710   39,489  $ 1.69 
Diluted EPS             

Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock       211     
Income available to common stockholders plus assumed conversions  $ 66,710   39,700  $ 1.68 

For the six months ended February 28, 2018             
Basic EPS             

Income available to common stockholders  $ 123,516   39,038  $ 3.16 
Diluted EPS             

Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock       725     
Income available to common stockholders plus assumed conversions  $ 123,516   39,763  $ 3.11 

For the six months ended February 28, 2017             
Basic EPS             

Income available to common stockholders  $ 133,293   39,659  $ 3.36 
Diluted EPS             

Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock       241     
Income available to common stockholders plus assumed conversions  $ 133,293   39,900  $ 3.34 
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Dilutive potential common shares consist of stock options and unvested restricted stock awards. The were no stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted
EPS for the three months ended February 28, 2018 as no options would have been anti-dilutive. The number of stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted
EPS for the three months ended February 28, 2017 was 487,023 because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
 
For the three months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, the number of performance-based stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS was 309,800
and 754,561, respectively. Performance-based stock options are omitted from the calculation of diluted EPS until the performance criteria are probable of being
achieved.
 
 
12. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Preferred Stock
 
At February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, there were 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock ($0.01 par value per share) authorized, of which no shares were issued and
outstanding. FactSet’s Board of Directors may from time to time authorize the issuance of one or more series of preferred stock and, in connection with the creation of
such series, determine the characteristics of each such series including, without limitation, the preference and relative, participating, optional or other special rights,
and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the series.
 
Common Stock
 
At February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, there were 150,000,000 shares of common stock ($0.01 par value per share) authorized, of which 39,047,153 and
51,845,132 shares were issued, respectively. The authorized shares of common stock are issuable for any proper corporate purpose, including future stock splits, stock
dividends, acquisitions, raising equity capital or to adopt additional employee benefit plans.
 
Treasury Stock
 
On January 31, 2018, FactSet retired 13,292,689 shares of treasury stock. These retired shares are now included in the Company’s pool of authorized but unissued
shares. The retired treasury stock was initially recorded using the cost method and had a carrying value of $1.7 billion at January 31, 2018. The Company’s accounting
policy upon the formal retirement of treasury stock is to deduct its par value from common stock ($0.1 million), reduce additional paid-in capital (“APIC”) by the
average amount recorded in APIC when stock was originally issued ($186.7 million) and any remaining excess of cost as a deduction from retained earnings ($1.5
billion). As of February 28, 2018 there were 120,000 shares of treasury stock (at cost) outstanding, a decrease compared to 12,822,100 as of August 31, 2017 due to
the aforementioned treasury stock retirement on January 31, 2018.
 
Share Repurchase Program
 
Repurchases will be made from time to time in the open market and privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions. During the first six months of
fiscal 2018, the Company repurchased 584,920 shares for $112.9 million compared to 984,822 shares for $160.4 million in the prior year comparable period. As of
February 28 2018, $131.2 million remain authorized for future share repurchases. No minimum number of shares to be repurchased has been fixed. There is no
timeframe to complete the repurchase program and it is expected that share repurchases will be paid using existing and future cash generated by operations.
 
On March 26, 2018, the Board of Directors of FactSet approved a $300.0 million expansion of to the existing share repurchase program. Subsequent to this expansion,
$431.2 million is available for future share repurchases.
 
Restricted Stock Vesting
 
Restricted stock awards entitle the holder to shares of common stock as the awards vest over time. During the first six months of fiscal 2018, 14,839 of previously
granted restricted stock awards vested and were included in common stock outstanding as of February 28, 2018 (less 5,563 shares repurchased from employees to
cover their cost of taxes upon vesting of the restricted stock). During the same period a year ago, 101,234 of previously granted restricted stock awards vested and
were included in common stock outstanding as of February 28, 2017 (less 37,042 shares repurchased from employees to cover their cost of taxes upon vesting of the
restricted stock).
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Dividends
 
The Company’s Board of Directors declared the following historical dividends: 
 

Declaration Date  

Dividends Per
Share of

Common Stock  Type  Record Date  
Total $ Amount
(in thousands)  Payment Date

February 7, 2018  $ 0.56 Regular (cash)  February 28, 2018  $ 21,799 March 20, 2018
November 8, 2017  $ 0.56 Regular (cash)  November 30, 2017  $ 21,902 December 19, 2017
August 10, 2017  $ 0.56 Regular (cash)  August 31, 2017  $ 21,853 September 19, 2017
May 5, 2017  $ 0.56 Regular (cash)  May 31, 2017  $ 21,951 June 20, 2017
February 6, 2017  $ 0.50 Regular (cash)  February 28, 2017  $ 19,709 March 21, 2017
November 10, 2016  $ 0.50 Regular (cash)  November 30, 2016  $ 19,852 December 20, 2016
August 5, 2016  $ 0.50 Regular (cash)  August 31, 2016  $ 20,019 September 20, 2016
 
All of the above cash dividends were paid from existing cash resources. Future dividend payments will depend on the Company’s earnings, capital requirements,
financial condition and other factors considered relevant by the Company and is subject to final determination by the Company’s Board of Directors.
 
 
13. EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION AND RETIREMENT PLANS
 
Stock Option Awards
 
On December 19, 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the amended and restated FactSet Research Systems Inc. 2004 Stock Option and Award Plan, as
Amended and Restated, which was renamed the Stock Option and Award Plan, as Amended and Restated (the “Long Term Incentive Plan” or “LTIP”). As part of the
approved amendment, an additional 5,750,000 shares of common stock were added to the LTIP’s share reserve and the expiration date was extended to December 19,
2027. The LTIP provides for the grant of share-based awards, including stock options and restricted stock awards to employees of FactSet. Stock options granted under
the LTIP expire not more than ten years from the date of grant and the majority vest ratably over a period of five years. Options become vested and exercisable
provided the employee continues employment with the Company through the applicable vesting date and remain exercisable until expiration or cancellation. Options
are not transferable or assignable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. During the grantee’s lifetime, the options may be exercised only by the
grantee.
 
Stock Option Activity
 
During the first six months of fiscal 2018, FactSet granted 569,305 stock options at a weighted average exercise price of $190.04 to existing employees of the
Company. As of February 28, 2018, a total of 3,401,562 stock options were outstanding, at a weighted average exercise price of $151.15. Unamortized stock-based
compensation of $70.8 million is expected to be recognized as stock-based compensation expense over the remaining weighted average vesting period of 3.5 years.
 
A summary of stock option activity is as follows:
 
 

(in thousands, except exercise price per share)  
Number

Outstanding  
Weighted Average

Exercise Price Per Share 
Balance at August 31, 2017   3,366  $ 139.29 

Granted – non performance-based   554  $ 189.98 
Exercised   (226)  $ 104.90 
Forfeited   (25)  $ 133.89 

Balance at November 30, 2017   3,669  $ 149.09 
Granted – non performance-based   16  $ 192.11 
Granted – non-employee Directors grant   19  $ 197.75 
Exercised   (220)  $ 118.75 
Forfeited   (82)  $ 164.59 

Balance at February 28, 2018   3,402  $ 151.15 
 
The total number of in-the-money options exercisable as of February 28, 2018 was 1.1 million with a weighted average exercise price of $122.44. The total number of
in-the-money options exercisable as of August 31, 2017 was 0.9 million with a weighted average exercise price of $105.14. As of February 28, 2018 and August 31,
2017, the aggregate intrinsic value of in-the-money stock options exercisable was $89.4 million and $49.7 million, respectively. Aggregate intrinsic value represents
the difference between the Company’s closing stock prices of $203.18 and $157.18 on February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, respectively, and the exercise price
multiplied by the number of options exercisable as of that date. The total pre-tax intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the three months ended February 28,
2018 and 2017 was $17.2 million and $14.1 million, respectively. The total pre-tax intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the six months ended February 28,
2018 and 2017 was $35.2 million and $30.5 million, respectively.
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Performance-based Stock Options
 
Performance-based stock options require management to make assumptions regarding the likelihood of achieving Company performance targets. The number of
performance-based options that vest will be predicated on the Company achieving performance levels during the measurement period subsequent to the date of grant.
Dependent on the financial performance levels attained by FactSet, a percentage of the performance-based stock options will vest to the grantees of those stock
options. However, there is no current guarantee that such options will vest in whole or in part.
 
February 2015 Performance-based Option Grant Review
In connection with the acquisition of Code Red, FactSet granted 68,761 performance-based options during the second quarter of fiscal 2015 that are eligible to cliff
vest based on a four-year measurement period ending February 28, 2019. In the second quarter of fiscal 2018, FactSet modified the vesting criteria of the grant, which
resulted in 40% of the options deemed eligible to vest, with the remaining options forfeited. No cumulative catch-up adjustment was required because FactSet had
expected the 40% level to be achieved. The option holders must remain employed by FactSet through February 28, 2019 in order for the options to vest. As of
February 28, 2018, total unamortized stock-based compensation of $0.3 million will be recognized as expense over the remaining vesting period of 0.9 years.
 
January 2017 Performance-based Option Grant Review
In connection with the acquisition of Vermilion, FactSet granted 61,744 performance-based stock options in January 2017. These performance-based options will vest
40% on the second anniversary date of the grant and 20% on each subsequent anniversary date if certain Vermilion revenue and operating income targets are achieved
by November 30, 2018. The option holders must also remain employed by FactSet for the options to be eligible to vest. As of February 28, 2018, FactSet does not
believe these growth targets are probable of being achieved, and as such, no stock-based compensation expense is expected to be recognized in connection with these
performance-based options. A change in the actual financial performance levels achieved by Vermilion in future periods could result in the following changes to the
current estimate of the vesting percentage and related expense:
 

Vesting Percentage (in thousands)  
Cumulative

Catch-up Adjustment*   
Remaining Expense

to be Recognized  
0% (current expectation)  $ —  $ — 
100%  $ 609  $ 2,096 
 
* Amounts represent the cumulative catch-up adjustment to be recorded if there was a change in the vesting percentage as of February 28, 2018. 
 
June 2017 Performance-based Option Grant Review
In connection with the acquisition of BISAM, FactSet granted 206,417 performance-based stock options in June 2017. These performance-based options will vest
40% on the second anniversary date of the grant and 20% on each subsequent anniversary date if certain BISAM revenue and operating income targets are achieved by
March 31, 2019. The option holders must also remain employed by FactSet for the options to be eligible to vest. As of February 28, 2018, FactSet does not believe
these growth targets are probable of being achieved, and as such, no stock-based compensation expense is expected to be recognized in connection with these
performance-based options. A change in the actual financial performance levels achieved by BISAM in future fiscal years could result in the following changes to the
current estimate of the vesting percentage and related expense:
 

Vesting Percentage (in thousands)  
Cumulative

Catch-up Adjustment*   
Remaining Expense

to be Recognized  
0% (current expectation)  $ —  $ — 
80%  $ 948  $ 6,160 
90%  $ 1,066  $ 6,930 
100%  $ 1,185  $ 7,700 
 
* Amounts represent the cumulative catch-up adjustment to be recorded if there was a change in the vesting percentage as of February 28, 2018. 
 
Restricted Stock and Stock Unit Awards
 
The Company’s Option Plan permits the issuance of restricted stock and restricted stock units. Restricted stock awards are subject to continued employment over a
specified period.
 
Restricted Stock and Stock Unit Awards Activity
 
During the first six months of fiscal 2018, FactSet granted 961 restricted stock awards to employees of the Company at a weighted average grant date fair value of
$182.17. These restricted stock awards vest over a weighted average period of 5.0 years from grant date.
As of February 28, 2018 a total of 155,113 shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units were unvested and outstanding, which results in unamortized stock-
based compensation of $15.1 million to be recognized as stock-based compensation expense over the remaining weighted average vesting period of 3.1 years.
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A summary of restricted stock award activity is as follows:
 

(in thousands, except per award data)  Number Outstanding   
Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value Per Award 
Balance at August 31, 2017   182  $ 138.62 

Granted   1  $ 182.17 
Forfeited   (10)  $ 114.37 
Vested   (11)  $ 157.37 

Balance at November 30, 2017   162  $ 139.12 
Granted   —  $ — 
Forfeited   (3)  $ 120.28 
Vested   (4)  $ 135.97 

Balance at February 28, 2018   155  $ 139.55 
 
As of February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, the aggregate fair value of unvested restricted stock was $31.5 million and $28.6 million, respectively. Aggregate fair
value of unvested restricted stock represents the Company’s closing stock prices of $203.18 and $157.18 on February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, respectively,
multiplied by the number of unvested restricted stock as of that date.
 
The total pre-tax fair value of restricted stock that vested during the three months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017 was $0.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively.
The total pre-tax fair value of restricted stock that vested during the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017 was $2.7 million and $15.6 million, respectively.
 
Share-based Awards Available for Grant
 
A summary of share-based awards available for grant is as follows:
 
 

(in thousands)  

Share-based Awards
Available for Grant under
the Employee Option Plan   

Share-based Awards
Available for Grant under

the Non-Employee Directors Plan 
Balance at August 31, 2017   897   42 

Granted – nonperformance-based options   (554)   — 
Granted – restricted stock awards(1)   (2)   — 
Share-based awards canceled/forfeited(2)   51   — 

Balance at November 30, 2017   392   42 
Increase in the number of shares available for issuance(3) (4)   5,750   250 
Granted – non performance-based options   (16)   (19)
Share-based awards canceled/forfeited(2)   89   — 

Balance at February 28, 2018   6,215   273 
 

 (1) Each restricted stock award granted is equivalent to 2.5 shares granted under the Company’s Option Plan.
 

 
(2) Under the Company’s Option Plan, for each restricted stock award canceled/forfeited, an equivalent of 2.5 shares is added back to the available share-based

awards balance.
   

 
(3) On December 19, 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the LTIP. As part of the approval, an additional 5,750,000 shares of common stock were added to

the LTIP’s share reserve.
 

 
(4) On December 19, 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the amended and restated 2008 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan, which was

renamed the Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option and Award Plan, as Amended and Restated (the “Director Plan”).  As part of the approval, an additional
250,000 shares of commons stock were added to the Director Plan share reserve. 

 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 
On December 19, 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the amended and restated 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as Amended and Restated, which was
renamed the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as Amended and Restated (the “ESPP”). Shares of FactSet common stock may be purchased by eligible employees under
the ESPP in three-month intervals at a purchase price equal to at least 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on either the first day
or the last day of each three-month offering period. Employee purchases may not exceed 10% of their gross compensation and a $25,000 contribution limit during an
offering period.
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During the three months ended February 28, 2018 employees purchased 14,805 shares at a weighted average price of $171.23 as compared to 20,744 shares at a
weighted average price of $135.48 for the three months ended February 28, 2017. During the six months ended February 28, 2018, employees purchased 34,394
shares at a weighted average price of $150.25 as compared to 37,240 shares at a weighted average price of $135.77 for the six months ended February 28, 2017. At
February 28, 2018, the ESPP had 298,778 shares reserved for future issuance.
 
401(k) Plan
 
The Company established its 401(k) Plan in fiscal 1993. The 401(k) Plan is a defined contribution plan covering all full-time, U.S. employees of the Company and is
subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (“IRC”). Each year, participants may
contribute up to 60% of their eligible annual compensation, subject to annual limitations established by the IRC. The Company matches up to 4% of employees’
earnings, capped at the Internal Revenue Service annual maximum. Company matching contributions are subject to a five year graduated vesting schedule. All full-
time, U.S. employees are eligible for the matching contribution by the Company. The Company contributed $5.5 million and $4.6 million in matching contributions to
employee 401(k) accounts during the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
 
 
14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
 
The Company recognized total stock-based compensation expense of $7.9 million and $15.4 million during the three and six months ended February 28, 2018,
respectively. Similarly, the Company recognized total stock-based compensation expense of $7.2 million and $13.6 million during the three and six months ended
February 28, 2017, respectively. As of February 28, 2018, $85.9 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested equity awards is expected
to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.4 years. There was no stock-based compensation capitalized as of February 28, 2018 or August 31, 2017,
respectively.
 
Employee Stock Option Fair Value Determinations
 
The Company utilizes the lattice-binomial option-pricing model (“binomial model”) to estimate the fair value of new employee stock option grants. The Company’s
determination of fair value of stock option awards on the date of grant using the binomial model is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions
regarding a number of variables. These variables include, but are not limited to the Company’s expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, interest
rates, option forfeitures and employee stock option exercise behaviors.
 

Q1 2018 553,942 nonperformance-based employee stock options were granted at a weighted average exercise price of $189.98 and a weighted average
estimated fair value of $48.27 per share.

Q2 2018 15,363 nonperformance-based employee stock options were granted at a weighted average exercise price of $192.11 and a weighted average
estimated fair value of $48.82 per share.

Q1 2017 671,263 non performance-based employee stock options and 22,460 performance-based employee stock options were granted at a weighted
average exercise price of $152.51 and a weighted average estimated fair value of $39.60 per share.

Q2 2017 61,744 performance-based employee stock options were granted at a weighted average exercise price of $169.16 and a weighted average
estimated fair value of $43.81 per share.

 
The weighted average estimated fair value of employee stock options granted was determined using the binomial model with the following weighted average
assumptions:
 
Three months ended February 28,  2018  2017 
Term structure of risk-free interest rate   1.28% - 2.41%   0.49% - 1.89% 
Expected life (years)     7.4     7.4 
Term structure of volatility   19% - 29%   21% - 29% 
Dividend yield     1.32%     1.18% 
Weighted average estimated fair value     $48.82     $43.81 
Weighted average exercise price     $192.11     $169.16 
Fair value as a percentage of exercise price     25.4%     25.9% 
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Six months ended February 28,  2018  2017 
Term structure of risk-free interest rate   1.28% - 2.41%   0.07% - 2.09% 
Expected life (years)     7.4     7.4 
Term structure of volatility   19% - 29%   21% - 30% 
Dividend yield     1.32%     1.18% 
Weighted average estimated fair value     $48.29     $39.95 
Weighted average exercise price     $190.04     $153.87 
Fair value as a percentage of exercise price     25.4%     26.0% 
 
The risk-free interest rate assumption for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
Expected volatility is based on a combination of historical volatility of the Company’s stock and implied volatilities of publicly traded options to buy FactSet common
stock with contractual terms closest to the expected life of options granted to employees. The approach to utilize a mix of historical and implied volatility was based
upon the availability of actively traded options on the Company’s stock and the Company’s assessment that a combination of implied volatility and historical volatility
is best representative of future stock price trends. The Company uses historical data to estimate option exercises and employee termination within the valuation model.
The dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s history and expectation of dividend payouts. The expected life of employee stock options represents the
weighted average period the stock options are expected to remain outstanding and is a derived output of the binomial model. The binomial model estimates employees
exercise behavior based on the option’s remaining vested life and the extent to which the option is in-the-money. The binomial model estimates the probability of
exercise as a function of these two variables based on the entire history of exercises and cancellations of all past option grants made by the Company.
 
Non-Employee Director Stock Option Fair Value Determinations
 
On December 19, 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the Director Plan. The Director Plan provides for the grant of share-based awards, including stock
options, to non-employee directors of FactSet. As part of the stockholder approval, the expiration date of the Director Plan was extended to December 19, 2027 and
the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Director Plan was increased by 250,000. As of February 28, 2018, shares available for future grant was 273,222.
 
The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes model to estimate the fair value of non-employee Director stock option grants. The Company’s determination of fair value of
share-based payment awards on the date of grant is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of variables. These variables
include, but are not limited to the Company’s expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, interest rates, option forfeitures and employee stock option
exercise behaviors.
 
Fiscal 2018
On January 12, 2018, FactSet granted 18,963 stock options to the Company’s non-employee Directors. These options have a weighted average estimated fair value of
$38.76 per share, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
 
Risk-free interest rate   2.34%
Expected life (years)   5.4 
Expected volatility   19.7%
Dividend yield   1.16%
 
Fiscal 2017
On January 13, 2017, FactSet granted 23,846 stock options to the Company’s non-employee Directors, including one-time new Director grants of 2,104 stock options
each for Malcolm Frank and Sheila B. Jordan, who were elected to FactSet’s Board of Directors on December 20, 2016. All of the options granted on January 13, 2017
have a weighted average estimated fair value of $35.65 per share, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
 
Risk-free interest rate   1.95%
Expected life (years)   5.4 
Expected volatility   22.7%
Dividend yield   1.24%
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Restricted Stock Fair Value Determinations
 
Restricted stock granted to employees entitles the holder to shares of common stock as the award vests over time, but not to dividends declared on the underlying
shares while the restricted stock is unvested. The grant date fair value of restricted stock awards is measured by reducing the grant date price of FactSet’s share by the
present value of the dividends expected to be paid on the underlying stock during the requisite service period, discounted at the appropriate risk-free interest rate.
Restricted stock awards are amortized to expense over the vesting period. During the first six months of fiscal 2018, there were 961 restricted stock awards granted
with a weighted average grant date fair value of $182.17. During the first six months of fiscal 2017, there were 12,927 restricted stock awards granted with a weighted
average grant date fair value of $157.50.
 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan Fair Value Determinations
 
During the three months ended February 28, 2018, employees purchased 14,805 shares at a weighted average price of $171.23 as compared to 20,744 shares at a
weighted average price of $135.48 for the three months ended February 28, 2017. During the six months ended February 28, 2018, employees purchased 34,394
shares at a weighted average price of $150.25 as compared to 37,240 shares at a weighted average price of $135.77 for the six months ended February 28, 2017.
Stock-based compensation expense recorded during the three months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, relating to the ESPP, was $0.5 million and $0.6 million,
respectively. Stock-based compensation expense recorded for the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, relating to the ESPP, was $1.1 million and $1.0
million, respectively.
 
The weighted average estimated fair value for the shares repurchased under the ESPP was calculated using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:
 
Three months ended February 28,  2018  2017 
Risk-free interest rate   1.45%  0.51%
Expected life (months)   3   3 
Expected volatility   13.9%  7.8%
Dividend yield   1.11%  1.25%
Weighted average estimated fair value  $ 35.02  $ 25.88 
 
 
Six months ended February 28,  2018  2017 
Risk-free interest rate   1.26%  0.44%
Expected life (months)   3   3 
Expected volatility   10.52%  8.9%
Dividend yield   1.29%  1.19%
Weighted average estimated fair value  $ 29.76  $ 27.85 
 
Accuracy of Fair Value Estimates 
 
The Company is responsible for determining the assumptions used in estimating the fair value of its share-based payment awards. The Company’s determination of
fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions regarding
a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to the Company’s expected stock price volatility over the term of the
awards, interest rates, option forfeiture rates and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Option-pricing models were developed for use in
estimating the value of traded options that have no vesting or hedging restrictions and are fully transferable.
 
 
15. INCOME TAXES
 
Income tax expense is based on taxable income determined in accordance with current enacted laws and tax rates. Deferred income taxes are recorded for the
temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates.
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Provision for Income Taxes
 
The provision for income taxes is as follows:
 
  Three months ended February 28,  Six months ended February 28, 
(in thousands)  2018  2017  2018  2017 
Income before income taxes  $ 92,213  $ 89,490  $ 178,392  $ 179,310 
Total provision for income taxes  $ 39,076  $ 22,780  $ 54,876  $ 46,017 

Effective tax rate   42.4%  25.5%  30.8%  25.7%
 
FactSet’s effective tax rate is based on recurring factors and nonrecurring events, including the taxation of foreign income. The Company’s effective tax rate will vary
based on, among other things, changes in levels of foreign income, as well as discrete and other nonrecurring events that may not be predictable. On December 22,
2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation through the TCJA. The TCJA significantly revises U.S. corporate income tax including, lowering
the statutory U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, effective January 1, 2018, implementing a modified territorial tax system and imposing a mandatory
one-time transition tax on accumulated earnings and profits (“E&P”) of foreign subsidiaries that were previously deferred from U.S. income taxes. While the
Company has not finalized the accounting for the tax effects of the enactment of the TCJA, FactSet has made a reasonable estimate of the effects on the existing U.S.
deferred tax balances and the one-time transition tax. The Company will continue to refine its calculations as additional analyses are completed. In addition, the
estimates may also be affected by changes in interpretations at the federal and state levels, and any additional regulatory guidance that may be issued.
 
FactSet had approximately $250 million in undistributed foreign E&P generated prior to December 31, 2017, which resulted in a provisional amount for the one-time
transition tax expense of $23.2 million, payable over an eight-year period. This amount may change as the Company finalizes the calculation of foreign E&P
previously deferred from U.S. federal taxation, as well as the analysis of available foreign tax credits. Due to the changes in taxation of undistributed foreign earnings
under the TCJA, FactSet will continue to analyze foreign subsidiary earnings, as well as global working capital requirements, and may repatriate earnings when the
amounts are remitted substantially free of additional tax.
 
Due to FactSet’s August 31 fiscal year-end, the lower tax rate will be phased in, resulting in a blended U.S. statutory federal rate of 25.7% for the full fiscal 2018 year
and a 21% rate for subsequent years. The reduction in the statutory federal rate also required the remeasurment of the Company’s net U.S. deferred tax position, which
resulted in a non-recurring tax charge of $2.2 million recorded during the second quarter of fiscal 2018. The provisional expense related to the one-time transition tax
on the undistributed foreign earnings and the non-recurring tax charge from the remeasurement of deferred taxes were partially offset by the lower blended U.S.
statutory rate and the recognition of excess tax benefits from the adoption of the employee share-based payment accounting standard.
 
Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
 
The significant components of deferred tax assets that are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows:
 
(in thousands)  February 28, 2018  August 31, 2017 
Deferred tax assets:         

Receivable reserve  $ 573  $ 811 
Depreciation on property, equipment and leasehold improvements   2,495   2,220 
Deferred rent   7,761   11,615 
Stock-based compensation   13,687   20,117 
Purchased intangible assets, including acquired technology   (22,359)   (32,742)
Other   3,630   8,059 

Total deferred tax assets  $ 5,787  $ 10,080 
 
The significant components of deferred tax liabilities that are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows:
 
(in thousands)  February 28, 2018  August 31, 2017 
Deferred tax liabilities:         

Stock-based compensation  $ (854)  $ (815)
Depreciation on property, equipment and leasehold improvements   551   168 
Purchased intangible assets, including acquired technology   25,265   26,231 
Other   726   1,690 

Total deferred tax liabilities  $ 25,688  $ 27,274 
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Unrecognized Tax Positions
 
Applicable accounting guidance prescribes a comprehensive model for the financial statement recognition, measurement, classification and disclosure of uncertain tax
positions that a company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. A company can recognize the financial effect of an income tax position only if it is more likely
than not (greater than 50%) that the tax position will prevail upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benefit or
expense can be recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The tax benefits recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty
percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Additionally, companies are required to accrue interest on all tax exposures for which reserves have been
established, consistent with jurisdictional tax laws.
 
As of February 28, 2018, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits totaling $11.1 million, including $1.6 million of accrued interest, recorded as Non-current
taxes payable within the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Unrecognized tax benefits represent tax positions taken on tax returns but not yet recognized in the consolidated
financial statements. When applicable, the Company adjusts the previously recorded tax expense to reflect examination results when the position is ultimately settled.
The Company regularly engages in discussions and negotiations with tax authorities regarding tax matters in various jurisdictions. It is reasonably possible that certain
federal, foreign, and state tax matters may be concluded in the next 12 months. However, FactSet has no reason to believe that such audits will result in the payment of
additional taxes and/or penalties that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position, beyond current estimates. Any
changes in accounting estimates resulting from new developments with respect to uncertain tax positions will be recorded as appropriate. The Company does not
currently anticipate that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change within the next 12 months.
 
The following table summarizes the changes in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits during the first six months of fiscal 2018:
 
(in thousands)  
Unrecognized income tax benefits at August 31, 2017  $ 11,484 

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year   1,895 
Additions for tax positions of prior years   300 
Reductions from settlements with taxing authorities   (2,601)

Unrecognized income tax benefits February 28, 2018  $ 11,078 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company’s tax filings are subject to audit by federal, state and foreign tax authorities.
 
At February 28, 2018, the Company remained subject to examination in the following major tax jurisdictions:
 
Major Tax Jurisdictions  Open Tax Years 
U.S.   2014 through 2018 

Federal   2014 through 2018 
State (various)       

Europe       
France   2014 through 2018 
United Kingdom   2016 through 2018 
Germany   2017 through 2018 

 
 
16. LONG-TERM DEBT
 
FactSet’s debt obligations consisted of the following:
 

(in thousands)  
February 28,

2018   
August 31,

2017  
2017 Revolving Credit Facility  $ 574,702  $ 575,000 

Total Outstanding Debt  $ 574,702  $ 575,000 
 
On March 17, 2017, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (the “2017 Credit Agreement”) between FactSet, as the borrower, and PNC Bank, National
Association (“PNC”), as the administrative agent and lender. The 2017 Credit Agreement provides for a $575.0 million revolving credit facility (the “2017 Revolving
Credit Facility”). FactSet may request borrowings under the 2017 Revolving Credit Facility until its maturity date of March 17, 2020. The 2017 Credit Agreement also
allows FactSet, subject to certain requirements, to arrange for additional borrowings with PNC for an aggregate amount of up to $225.0 million, provided that any
such request for additional borrowings must be in a minimum amount of $25.0 million. Borrowings under the loan bear interest on the outstanding principal amount at
a rate equal to the daily LIBOR rate plus 1.00%. Interest on the loan outstanding is payable quarterly in arrears and on the maturity date. There are no prepayment
penalties if the Company elects to prepay the outstanding loan amounts prior to the scheduled maturity date. The principal balance is payable in full on the maturity
date.
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In conjunction with FactSet’s entrance into the 2017 Credit Agreement, the Company borrowed $575.0 million in the form of a LIBOR rate loan under the 2017
Revolving Credit Facility. Proceeds from the 2017 Revolving Credit Facility were also used to fund FactSet’s acquisition of BISAM.
 
All outstanding loan amounts are reported as Long-term debt within the Consolidated Balance Sheet, and net of related amortized loan origination fees at February 28,
2018. The loan origination fees are amortized into interest expense over the term of the loan using the effective interest method. During the three months ended
February 28, 2018 and 2017, the Company paid approximately $3.6 million and $1.3 million in interest on its outstanding debt amounts, respectively. During the six
months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, the Company paid approximately $7.0 million and $2.4 million in interest on its outstanding debt amounts, respectively.
As of February 28, 2018, no commitment fee was owed by FactSet since it borrowed the full amount under the 2017 Credit Agreement.
 
The 2017 Credit Agreement contained covenants restricting certain FactSet activities, which are usual and customary for this type of loan.
 
In addition, the 2017 Credit Agreement required that FactSet maintain a consolidated leverage ratio, as measured by total funded debt/EBITDA below a specified level
as of the end of each fiscal quarter. The Company was in material compliance with all of the covenants of the 2017 Credit Agreement as of February 28, 2018.
 
 
17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Commitments represent obligations, such as those for future purchases of goods or services that are not yet recorded on the balance sheet as liabilities. FactSet records
liabilities for commitments when incurred (i.e., when the goods or services are received).
 
Lease Commitments
 
At February 28, 2018, FactSet leased approximately 202,000 square feet of existing office space for its headquarters at 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut. On
February 14, 2018, the Company entered into a new lease to relocate its corporate headquarters to 45 Glover Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut. The new location will
comprise approximately 173,000 square feet of office space. FactSet expects to take possession of the newly leased property on or around January 1, 2019, for fit-out
purposes. The Company will continue to occupy its existing headquarters space until the new headquarters property is ready for occupancy, currently estimated to be
in the second quarter of fiscal 2020. Including new lease agreements executed during fiscal 2018, the Company’s worldwide leased office space increased to
approximately 1,760,000 square feet at February 28, 2018, up 617,000 square feet, or 54.0%, from August 31, 2017. This increase was primarily related to the lease of
additional office space in the Philippines and the new headquarters lease signed in February 2018. The Company’s significant locations are listed under Item 2,
Properties, within the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2017. The Company’s non-cancelable operating leases expire on various dates
through 2035. The Company believes the amount of leased office space as of February 28, 2018 is adequate for its current needs and that additional space is available
for lease to meet any future needs.
 
Total minimum rental payments associated with the leases are recorded as rent expense (a component of SG&A expense) on a straight-line basis over the periods of
the respective non-cancelable lease terms. Future minimum commitments for the Company’s operating leases in place as of February 28, 2018, including the fully
executed lease for its new headquarters in Norwalk, Connecticut are as follows:
 

Years ended August 31, (in thousands)  
Minimum Lease

Payments 
2018 (remaining six months)  $ 22,078 
2019   45,592 
2020   41,122 
2021   34,967 
2022   32,604 
Thereafter   252,878 
Total  $ 429,241 
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Rent expense (including operating costs) for all operating leases amounted to $13.5 million and $11.5 million during the three months ended February 28, 2018 and
2017, respectively. Rent expense for all operating leases amounted to $26.5 million and $22.9 million during the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. At February 28, 2018, and August 31, 2017, deferred rent reported within the Consolidated Balance Sheets totaled $38.4 million and $37.4 million, of
which $34.1 million and $33.5 million, respectively, was reported as a non-current liability within the line item Deferred Rent and Other Non-Current Liabilities.
 
Approximately $1.9 million of standby letters of credit have been issued during the ordinary course of business in connection with the Company’s leased office space
as of February 28, 2018. These standby letters of credit contain covenants that, among other things, require FactSet to maintain minimum levels of consolidated net
worth and certain leverage and fixed charge ratios. As of February 28, 2018, FactSet was in material compliance with all covenants contained in the standby letters of
credit.
 
Purchase Commitments with Suppliers
 
Purchase obligations represent payments due in future periods in respect of commitments to the Company’s various data vendors as well as commitments to purchase
goods and services such as telecommunication and computer maintenance services. These purchase commitments are agreements that are enforceable and legally
binding on FactSet and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the
approximate timing of the transaction. As of August 31, 2017, the Company had total purchase commitments with suppliers of $81.0 million. There were no material
changes in the Company’s purchase commitments with suppliers during the first six months of fiscal 2018.
 
Contingencies
 
Income Taxes
Uncertain income tax positions are accounted for in accordance with applicable accounting guidance (see Note 15). FactSet is currently under audit by tax authorities
and has reserved for potential adjustments to its provision for income taxes that may result from examinations by, or any negotiated settlements with, these tax
authorities. The Company believes that the final outcome of these examinations or settlements will not have a material effect on its results of operations. If events
occur which indicate payment of these amounts is unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities would result in the recognition of tax benefits in the period FactSet
determines the liabilities are no longer necessary. If the Company’s estimates of the federal, state, and foreign income tax liabilities are less than the ultimate
assessment, a further charge to expense would result.
 
Legal Matters
FactSet accrues non income-tax liabilities for contingencies when management believes that a loss is probable and the amounts can be reasonably estimated, while
contingent gains are recognized only when realized. The Company is subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business,
including intellectual property litigation. Based on information available at February 28, 2018, FactSet’s management does not believe that the ultimate outcome of
these unresolved matters against the Company, individually or in the aggregate, is likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial
position, its results of operations or its cash flows.
 
Indemnifications
As permitted or required under Delaware law and to the maximum extent allowable under that law, FactSet has certain obligations to indemnify its current and former
officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was serving, at FactSet’s request in such capacity. These indemnification
obligations are valid as long as the director or officer acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests
of the Company, and with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The maximum potential
amount of future payments FactSet could be required to make under these indemnification obligations is unlimited; however, FactSet has a director and officer
insurance policy that it believes mitigates FactSet's exposure and may enable FactSet to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. The Company believes the
estimated fair value of these indemnification obligations is immaterial.
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk
 
Cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are maintained primarily with five financial institutions. Deposits held with banks may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such
deposits. These deposits may be redeemed upon demand and are maintained with financial institutions with reputable credit and therefore bear minimal credit risk.
The Company seeks to mitigate its credit risks by spreading such risks across multiple counterparties and monitoring the risk profiles of these counterparties.
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Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable are unsecured and derived from revenues earned from clients located around the globe. FactSet does not require collateral from its clients but
performs credit evaluations on an ongoing basis. The Company maintains reserves for potential write-offs and evaluates the adequacy of the reserves periodically.
These losses have historically been within expectations. No single client represented 10% or more of FactSet’s total revenues in any period presented. At February 28,
2018, the Company’s largest individual client accounted for approximately 2% of total annual subscriptions, and subscriptions from the ten largest clients did not
surpass 15% of total annual subscriptions, consistent with August 31, 2017. As of February 28, 2018, the receivable reserve was $3.3 million compared to a reserve of
$2.7 million as of August 31, 2017.
 
Derivative Instruments
As a result of the use of derivative instruments, the Company is exposed to counterparty credit risk. FactSet has incorporated counterparty risk into the fair value of its
derivative assets and its own credit risk into the value of the Company’s derivative liabilities, when applicable. FactSet calculates credit risk from observable data
related to CDS as quoted by publicly available information. Counterparty risk is represented by CDS spreads related to the senior secured debt of the respective bank
with whom FactSet has executed these derivative transactions. Because CDS spread information is not available for FactSet, the Company’s credit risk is determined
based on using a simple average of CDS spreads for peer companies as determined by FactSet. To mitigate counterparty credit risk, FactSet enters into contracts with
large financial institutions and regularly reviews credit exposure balances as well as the creditworthiness of the counterparties.
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ITEM 2.      MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is designed to provide a reader of our financial statements with a
narrative from the perspective of our management on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and certain other factors that may affect our future results.
Our MD&A is presented in the following sections:
 
 

 • Executive Overview
 • Key Metrics
 • Results of Operations
 • Liquidity
 • Capital Resources
 • Foreign Currency
 • Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 • Share Repurchase Program
 • Contractual Obligations
 • Dividends
 • Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Estimates
 • New Accounting Pronouncements
 • Market Trends
 • Forward-Looking Factors
 
Executive Overview
 
We are a global provider of integrated financial information, analytical applications and industry-leading service for the global investment community. We deliver
insight and information to investment professionals through our analytics, service, content, and technology. These professionals include portfolio managers,
investment research professionals, investment bankers, risk and performance analysts, and wealth advisors. From streaming real-time data to historical information,
including quotes, estimates, news and commentary, we offer unique and third-party content through desktop, web, mobile and off-platform solutions. Our broad
application suite offers tools and resources including company and industry analyses, full screening tools, portfolio analysis, risk profiles, alpha-testing, portfolio
optimization and research management solutions. With recent acquisitions, we have continued to expand our solutions across the investment lifecycle from idea
generation to performance and client reporting. Our revenues are derived from subscriptions to products and services such as workstations, analytics, enterprise data,
research management, and trade execution.
 
Fiscal 2018 Second Quarter in Review
Revenues in the second quarter were $335.2 million, an increase of 13.9% from the prior year comparable period. Excluding the effects of acquisitions and
dispositions completed in the last 12 months and foreign currency, organic revenues grew 5.7% over the previous year. Annual subscription value (“ASV”) during the
quarter grew 5.8% organically and totaled $1.35 billion as of February 28, 2018. Both our analytics and content and technology solutions (“CTS”) offerings
demonstrated consistent growth with continued strong performance through add-on sales and new client additions during the second quarter of fiscal 2018.
 
While this growth represented positive results in the current quarter and an improvement over the first quarter of fiscal 2018, our organic ASV and revenue growth
rates were below the growth experienced a year ago. Our growth has been negatively impacted by an industry shift from active to passive investing, our client’s
increased focus on controlling the total cost of ownership and the ongoing consolidation in the financial markets.
 
Operating income increased 4.1%, while diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) decreased 20.8% compared to the prior year period. The increase in operating income was
due primarily to an increase in revenue of 13.9%, partially offset by higher costs associated with our recent acquisitions and incremental employee compensation
costs. The decrease in EPS was primarily due to the impacts from the TCJA.
 
As of February 28, 2018, employee count was 9,361, up 9.0% in the past 12 months. Excluding workforces acquired in the last 12 months, headcount increased 4.7%
from a year ago. Of our total employees, 2,461 were located in the U.S., 1,242 in Europe and 5,658 in the Asia Pacific region.
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Additionally, FactSet received 11 industry awards, recognizing the strength of FactSet’s products and people. Awards included Best Buy-Side Performance
Measurement and Attribution Product from Waters Technology, and Risk Management Solutions Provider of the Year from Private Equity Wire.
 
Key Metrics
 
The following is a review of our key metrics:
 

  
As of and for the

Three months ended February 28,       
(in millions, except client and user counts)  2018   2017   Change   
Revenues  $ 335.2  $ 294.4   13.9%  
Operating income  $ 95.5  $ 91.7   4.1%  
Net income  $ 53.1  $ 66.7   (20.4)% 
Diluted EPS  $ 1.33  $ 1.68   (20.8)% 
Free cash flow(1)  $ 86.1  $ 71.4   20.6%  
As reported ASV  $ 1,348.8  $ 1,186.9   13.6%  (2)

Clients   4,895   4,404   11.1%  (3)

Users   88,646   85,788   3.3%  (4)

 

 

(1) We define free cash flow as cash provided by operating activities, which includes the cash cost for taxes and changes in working capital, less capital expenditures.
The presentation of free cash flow is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in
accordance with GAAP. We use free cash flow, a non-GAAP measure, both in presenting our results to stockholders and the investment community, and in our
internal evaluation and management of the business. Management believes that this financial measure and the information we provide are useful to investors
because they permit investors to view our performance using the same metric that we use to gauge progress in achieving our goals. Free cash flow is also an
indication of cash flow that may be available to fund further investments in future growth initiatives.
 

 
(2) In the third quarter of fiscal 2017, FactSet changed its ASV definition to exclude professional services as these fees are not subscription-based. The prior year

reported ASV was not restated to reflect this change, which included $5.5 million of professional services.
 

 
(3) In the second quarter of fiscal 2017, FactSet changed its client count definition to capture clients with ASV greater than $10,000 versus the previous metric of

clients with ASV greater than $24,000. The prior year client count was restated to reflect this change for comparison purposes.
 

 
(4) In the second quarter of fiscal 2017, FactSet changed its user count definition to account for users from workstations previously not captured due to certain

product bundling and also users of the StreetAccount web product. The prior year user count was restated to reflect this change for comparison purposes.
 

Annual Subscription Value
Annual subscription value at any given point in time represents the forward-looking revenues for the next twelve months from all subscription services currently being
supplied to clients. With proper notice to us, our clients are able to add to, delete portions of, or terminate service at any time, subject to certain contractual limitations.
ASV totaled $1.35 billion at February 28, 2018 and excludes professional services fees billed in the last 12 months, which are not subscription-based. We grew organic
ASV by $68.5 million, or 5.8%, from a year ago. Organic ASV excludes ASV from acquisitions and dispositions completed within the past 12 months and the effects
of foreign currency. The increase in organic ASV was driven by add-on sales within our existing client base and the addition of new clients, partially offset by client
cancellations.
 
Buy-side and sell-side ASV growth rates for the second quarter of fiscal 2018 were 6.0% and 4.6%, respectively. Buy-side clients account for 84.4% of ASV, while the
remainder is derived from sell-side firms that perform mergers and acquisitions advisory work, capital markets services and equity research. The second quarter of
fiscal 2018 growth rates for both buy and sell-side clients represent a decrease from prior year growth rates due to continuing cost pressure on our clients and delays in
purchasing our solutions due to economic and market uncertainty.
 
ASV from U.S. operations was $842.0 million, increasing 8.8% over prior year and 5.0% organically. This increase in organic ASV is primarily attributed to growth in
our analytics and CTS products, combined with our annual price increase for select U.S. investment management clients of $10.2 million, higher than the prior year
price increase of $9.5 million. ASV from international operations was $506.8 million, increasing 22.6% over prior year and 7.2% organically. International ASV now
represents 37.6% of total ASV, up from 34.8% a year ago. This shift in ASV to international operations was due primarily to acquisitions completed in the last 12
months, growth in the fixed income and risk analytics products within the European segment, and an increase in new business sales of analytics products to asset
managers in Asia Pacific.
 
Client and User Additions
Our total client count was 4,895 as of February 28, 2018, representing a net increase of 86 clients in the past three months. In the second quarter of fiscal 2017, FactSet
changed its client count definition to capture clients with ASV greater than $10,000 versus the previous metric of clients with ASV greater than $24,000. The prior
year client count was restated to reflect this change for comparison purposes. Client count has increased by 11.1% in the last 12 month. We continue to focus on
expanding and cultivating relationships with our current client base as it is essential to our long-term growth strategy and assists in our upsell of workstations,
applications and content at our existing clients.
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As of February 28, 2018, there were 88,646 professionals using FactSet. In the second quarter of fiscal 2017, FactSet also changed its user count definition to account
for users from workstations previously not captured due to certain product bundling and to include StreetAccount web product users. The prior year user count was
restated to reflect this change for comparison purposes. User count increased by 53 in the past three months primarily due to an increase in workstation sales. User
count has increased by 3.3% in the last 12 months primarily due to expansion at existing clients and new client acquisitions.
 
Annual client retention as of February 28, 2018 was greater than 95% of ASV and 89% when expressed as a percentage of clients. Our retention success,
demonstrating that a majority of our clients maintain their subscriptions to FactSet year over year, highlights the strength of our business model. At February 28, 2018,
our largest individual client accounted approximately 2% of total subscriptions and annual subscriptions from our ten largest clients did not surpass 15% of total client
subscriptions.
 
Returning Value to Stockholders
On February 7, 2018, FactSet’s Board of Directors approved a regular quarterly dividend of $0.56 per share, or $2.24 per share per annum. The cash dividend of $21.8
million was paid on March 20, 2018 to common stockholders of record at the close of business on February 28, 2018. We repurchased 420,000 shares for $81.9
million during the second quarter of fiscal 2018 under our existing share repurchase program. Over the last 12 months, we have returned $293.2 million to
stockholders in the form of share repurchases and cash dividends, funded by cash generated from operations. As of February 28, 2018, $131.2 million remained
available for future share repurchases.
 
On March 26, 2018, the Board of Directors of FactSet approved a $300.0 million expansion of the existing share repurchase program. Subsequent to this expansion,
$431.2 million is available for future share repurchases.
 
Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 were $6.5 million, compared with $5.5 million a year ago. Approximately $5.5 million, or 84%, of our capital
expenditures was for upgrades to existing computer systems in Norwalk, additional server equipment for our data centers located in New Jersey and Virginia, as well
as laptop computers and peripherals for new and existing employees. The remainder of our capital expenditures was primarily for the build out of new office space.
 
Results of Operations
 
For an understanding of the significant factors that influenced our performance for the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, respectively, the following
discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements presented in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.
 
  Three months ended February 28,   Six months ended February 28,  
(in thousands, except per share data)  2018   2017   Change   2018   2017   Change  
Revenues  $ 335,231  $ 294,354   13.9%  $ 664,372  $ 582,417   14.1%
Cost of services  $ 163,232  $ 131,635   24.0%  $ 324,756  $ 258,885   25.4%
Selling, general and administrative  $ 76,514  $ 70,973   7.8%  $ 155,033  $ 141,467   9.6%
Operating income  $ 95,485  $ 91,746   4.1%  $ 184,583  $ 182,065   1.4%
Net income  $ 53,137  $ 66,710   (20.3)% $ 123,516  $ 133,293   (7.3)%
Diluted EPS  $ 1.33  $ 1.68   (20.8)% $ 3.11  $ 3.34   (6.9)%
Diluted weighted average common shares   39,846   39,700       39,763   39,900     
 
Revenues
 
Three months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
Revenues for the three months ended February 28, 2018 were $335.2 million, up 13.9% compared to the same period a year ago. The increase in revenue was driven
primarily by acquisitions and strong sales from our analytics and CTS products. Acquisitions completed in the last twelve months added $24.7 million in revenues
during the second quarter of fiscal 2018. Within analytics, we saw strong contributions from our portfolio analytics, risk, portfolio services and fixed income products
and leveraged our multi-asset class risk offering to increase our competitive positioning in the global market. CTS had a strong second quarter and continued
momentum around our expanding suite of data feeds. Offsetting these positive growth factors were cancellations due to firm closures and consolidations of services
leading to redundancies. Excluding the effects of acquisitions and dispositions completed in the last 12 months and foreign currency, our organic revenue growth rate
was 5.7%.
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Six months ended February 28, 2018 compared to six months ended February 28, 2017
Revenues for the six months ended February 28, 2018 were $664.4 million, up 14.1% compared to the same period a year ago. The increase in revenue was driven by
acquisitions, continued momentum from our analytics and CTS products and a solid performance from our wealth products.
 
Revenues by Geographic Region
  Three months ended February 28,   Six months ended February 28,  
(in thousands)  2018   2017   Change   2018   2017   Change  
U.S.  $ 208,900  $ 191,629   9.0% $ 417,668  $ 382,256   9.3%

% of revenues   62.3%  65.1%      62.9%  65.6%    
Europe  $ 96,206  $ 76,273   26.1% $ 187,933  $ 148,136   26.9%
Asia Pacific   30,125   26,452   13.9%  58,771   52,025   13.0%

International  $ 126,331  $ 102,725   23.0% $ 246,704  $ 200,161   23.3%
% of revenues   37.7%  34.9%      37.1%  34.4%    

Consolidated  $ 335,231  $ 294,354   13.9% $ 664,372  $ 582,417   14.1%
 
Three months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
Revenues from our U.S. segment increased 9.0% to $208.9 million during the three months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the same period a year ago,
primarily from the analytics suite and data feed products. Excluding the effects of acquisitions and dispositions completed in the last 12 months, organic revenues in
the U.S. were up 4.8% compared to the same period a year ago. Revenues from our U.S. operations accounted for 62.3% of our consolidated revenues during the
second quarter of fiscal 2018, a decrease from 65.1% in the prior year. This shift in revenues was due primarily to additional revenue from recent acquisitions largely
impacting the European segment, as well as international sales growth that outpaced the growth in the U.S. segment. 
 
European revenues grew 26.1%, compared to the same period a year ago, due primarily to recent acquisitions, which have significant operations in the European
markets, along with competitive wins in our fixed income products and continued performance from our risk analytics products. Organic revenues in the European
segment were up 5.2% compared to the year ago second quarter. Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations increased our European revenue growth rate by 270 basis
points. Year over year organic growth rates in Europe were negatively impacted by regulatory environment and political events, resulting in delayed purchasing
decisions.
 
Asia Pacific revenue growth of 13.9% was primarily due to an increase in new business with asset managers focused on our risk analytics products. Foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations increased our Asia Pacific revenue growth rate by 70 basis points.
 
Six months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
Revenues from our U.S. segment increased 9.3% to $417.7 million during the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the same period a year ago. Our U.S.
revenue growth rate of 9.3% for the first six months of fiscal 2018 reflects the performance of analytics suite and data feed products and incremental revenue from
acquisitions completed in the last 12 months. Excluding the effects of acquisitions and dispositions, organic revenues in the U.S. were up 4.8% compared to the prior
year period. Revenues from our U.S. operations accounted for 62.9% of our consolidated revenues during the first six months of fiscal 2018, a decrease from 65.6% in
the prior year.
 
European revenues grew 26.9% during the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the same period a year ago due primarily from recent acquisitions, along
with increased sales of our fixed income products. Excluding the effects of acquisitions and dispositions completed in the last 12 months and foreign currency,
European revenues grew 5.5% for the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the same period a year ago. Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations
increased our European revenue growth rate by 210 basis points.
 
Asia Pacific revenue growth of 13.0% during the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the same period a year ago primarily due to growth from our
analytics suite. Excluding the effects of acquisitions and dispositions completed in the last 12 months and foreign currency, Asia Pacific revenues grew 12.9% for the
six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the same period a year ago. Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations decreased our Asia Pacific revenue growth
rate by 30 basis points.
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Operating Expenses
  Three months ended February 28,   Six months ended February 28,  
(in thousands)  2018   2017   Change   2018   2017   Change  
Cost of services  $ 163,232  $ 131,635   24.0% $ 324,756  $ 258,885   25.4%
SG&A   76,514   70,973   7.8%  155,033   141,467   9.6%
Total operating expenses  $ 239,746  $ 202,608   18.3% $ 479,789  $ 400,352   19.8%
Operating Income  $ 95,485  $ 91,746   4.1% $ 184,583  $ 182,065   1.4%

Operating Margin   28.5%  31.2%      27.8%  31.3%    
 
Cost of Services
 
Three months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
For the three months February 28, 2018, cost of services increased 24.0% to $163.2 million, compared to $131.6 million in the same period a year ago. Cost of
services, expressed as a percentage of revenues, was 48.7% during the second quarter of fiscal 2018, an increase of 400 basis points over the prior year period due to
higher employee compensation, amortization of intangible assets, and data costs.
 
Employee compensation, when expressed as a percentage of revenues increased 120 basis points in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the same period a
year ago. The increase is primarily due to 769 net new employee additions over the last 12 months, inclusive of employees acquired from acquisitions, with the
majority of their compensation included in cost of services, annual base salary increases during the last 12 months, incremental hires in our centers of excellence
located in India and the Philippines, and a foreign currency impact on employee compensation. As of February 28, 2018, approximately 71% of our employee base
performed roles within cost of services.
 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, increased 50 basis points in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the
same period a year ago, primarily due to recent acquisitions, which added $93.2 million of intangible assets to be amortized over a weighted-average life of 11.5 years.
Data costs, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, increased 100 basis points due primarily from our recent acquisitions and higher variable data costs associated
with additional users of FactSet.
 
Six months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
For the six months ended February 28, 2018, cost of services increased 25.4% to $324.8 million, compared to $258.9 million in the same period a year ago. Cost of
services, expressed as a percentage of revenues, was 48.9% during the first six months of fiscal 2018, an increase of 440 basis points over the prior year period. This
increase was primarily due to higher employee compensation costs driven by an increased employee base, restructuring actions , amortization of intangible assets
associated with our recent acquisitions, and data costs from acquisitions and additional users of FactSet.
 
SG&A
 
Three months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
For the three months ended February 28, 2018, SG&A expenses increased to $76.5 million, up 7.8%, from $71.0 million in the same period a year ago. SG&A
expenses, expressed as a percentage of revenues, were 22.8% during the second quarter of fiscal 2018, a decrease of 130 basis points over the prior year period as a
result of lower employee compensation, foreign currency exchange gains on hedging activities and increased revenues while holding overhead costs flat on a year over
year basis.
 
Employee compensation, including stock-based compensation, when expressed as a percentage of revenues, decreased 100 basis points in the second quarter of fiscal
2018 compared to the same period a year ago. The decrease is primarily related to a higher percentage of our employee base working in a cost of services capacity
compared to an SG&A role.
 
Six months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
For the six months ended February 28, 2018, SG&A expenses increased to $155.0 million, up 9.6% from $141.5 million in the same period a year ago. SG&A
expenses, expressed as a percentage of revenues, was 23.3% during the first six months of fiscal 2018 a decrease of 100 basis points over the prior year period. This
decrease was primarily due to revenue growth outpacing the growth of SG&A related expenses on a year over year basis, foreign currency exchange gains on hedging
activities and lower employee compensation.
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Employee compensation, including stock-based compensation, when expressed as a percentage of revenues decreased 30 basis points during the first six months of
fiscal 2018 compared to the same period a year ago. The decrease is primarily related to a higher percentage of our employee base working in a cost of services
capacity compared to an SG&A role, partially offset by restructuring actions.
 
Operating Income and Operating Margin
 
Three months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
Operating income increased 4.1% to $95.5 million for the three months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the prior year period. Our operating margin during the
second quarter of fiscal 2018 was 28.5%, down from 31.2% a year ago. The lower operating margin was primarily due to higher intangible asset amortization and data
costs from recent acquisitions, an increase in employee compensation costs, and a weaker U.S. dollar, which resulted in a negative impact from foreign currency,
partially offset by a gain on our Indian Rupee foreign exchange hedges.
 
Six months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 29, 2017
Operating income increased 1.4% to $184.6 million for the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the prior year period. Our operating margin during the
first six months of fiscal 2018 was 27.8%, down from 31.3% a year ago period. The lower operating margin was primarily due to higher expenses from recent
acquisition, an increase in employee compensation costs and, restructuring actions, partially offset by a gain on our Indian Rupee foreign exchange hedges. 
 
Operating Income by Segment
 
  Three months ended February 28,   Six months ended February 28,  
(in thousands)  2018   2017   Change   2018   2017   Change  
U.S.  $ 38,527  $ 36,188   6.5%  $ 79,298  $ 76,192   4.1%
Europe   36,993   39,932   (7.4)%  69,963   76,516   (8.6)%
Asia Pacific   19,965   15,626   27.8%   35,322   29,357   20.3%
Consolidated  $ 95,485  $ 91,746   4.1%  $ 184,583  $ 182,065   1.4%
 
Our operating segments are aligned with how we manage the business and the demographic markets in which we serve and how the chief operating decision maker
assesses performance. Our internal financial reporting structure is based on three reportable segments, the U.S., Europe and Asia Pacific, which we believe helps us
better manage the business and view the markets we serve. Sales, consulting, data collection, product development and software engineering are the primary functional
groups within each segment. Each segment records compensation expense, including stock-based compensation, amortization of intangible assets, depreciation of
furniture and fixtures, amortization of leasehold improvements, communication costs, professional fees, rent expense, travel, office and other direct expenses.
Expenditures associated with our data centers, third party data costs and corporate headquarters charges are recorded by the U.S. segment and are not allocated to the
other segments. The centers of excellence, located in India and the Philippines, primarily focus on content collection that benefit all our segments; therefore, the
expenses incurred at these locations are allocated to each segment based on a percentage of revenues.
 
Three months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
U.S. operating income increased 6.5% to $38.5 million during the three months ended February 28, 2018, compared to $36.2 million in the same period a year ago.
The increase in U.S. operating income is primarily from revenue growth of 9.0% and foreign currency exchange gains on hedging activities, partially offset by higher
employee compensation and data costs. U.S. revenue growth was driven by U.S. organic ASV growth of 5.0% and sales of our analytics suite and CTS products to
institutional asset managers. Employee compensation increased primarily due to annual base salary increases during the last 12 months, higher employee benefit costs,
including medical expenditures and a 1.3% increase in the U.S. employee headcount year over year. Data costs increased from our recent acquisitions and additional
users of FactSet.
 
European operating income decreased 7.4% to $37.0 million during the three months ended February 28, 2018, compared to $39.9 million in the same period a year
ago. The decrease in European operating income was due to higher employee compensation, amortization of intangible assets, and data cost partially offset by revenue
growth. The impact of foreign currency decreased European operating income by $2.2 million year over year. Employee compensation was higher year over year as a
result of 355 net new employees in our European offices over the last 12 months. These employees are primarily from our recent acquisitions. Amortization of
intangible assets increased due to acquired intangible assets from the recent acquisitions, the majority of which reside within our European segment. Data costs
increased primarily from higher data costs related to our recently acquired businesses. These costs were partially offset by European revenue growth from increased
sales in fixed income and risk analytics products.
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Asia Pacific operating income increased 27.8% to $20.0 million during the three months ended February 28, 2018, compared to $15.6 million in the same period a
year ago. The increase in the Asia Pacific operating income was due to revenue growth of 13.9%, partially offset by a rise in employee compensation. The impact of
foreign currency increased Asia Pacific operating income by $0.3 million year over year. Asia Pacific revenue growth was due primarily to an increase in new
business focused on our risk analytics suite. Employee compensation was higher year over year as a result of a 7.2% increase in our Asia Pacific workforce.
 
Six months ended February 28, 2018 compared to six months ended February 28, 2017
U.S. operating income increased 4.1% to $79.3 million during the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to $76.2 million in the same period a year ago. The
increase in U.S. operating income is primarily due to revenue growth of 9.3% and foreign currency exchange gains on hedging activities, partially offset by increases
in expenses related to employee compensation, computer equipment and data costs. Employee compensation increased primarily due to annual base salary increases,
restructuring actions, higher employee benefit costs including medical expenditures, and a 1.3% increase in employee headcount in our U.S. offices year over year.
Computer-related expenses, which include depreciation, maintenance, software and other fees, increased 22.5% year over year due to upgrades to existing computer
systems in Norwalk, additional server equipment in our data centers located in New Jersey and Virginia, as well as laptop computers and peripherals for new and
existing employees. Data costs increased due primarily to higher third-party data costs from our recent acquisitions and additional users of FactSet.
 
European operating income decreased 8.6% to $70.0 million during the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to $76.5 million in the same period a year ago.
The decrease in European operating income was due to higher employee compensation, amortization of intangible assets, and data cost partially offset by revenue
growth of 26.9%. The impact of foreign currency decreased European operating income by $2.5 million year over year. Employee compensation was higher year over
year as a result of a 40.0% increase in employee headcount in our European offices year over year. These employees are primarily from our recent acquisitions.
Amortization of intangible assets increased due to intangible assets acquired from the recent acquisitions, the majority of which reside in our European segment. Data
costs increased due primarily to higher data costs related to our recently acquired businesses.
 
Asia Pacific operating income increased 20.3% to $35.3 million during the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to $29.4 million in the same period a year
ago. The increase in the Asia Pacific operating income was due to revenue growth of 13.0%, partially offset by increases in employee compensation. The impact of
foreign currency increased Asia Pacific operating income by $0.7 million year over year. Employee compensation was higher year over year as a result of a 7.2%
increase in our Asia Pacific workforce year over year.
 
Income Taxes, Net Income and Diluted Earnings per Share 
 
  Three months ended February 28,   Six months ended February 28,  
(in thousands)  2018   2017   Change   2018   2017   Change  
Provision for income taxes  $ 39,076  $ 22,780   71.5%  $ 54,876  $ 46,017   19.3%
Net income  $ 53,137  $ 66,710   (20.3)% $ 123,516  $ 133,293   (7.3)%
Diluted EPS  $ 1.33  $ 1.68   (20.8)% $ 3.11   3.34   (6.9)%
 
Income Taxes
 
Three months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
For the three months ended February 28, 2018, the provision for income taxes was $39.1 million, up 71.5% from the same period a year ago. On December 22, 2017,
the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation through the TCJA. The TCJA significantly revises the U.S. corporate income tax including, lowering the
statutory U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, effective January 1, 2018, implementing a modified territorial tax system and imposing a mandatory one-
time transition tax on accumulated earnings and profits (“E&P”) of foreign subsidiaries that were previously deferred from U.S. income taxes. While we have not
finalized the accounting for the tax effects of the enactment of the TCJA, we have made a reasonable estimate of the effects on the existing U.S. deferred tax balances
and the one-time transition tax. We will continue to refine our calculations as additional analyses are completed. In addition, the estimates may also be affected by
changes in interpretations at the federal and state levels, and any additional regulatory guidance that may be issued.
 
We had approximately $250 million in undistributed foreign E&P generated prior to December 31, 2017, which resulted in a provisional amount for the one-time
transition tax expense of $23.2 million, payable over an eight-year period. This amount may change as we finalize the calculation of foreign E&P previously deferred
from U.S. federal taxation, as well as the analysis of available foreign tax credits. Due to the changes in taxation of undistributed foreign earnings under the TCJA, we
will continue to analyze foreign subsidiary earnings, as well as global working capital requirements, and may repatriate earnings when the amounts are remitted
substantially free of additional tax.
 

36



 
 
Due to our August 31 fiscal year-end, the lower tax rate will be phased in, resulting in a blended U.S. statutory federal rate of 25.7% for the full fiscal 2018 year and a
21% rate for subsequent years. The reduction in the statutory federal rate also required the remeasurment of our net U.S. deferred tax position, which resulted in a non-
recurring tax charge of $2.2 million recorded during the second quarter of fiscal 2018. The provisional expense related to the one-time transition tax on the
undistributed foreign earnings and the non-recurring tax charge from the remeasurement of deferred taxes were partially offset by the lower blended U.S. statutory rate
and the recognition of excess tax benefits from the adoption of the employee share-based payment accounting standard.
 
Six months ended February 28, 2018 compared to six months ended February 28, 2017
For the six months ended February 28, 2018, the provision for income taxes was $54.9 million, up 19.3% from the same period a year ago. This was primarily due to
the enactment of the TCJA resulting in a $23.2 million one-time transition tax expense and a non-recurring $2.2 million tax expense related to the remeasurement of
our net U.S. deferred tax position. These income tax charges were partially offset by a lower blended statutory rate, the recognition of $6.1 million of excess tax
benefits from stock option exercises and a $1.5 million income tax benefit from settlements with tax authorities.
 
Net Income and Diluted Earnings per Share
 
Three months ended February 28, 2018 compared to three months ended February 28, 2017
Net income decreased 20.3% to $53.1 million and diluted EPS decreased 20.8% to $1.33 for the three months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the three months
ended February 28, 2017. Net income and diluted EPS decreased during the second quarter of fiscal 2018 due to non-recurring provisional tax expenses from the
recently enacted TCJA and an increase in interest expense associated with our outstanding debt, partially offset by the recognition of excess tax benefits associated
with an employee share-based payment accounting standard update adopted in first quarter of fiscal 2018.
 
Six months ended February 28, 2018 compared to six months ended February 28, 2017
Net income decreased 7.3% to $123.5 million and diluted EPS decreased 6.9% to $3.11 for the six months ended February 28, 2018, compared to the six months
ended February 28, 2017. Drivers of net income and EPS decreased during the six months ended February 28, 2017 due to non-recurring provisional tax expenses
from the recently enacted TCJA, restructuring actions and an increase in interest expense associated with our outstanding debt, partially offset by the recognition of
excess tax benefits from stock option exercises.
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Adjusted Net Income and Diluted Earnings per Share (non-GAAP)
 
Financial measures in accordance with U.S. GAAP including net income and diluted EPS have been adjusted below. These adjusted financial measures are used both
in presenting our results to stockholders and the investment community, and also in our internal evaluation and management of the business. We believe that these
adjusted financial measures and the information they provide are useful to investors because they permit investors to view our performance using the same tools that
we uses to gauge progress in achieving our goals. Adjusted measures may also facilitate comparisons to our historical performance.
 
  Three months ended February 28,  
(In thousands, except per share data)  2018  2017  Change 
GAAP net income  $ 53,137  $ 66,710   (20.3)%
Intangible asset amortization   4,924   3,156     
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment   1,654  ─     
Other non-recurring items   1,774   1,978     
Income tax expense   22,856  ─     

Adjusted net income  $ 84,345  $ 71,844   17.4%
             
GAAP diluted EPS  $ 1.33  $ 1.68   (20.8)%
Intangible asset amortization   0.12   0.08     
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment   0.04  ─     
Other non-recurring items   0.04   0.05     
Income tax expense   0.57  ─     

Adjusted diluted EPS  $ 2.12  $ 1.81   17.1%
Weighted average common shares (diluted)   39,846   39,700     
 
The presentation of the financial information above is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented
in accordance with GAAP.
 
Adjusted net income for the three months ended February 28, 2018 was $84.3 million, an increase of 17.4% from the prior year period. As presented in the table
above, adjusted net income for the three months ended February 28, 2018 excludes $4.9 million (after-tax) of intangible asset amortization, $1.7 million (after-tax)
related to deferred revenue fair value adjustments from purchase accounting, $1.8 million (after-tax) of non-recurring severance charges, stock-based compensation
acceleration and restructuring actions and $22.9 million of income tax charges primarily related to the one-time deemed repatriation tax on foreign earnings. Adjusted
net income for the three months ended February 28, 2017 was $71.8 million, which excludes $3.2 million of after-tax intangible asset amortization and $1.1 million of
after-tax non-recurring acquisition costs and an after-tax loss of $0.9 million from the final working capital adjustment related to sale of the Market Metrics business in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016.
 
Fiscal 2018 second quarter adjusted diluted EPS of $2.12 excludes the net effect of the $0.12 detriment from the intangible asset amortization, $0.04 detriment from
the deferred revenue fair value adjustments, $0.04 detriment from non-recurring severance charges, stock-based compensation acceleration and restructuring actions
and $0.57 detriment from income tax charges primarily related to the one-time deemed repatriation tax on foreign earnings. Fiscal 2017 second quarter adjusted
diluted EPS of $1.81 excludes a $0.13 detriment from the intangible asset amortization, non-recurring acquisition costs and the loss on the working capital adjustment.
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Liquidity
 
The table below, for the periods indicated, provides selected cash flow information:
 
  Six months ended February 28,  
(in thousands)  2018   2017  
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 153,689  $ 128,058 
Capital expenditures (1)   (12,375)   (18,046)
Free cash flow (2)  $ 141,314  $ 110,012 
Net cash used in investing activities  $ (11,990)  $ (95,383)
Net cash used in financing activities  $ (108,086)  $ (98,498)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 233,628  $ 155,351 
 
 (1) Included in net cash used in investing activities during each fiscal year reported.

 

 
(2) We define free cash flow as cash provided by operating activities, which includes the cash cost for taxes and changes in working capital, less capital

expenditures.
 
Cash and cash equivalents aggregated to $233.6 million, or 15.9% of our total assets at February 28, 2018, compared with $155.4 million, or 14.6% of our total assets
at February 28, 2017. Our cash and cash equivalents increased $38.9 million during the first six months of fiscal 2018 due to cash provided by operations of $153.7
million, $48.8 million in proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and $5.3 million from the effects of foreign currency fluctuation. These cash inflows
were partially offset by $43.4 million in dividend payments, $12.4 million of capital expenditures and $113.9 million in share repurchases, which included $112.9
million under the existing share repurchase program and $1.0 million in shares repurchased from employees to cover their cost of taxes upon vesting of restricted
stock.
 
Free cash flow generated in the six months ended February 28, 2018 was $141.3 million, an increase of 28.5% compared to the same period a year ago. Free cash flow
was attributable to $123.5 million of net income and $46.8 million of non-cash items less $16.6 million of working capital changes and $12.4 million in capital
expenditures. The year over year free cash flow growth was driven by positive working capital changes totaling $18.3 million and lower capital expenditures of $5.7
million. Working capital improved year over year primarily due to increased cash collected on our receivables and the adoption of the accounting standard update for
share-based payments, which required us to reclass $9.0 million in benefits from a financing to an operating activity.
 
Free cash flow generated over the last twelve months was $315.0 million and exceeded net income by 27% over that same period. Included in the twelve-month
calculation of free cash flow was $346.2 million of net cash provided by operations less $31.2 million of capital expenditures.
 
Net cash used in investing activities was $12.0 million in the first six months of fiscal 2018, representing an $83.4 million decrease from the same period a year ago.
This decrease was due primarily to a net cash outflow of $71.7 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 for the acquisitions of CYMBA and Vermilion. Additionally,
cash used in investing activities decreased year over year due to lower capital expenditures of $5.7 million and a decrease in the purchase of investments (net of sales)
of $6.0 million year over year.
 
During the first six months of fiscal 2018, net cash used in financing activities was $108.1 million, representing a $9.6 million increase compared to the same period a
year ago. This was primarily due to $65.0 million in proceeds received from the issuance of long-term debt in the prior year that did not reoccur in fiscal 2018. In
addition to the issuance of debt, the increase in net cash used was due to higher dividend payments and a reduction of tax benefits from share-based payment
arrangements due to the adoption of the accounting standard update, which required us to reclass $9.0 million in benefits from a financing to an operating activity. The
$9.6 million increase in cash used in financing activities was partially offset by a decrease in share repurchases of $52.5 million and an increase in proceeds from
employee stock plans of $14.1 million.
 
We expect that for at least the next 12 months, our operating expenses will continue to constitute a significant use of our cash. As of February 28, 2018, our total cash
and cash equivalents worldwide was $233.6 million with $574.7 million in outstanding borrowings (net of $0.3 million of unamortized debt issuance costs).
Approximately $41.5 million of our total available cash and cash equivalents is held in bank accounts located within the U.S., $152.7 million in Europe
(predominantly within the UK, France, and Germany) and the remaining $39.4 million is held in the Asia Pacific region. We believe our liquidity (including cash on
hand, cash from operating activities and other cash flows that we expect to generate) within each geographic segment will be sufficient to meet our short-term and
long-term operating requirements, as they occur, including working capital needs, capital expenditures, dividend payments, stock repurchases, growth objectives and
other financing activities. In addition, we expect existing foreign cash, cash equivalents and cash flows from operations to continue to be sufficient to fund our foreign
operating activities and cash commitments for investing activities, such as capital expenditures, for at least the next 12 months, and thereafter, for the foreseeable
future.
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Capital Resources
 
Capital Expenditures
 
Capital expenditures in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 were $6.5 million, compared with $5.5 million a year ago. Approximately $5.5 million, or 84%, of our capital
expenditures was for upgrades to existing computer systems in Norwalk, additional server equipment in our data centers located in New Jersey and Virginia, as well as
laptop computers and peripherals for new and existing employees. The remainder of our capital expenditures was primarily for the build out of new office space.
 
Capital expenditures were $12.4 million during the first six months of fiscal 2018, down from $18.0 million in the same period a year ago. Approximately $9.0
million, or 72%, of capital expenditures related to upgrades to existing computer systems at our corporate headquarters in Norwalk, laptop computers and peripherals
for new employees and additional servers for our existing data centers. The remainder of our capital expenditures was primarily for the build out of office space
including $1.3 million in the Netherlands and $0.7 million in New York.
 
Capital Needs
 
Long-Term Debt
On March 17, 2017, we entered into a Credit Agreement (the “2017 Credit Agreement”) between FactSet, as the borrower, and PNC Bank, National Association
(“PNC”), as the administrative agent and lender. The 2017 Credit Agreement provides for a $575.0 million revolving credit facility (the “2017 Revolving Credit
Facility”). We may request borrowings under the 2017 Revolving Credit Facility until its maturity date of March 17, 2020. The 2017 Credit Agreement also allows us,
subject to certain requirements, to arrange for additional borrowings with PNC for an aggregate amount of up to $225.0 million, provided that any such request for
additional borrowings must be in a minimum amount of $25.0 million. At our option, a borrowing may be in the form of a base rate loan or a LIBOR rate loan.
Borrowings under the loan bear interest on the outstanding principal amount at a rate equal to the daily LIBOR rate plus 1.00%. Interest on the loan outstanding is
payable quarterly in arrears and on the maturity date. There are no prepayment penalties if we elect to prepay the outstanding loan amounts prior to the scheduled
maturity date. The principal balance is payable in full on the maturity date.
 
In conjunction with our entrance into the 2017 Credit Agreement, we borrowed $575.0 million in the form of a LIBOR rate loan under the 2017 Revolving Credit
Facility. Proceeds from the 2017 Revolving Credit Facility were also used to fund our acquisition of BISAM.
 
All outstanding loan amounts are reported as Long-term debt within the Consolidated Balance Sheet, presented net of related loan origination fees at February 28,
2018. The loan origination fees are amortized into interest expense over the term of the loan using the effective interest method. During the three months ended
February 28, 2018 and 2017, we paid approximately $3.6 million and $1.3 million in interest on our outstanding debt amounts, respectively. During the six months
ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, we paid approximately $7.0 million and $2.4 million in interest on our outstanding debt amounts, respectively. As of February 28,
2018, no commitment fee was owed by us since we borrowed the full amount under the 2017 Credit Agreement.
 
The 2017 Credit Agreement contained covenants restricting certain FactSet activities, which are usual and customary for this type of loan.
 
In addition, the 2017 Credit Agreement required that we maintain a consolidated leverage ratio, as measured by total funded debt/EBITDA below a specified level as
of the end of each fiscal quarter. We were in material compliance with all of the covenants of the 2017 Credit Agreement as of February 28, 2018.
 
As of February 28, 2018 the fair value of our long-term debt was $575 million, which we believe approximated the carrying amount as the terms and interest rates
approximate market rates given its floating interest rate basis.
 
Letters of Credit
From time to time, we are required to obtain letters of credit in the ordinary course of business. Approximately $1.9 million of standby letters of credit have been
issued in connection with our leased office spaces as of February 28, 2018. These standby letters of credit contain covenants that, among other things, require us to
maintain minimum levels of consolidated net worth and certain leverage and fixed charge ratios. As of February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, we were in material
compliance with all covenants contained in the standby letters of credit.
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Foreign Currency
 
Foreign Currency Exposure
 
Certain wholly owned subsidiaries within the European and Asia Pacific segments operate under a functional currency different from the U.S. dollar. The financial
statements of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using period-end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities and average rates for the period for
revenues and expenses. Translation gains and losses that arise from translating assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of foreign operations are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss as a component of stockholders’ equity.
 
As of February 28, 2018 our annualized non-U.S. dollar denominated revenues are estimated to be $100.8 million while our non-U.S. dollar denominated expenses are
estimated to be $324.2 million, which translates into a net foreign currency exposure of $223.4 million. Our foreign currency exchange exposure is related to our
operating expense base in countries outside the U.S., where 74% of our employees were located as of February 28, 2018. During the second quarter of fiscal 2018,
foreign currency movements decreased operating income by $2.0 million, compared to an increase in operating income of $2.1 million in the same period a year ago.
During the first six months of fiscal 2018, foreign currency movements decreased operating income by $1.9 million, compared to an increase in operating income of
$3.9 million in the same period a year ago.
 
Foreign Currency Hedges
As of February 28, 2018, we maintained foreign currency forward contracts on the Indian Rupee to hedge 75% of our exposure through the third quarter of fiscal 2019
and 50% of our exposure from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019 through the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2020. The gross notional value of foreign currency
forward contracts to purchase Indian Rupees with U.S. dollars was Rs. 4.2 billion.
 
There were no other outstanding foreign currency forward contracts as of February 28, 2018. A gain on derivatives of $0.8 million was recorded into operating income
during the three months ended February 28, 2018, compared to a loss of $1.0 million in same period a year ago. During the first half of fiscal 2018, a gain on
derivatives of $1.6 million was recorded into operating income, compared to a loss on derivatives of $2.4 million in the same period a year ago.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
At February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017, we had no off-balance sheet financing or other arrangements with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships (such as
entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities) established for purposes of facilitating off-balance sheet financing, other debt arrangements,
or other contractually limited purposes.
 
Share Repurchase Program
 
Repurchases will be made from time to time in the open market and privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions. In the second quarter of 2018, we
repurchased 420,000 shares for $81.9 million under the existing share repurchase program compared to 479,822 shares for $81.1 million in the same period a year ago.
During the first six months of fiscal 2018, we repurchased 584,920 shares for $112.9 million compared to 984,822 shares for $160.4 million in the prior year
comparable period. Over the last 12 months, we have returned $293.2 million to stockholders in the form of share repurchases and cash dividends. As of February 28,
2018, $131.2 million is available for future share repurchases under the existing share repurchase program.
 
On March 26, 2018, our Board of Directors approved a $300.0 million expansion of the existing share repurchase program. Subsequent to this expansion, $431.2
million is available for future share repurchases.
 
Contractual Obligations
 
Fluctuations in our operating results, the degree of success of our accounts receivable collection efforts, the timing of tax and other payments as well as necessary
capital expenditures to support growth of our operations will impact our liquidity and cash flows in future periods. The effect of our contractual obligations on our
liquidity and capital resources in future periods should be considered in conjunction with the factors mentioned here. As of August 31, 2017, we had total purchase
commitments of $81.0 million. There were no material changes in our purchase commitments with suppliers during the first six months of fiscal 2018.
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On February 14, 2018, we entered into a new lease to relocate our corporate headquarters to 45 Glover Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut. The new location will
comprise approximately 173,000 square feet of office space. We expect to take possession of the newly leased property on or around January 1, 2019 for fit-out
purposes. We will continue to occupy our existing headquarters space until the new headquarters property is ready for occupancy, currently estimated to be in the
second quarter of fiscal 2020. Including new lease agreements executed during fiscal 2018, our worldwide leased office space increased to approximately 1,760,000
square feet at February 28, 2018, up 617,000 square feet, or 54.0%, from August 31, 2017. This increase was primarily related to additional office space in the
Philippines and the new headquarters lease signed in February 2018. Future minimum commitments for our operating leases in place as of February 28, 2018 totaled
$429.2 million, an increase from $281.7 million as of August 31, 2017 primarily due to the aforementioned additional office space in the Philippines and the new
headquarters lease in Norwalk.
 
As disclosed in the Capital Resources section of the MD&A, we entered into the 2017 Credit Agreement on March 17, 2017 and borrowed $575.0 million.
 
With the exception of the new leases entered into in the ordinary course of business, there were no other significant changes to our contractual obligations during the
first six months of fiscal 2018.
 
Dividends
 
On February 7, 2018, our Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or $2.24 per share per annum. The cash dividend of $21.8 million
was paid on March 20, 2018, to common stockholders of record on February 28, 2018. Future cash dividends will depend on our earnings, capital requirements,
financial condition and other factors considered relevant by us and is subject to final determination by our Board of Directors.
 
Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Estimates
 
We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 3, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2017.
 
We discuss our critical accounting estimates in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2017. There were no significant changes in our accounting policies or critical accounting estimates during the first six
months of fiscal 2018.
 
New Accounting Pronouncements
 
See Note 3, Recent Accounting Pronouncements, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements,
including the expected dates of adoption, which we include herein by reference.
 
Market Trends
 
In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to financial risks involving the volatility of equity markets as well as foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations.
 
Shift from Active to Passive Investment Management
Approximately 84.4% of our ASV is derived from our investment management clients. The prosperity of these clients is tied to equity assets under management. An
equity market decline not only depresses assets under management but also could cause a significant increase in redemption requests to move money out of equities
and into other asset classes. Moreover, a shift from active investment management to passive investment management can result in lower demand for our services. Our
investment banking clients, that provide M&A advisory work, capital markets services and equity research, account for approximately 15.6% of our ASV. A
significant portion of these revenues relate to services deployed by large, bulge bracket banks. Credit continues to impact many of the large banking clients due to the
amount of leverage deployed in past operations. Our clients could also encounter similar problems. A lack of confidence in the global banking system could cause
declines in M&A funded by debt. Additional uncertainty, consolidation and business failures in the global investment banking sector could adversely affect our
financial results and future growth. Regardless, the size of banks in general is shrinking as they deleverage their balance sheets and adjust their expense bases to future
revenue opportunities. Our revenues may decline if banks, including those involved in recent merger activity, significantly reduce headcount in the areas of corporate
M&A, capital markets and equity research to compensate for the issues created by other departments.
 
Foreign Currency Volatility
Due to the global nature of our operations, we conduct business outside the U.S. in several currencies including the British Pound Sterling, Euro, Indian Rupee,
Japanese Yen and Philippine Peso. To the extent that our international activities increase in the future, our exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates will
correspondingly increase. To manage this exposure, we utilize derivative instruments (foreign currency forward contracts). By their nature, all derivative instruments
involve, to varying degrees, elements of market and credit risk. The market risk associated with these instruments resulting from currency exchange movements is
expected to offset the market risk of the underlying transactions, assets and liabilities being hedged. Credit risk is managed through the continuous monitoring of
exposure to the counterparties associated with these instruments. Our primary objective in holding derivatives is to reduce the volatility of earnings associated with
changes in foreign currency.
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Brexit
Volatility is expected to continue in the short term as the UK negotiates its exit from the European Union. The initial UK economic performance has been stronger
than originally expected as the timeframe from the initial vote increases. Additionally, increased European confidence and UK consumer spending has contributed to
the recovery of the economic outlook. The negotiation process is continuing, including the latest milestone of the UK and European Union developing a draft of the
legal text for the transition deal. Any impact from Brexit on us will depend, in part, on the longer-term outcome of tariff, trade, regulatory and other negotiations.
Although it is unknown what the result of those negotiations will be, it is possible that new terms may adversely affect our operations and financial results. While we
evaluate our own risks and uncertainty related to Brexit, we will continue to partner with our clients to help them navigate the fluctuating international markets.
 
MiFID II
In the European Union, the new version of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive, also known as "MiFID II", became effective in January 2018. The main
provision of this initiative was to ensure fairer, safe and more efficient markets and facilitate greater transparency for all participants. Research is one area where both
buy-side and sell-side clients have seen and will continue to see significant change requirements as a result of the MiFID II inducement rules. The goal of the new
legislative framework is to strengthen investor protection and improve the functioning of financial markets, making them more efficient, resilient and transparent. New
reporting requirements and tests will increase the amount of information available, and reduce the use of dark pools and OTC trading. MiFID II requirements have
meant pricing models and business practices have had to adapt significantly. We will continue to evaluate our own risks and uncertainty related to MiFID II and
partner with our clients to help them navigate these new rules. However, recently we have noticed a substantial interest in our research unbundling solutions, which is
part of the opportunity for us, but more importantly, allows our clients to leverage our technology solutions for MiFID II compliance.
 
Forward-Looking Factors
 
Forward-Looking Statements
 
In addition to current and historical information, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations, contains forward-looking statements regarding future events and our future results that are based on management’s current expectations,
estimates, forecast and projections about the industries in which we operate and the beliefs and assumptions of our management. All statements, other than statements
of historical facts, are statements that could be deemed to be forward-looking statements. These include statements about our strategy for growth, product
development, market position, subscriptions and expected expenditures and financial results. Forward-looking statements may be identified by words like “expects,”
“anticipates,” “plans,” “intends,” “projects,” “should,” “indicates,” “continues,” “ASV,” “subscriptions,” “believes,” “estimates,” “may” and similar expressions. In
addition, any statements that refer to projections of our future financial performance, our anticipated growth, trends in our business and other characterizations of
future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned that these forward-looking statements are only predictions and not guarantees of
future performance and involve a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Therefore, actual results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted
in such forward-looking statements. We will publicly update forward-looking statements as a result of new information or future events in accordance with applicable
Securities and Exchange Commission regulations.
 
We intend that all forward-looking statements we make will be subject to safe harbor protection of the federal securities laws as found in Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
 
These statements involve certain known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in
our forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, among others, those listed below. We do not intend, and undertake no obligation, to update any
of our forward-looking statements after the date of this Quarterly Report to reflect actual results or future events or circumstances.
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Business Outlook
 
Starting with our first quarter of fiscal 2018, we provided annual guidance and discontinued quarterly guidance. The following forward-looking statements reflect our
expectations as of March 27, 2018. Given the risk factors, uncertainties and assumptions discussed below, actual results may differ materially. We do not intend to
update its forward-looking statements until our next quarterly results announcement, other than in publicly available statements.
 
Fiscal 2018 Expectations:
 
We are confirming our guidance, provided in the first quarter of fiscal 2018, for the following metrics:
 
 - Organic ASV is expected to increase in the range of $65 million and $85 million over fiscal 2017 implying a growth rate in the range of 4.9% to 6.5%.
 - GAAP Revenues are expected to be in the range of $1.34 billion and $1.36 billion.
 - Adjusted operating margin is expected to be in the range of 31.0% and 32.5%.
 
We are updating our guidance, provided in the first quarter of fiscal 2018, for the following metrics:
 
 - GAAP operating margin is expected to be in the range of 27.5% and 29.0%.

 
- As a result of the TCJA and the lowering of the U.S. federal corporate tax rate, our annual effective tax rate is expected to be in the range of 18.0% and

19.5%. This excludes the one-time tax items related to the TCJA discussed above. Our fiscal year end is August 31, so the change to the federal corporate tax
rate results in a blended federal statutory tax rate for its fiscal year 2018.

 

- GAAP diluted EPS is expected to be in the range of $6.95 and $7.15. Adjusted diluted EPS is expected to be in the range of $8.35 and $8.55. The updated
guidance includes the impact of the TCJA. The midpoint of the adjusted EPS range represents 16% growth over the prior year. Adjusted diluted EPS for the
fiscal 2018 includes an estimated $0.26 impact from the adoption of an accounting standard update which impacts our accounting for employee share-based
payment transactions.
 

Both GAAP operating margin and GAAP diluted EPS guidance do not include the effects of any non-recurring benefits or charges that may arise in the next two
quarters of fiscal 2018.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk and interest rate risk that could impact our financial position and results of
operations.
 
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
 
We conduct business outside the U.S. in several currencies including the British Pound Sterling, Euro, Indian Rupee, Japanese Yen and Philippine Peso. The financial
statements of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using period-end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities and average rates for the period for
revenues and expenses. Over the next 12 months, our non-U.S. dollar denominated revenues expected to be recognized are estimated to be $100.8 million while our
non-U.S. dollar denominated expenses are estimated to be $324.2 million, which translates into a net foreign currency exposure of $223.4 million. To the extent that
our international activities recorded in local currencies increase in the future, our exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates will correspondingly increase. To
manage the exposures related to the effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations, we utilize derivative instruments (foreign currency forward contracts). By their
nature, all derivative instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of market and credit risk. The market risk associated with these instruments resulting from
currency exchange movements is expected to offset the market risk of the underlying transactions, assets and liabilities being hedged. We do not believe there is
significant risk of loss in the event of non-performance by the counterparties associated with these instruments because these transactions are executed with a major
financial institution. Further, our policy is to deal with counterparties having a minimum investment grade or better credit rating. Credit risk is managed through the
continuous monitoring of exposures to such counterparties. Our primary objective in holding derivatives is to reduce the volatility of earnings associated with changes
in foreign currency.
 
As of February 28, 2018, we maintained foreign currency forward contracts on the Indian Rupee to hedge 75% of our exposure through the third quarter of fiscal 2019
and 50% of our exposure from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019 through the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2020. The gross notional value of foreign currency
forward contracts to purchase Indian Rupees with U.S. dollars was Rs. 4.2 billion.
 
A gain on derivatives of $0.8 million was recorded into operating income during the second quarter of fiscal 2018, compared to a loss on derivatives of $1.0 million in
the year ago second quarter. During the first half of fiscal 2018, a gain on derivatives of $1.6 million was recorded into operating income, compared to a loss on
derivatives of $2.4 million a year ago. The gains and losses on foreign currency forward contracts mitigate the variability in operating expenses associated with
currency movements. These transactions are designated and accounted for as cash flow hedges in accordance with applicable accounting guidance. The changes in fair
value for these foreign currency forward contracts are initially reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss and subsequently reclassified into
operating expenses when the hedged exposure affects earnings. The related cash flow impacts of all of our derivative activities are reflected as cash flows from
operating activities.
 
A sensitivity analysis was performed based on the estimated fair value of all foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at February 28, 2018. If the U.S. dollar
had been 10% weaker, the fair value of outstanding foreign currency forward contracts would have increased by $5.8 million, which would have had an immaterial
impact on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. Such a change in fair value of our financial instruments would be substantially offset by changes in our expense base. Had
we not had any hedges in place as of February 28, 2018, a hypothetical 10% weaker U.S. dollar against all foreign currencies from the quoted foreign currency
exchange rates at February 28, 2018, would result in a decrease in operating income by $22.4 million over the next 12 months. A hypothetical 10% weaker U.S. dollar
against all foreign currencies at February 28, 2018 would increase the fair value of total assets by $70.7 million and equity by $64.4 million.
 
Volatility in the British Pound Sterling exchange rate is expected to continue in the short term as the UK negotiates its exit from the European Union. In the longer
term, any impact from Brexit on will depend, in part, on the outcome of tariff, trade, regulatory and other negotiations.
 
Interest Rate Risk
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - The fair market value of our cash and investments at February 28, 2018 was $265.2 million. Our cash and cash equivalents consist of
demand deposits and money market funds with original maturities of three months or less and are reported at fair value. Our investments consist of both mutual funds
and certificates of deposit as both are part of the Company’s investment strategy. These mutual funds and certificates of deposit are included as Investments (short-
term) on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as the certificates of deposit have original maturities greater than three months, but less than one year and the mutual funds
can be liquidated at that Company’s discretion. The mutual funds and certificates of deposit are held for investment and are not considered debt securities. It is
anticipated that the fair market value of our cash and investments will continue to be immaterially affected by fluctuations in interest rates. Preservation of principal is
the primary goal of our cash and investment policy. Pursuant to our established investment guidelines, we try to achieve high levels of credit quality, liquidity and
diversification. Our investment guidelines do not permit us to invest in puts, calls, strips, short sales, straddles, options, commodities, precious metals, futures or
investments on margin. Because we have a restrictive investment policy, our financial exposure to fluctuations in interest rates is expected to remain low. We do not
believe that the value or liquidity of our cash and investments have been significantly impacted by current market events.
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Debt - As of February 28, 2018, the fair value of our long-term debt was $575 million, which approximated its carrying amount and was determined based on quoted
market prices for debt with a similar maturity. It is anticipated that the fair market value of our debt will continue to be immaterially affected by fluctuations in interest
rates and we do not believe that the value of our debt has been significantly impacted by current market events. The debt bears interest on the outstanding principal
amount at a rate equal to the daily LIBOR rate plus 1.00%. During the three months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, we paid approximately $3.6 million and $1.3
million in interest on our outstanding debt amounts, respectively. During the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017, we paid approximately $7.0 million and
$2.4 million in interest on our outstanding debt amounts, respectively. Assuming all terms of our outstanding long-term debt remained the same, a hypothetical 25
basis point change (up or down) in the one-month LIBOR rate would result in a $1.4 million change in our annual interest expense.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the Company
has evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as of
the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) are
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) during the Company’s second quarter of fiscal 2018 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
The information set forth under Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies, contained in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q is incorporated by reference in answer to this Item.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
 
There were no material changes during the first six months of fiscal 2018 to the risk factors identified in the Company’s fiscal 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K,
with the exception of the cybersecurity risk disclosed below.
 
In providing FactSet software-enabled services to customers, the Company relies on information technology infrastructure that is primarily managed internally, along
with some reliance placed on third-party service providers. These third-parties are also subject to the risks and there is no guarantee that they will maintain systems
and procedures sufficient to protect against system failures and security breaches, including cyber-attacks. FactSet also makes acquisitions periodically and while
significant effort is placed on addressing any information technology security issues with respect to the acquired companies, the Company may still inherit such risks
when these acquisitions are integrated within FactSet.
 
Cyber threats are constantly evolving. FactSet could suffer significant damage to its brand and reputation if a cyber-attack or other security incident were to allow
unauthorized access to or modification of customers’ or suppliers’ data, other external data, internal data or information technology systems, if the services provided to
customers were disrupted, or if products or services are perceived as having security vulnerabilities. The costs FactSet would incur to address and fix these security
incidents would increase the Company’s expenses. These types of security incidents could also lead to lawsuits, regulatory investigations and claims and increased
legal liability.
 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 
Items 2(a) and (b) are not applicable as there have been no unregistered sales of equity securities.
 
(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities (in thousands, except per share data)
 

The following table provides a month-to-month summary of the share repurchase activity under the current stock repurchase program during the three months
ended February 28, 2018:
 

 

Period  

Total number
of shares
purchased   

Average
price paid per

share   

Total number of
shares purchased as

part of publicly
announced plans or

programs   

Maximum number of shares
(or approximate dollar value)

that may yet be
purchased under the plans or

programs (in US$)  
                 
December 2017   110,000  $ 192.78   110,000  $ 191,970 
January 2018   175,000  $ 196.06   175,000  $ 157,660 
February 2018 *   135,000  $ 195.72   135,000  $ 131,238 

Total   420,000       420,000     
 

 
*On March 26, 2018, FactSet’s Board of Directors approved a $300.0 million expansion to the existing share repurchase program. Including the approved $300.0
million expansion to the program, $431.2 million remains authorized for future share repurchases. Repurchases will be made from time to time in the open market and
privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions. No minimum number of shares to be repurchased has been fixed. There is no timeframe to complete the
repurchase program and it is expected that share repurchases will be paid using existing and future cash generated by operations.
 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 

None.
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 

Not applicable.
 

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
 
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
 
(a) EXHIBITS:
 
EXBHIT NUMBER DESCRIPTION
   
10.1  Lease dated February 14, 2018, between FactSet Research Systems Inc. and 45 Glover Partners, LLC (1)

31.1  Section 302 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
31.2  Section 302 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1  Section 906 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
32.2  Section 906 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
 
(1) Portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and separately filed with the Commission with a request for confidential treatment.
 
SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.
 
 FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.
 (Registrant)
  
Date: April 9, 2018 /s/ MAURIZIO NICOLELLI
 Maurizio Nicolelli
 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
  
  
 /s/ MATTHEW J. MCNULTY
 Matthew J. McNulty
 Senior Vice President, Controller
 (Principal Accounting Officer)
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 EXHIBIT INDEX
   
EXBHIT
NUMBER  DESCRIPTION
   
10.1  Lease dated February 14, 2018, between FactSet Research Systems Inc. and 45 Glover Partners, LLC (1)

31.1  Section 302 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
31.2  Section 302 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1  Section 906 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
32.2  Section 906 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
 
(1) Portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and separately filed with the Commission with a request for confidential treatment.
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Exhibit 10.1
 

Portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with a request for confidential treatment. Such portions
have been marked as follows: (Redacted).
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LEASE dated the 14th day of February, 2018, by and between 45 GLOVER PARTNERS, LLC (“Landlord”), a Connecticut limited liability company, with
an office at 1 Elmcroft Road, Suite 500, Stamford, Connecticut 06902 and FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC. (“Tenant”), a Delaware corporation, with an
office at 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851.
 

W I T N E S S E T H:
 

Landlord and Tenant hereby covenant and agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE 1

Definitions; Consents
 

Section 1.1        Definitions. For the purposes of this Lease, unless the context otherwise requires:
 

(a)       “20 Glover” shall mean that certain real property more particularly described on Exhibit P-1 attached hereto and made a part hereof and
commonly known as 20 Glover Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut.
 

(b)       “20 Glover Building” shall mean the building located at 20 Glover.
 

(c)       “801 Main” shall mean that certain real property more particularly described on Exhibit P-2 attached hereto and made a part hereof and
commonly known as 801 Main Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut.
 

(d)       “801 Main Building” shall mean the building located at 801 Main.
 

(e)       “901 Main” shall mean that certain real property more particularly described on Exhibit P-3 attached hereto and made a part hereof and
commonly known as 901 Main Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut.
 

(f)       “901 Main Building” shall mean the building located at 901 Main.
 

(g)       “Additional Rent” shall mean all amounts, other than Fixed Rent, which Tenant assumes or agrees to pay under this Lease to Landlord or to
others.
 

(h)       “Affiliate” shall mean a Person controlled by, controlling, or under common control with, the Person in question.
 

(i)        “Alterations” shall mean alterations, installments, improvements, additions or other changes made by Tenant (other than decorations) in or
about the Premises. For clarity, Alterations shall not include the Tenant Improvements or the Planned Amenities or the Tenant Upgraded Amenities.
 

(j)       “Applicable Laws” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 8.1.
 

1



 
 

(k)       “Appraiser” shall mean an individual having not less than ten (10) years current experience as a leasing broker specializing in commercial
properties of a nature and type similar to that of the Premises in Fairfield County, CT.
 

(l)       “Arbitrator” means Landlord’s architect and Tenant’s architect, acting by mutual agreement, provided that such architects are able to agree
as to the matter in question within three (3) Business Days following written notice from Landlord or Tenant of its election to submit the matter to resolution by the
Arbitrator, or, if Landlord’s architect and Tenant’s architect are unable to agree within such time period, “Arbitrator” shall mean the AAA. The fees of Landlord’s
architect shall be paid by Landlord, the fees of Tenant’s architect shall be paid by Tenant, and if the Arbitrator shall be a third party, then the fees of the Arbitrator shall
be divided evenly between Landlord and Tenant.
 

(m)       “Base Building” shall mean the Building, excluding any Tenant Improvements and Alterations.
 

(n)       “Base Building Systems” shall mean the roof and balcony drainage and the mechanical, gas, electrical, sanitary, heating, air-conditioning,
ventilating, elevator, plumbing, security, fire and life-safety (including, without limitation, sprinkler) systems and other service systems of the Building.
 

(o)       “Building” shall mean the office building containing approximately 264,531 total rentable square feet, which Landlord represents and
warrants to Tenant was measured in accordance with the REBNY method of building measurement, all of which is office space, located on the Land at the address
commonly known as 45 Glover Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut and located in the Park, and all appurtenances thereto of every kind and description, now located or
hereafter erected, constructed, or placed upon the Land, and alterations and additions thereto, and substitutions therefor.
 

(p)       “Business Day” shall mean any day except Saturdays, Sundays and the Building Holidays.
 

(q)       “Building Holidays” shall mean New Year’s Day, President’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and
Christmas Day.
 

(r)       “Building Hours” shall mean that period of time on Business Days from 8:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M. (and on Saturdays, except for the Building
Holidays, from 9:00 A.M. to 1:00 P.M.).
 

(s)       “Commencement Date” shall be January 1, 2020.
 

(t)        “Common Areas” shall mean all of the nonrentable areas in the interior and exterior of the Building and the balance of the Property,
including without limitation restrooms on multitenant floors, fire stairs, the entrance lobby, landscaping and exterior facilities, the parking areas (including, without
limitation, the Garage), and truck docks. Common Areas shall not include mechanical rooms and shall also not include restrooms, lobbies, corridors, plazas, aisles,
telephone and electric closets located on floors leased entirely by a single Building tenant, all of which shall be for the exclusive use of such single-floor Building
tenant and shall not be used in common with Tenant or other tenants or occupants of the Building.
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(u)       “Comparable Buildings” shall mean comparable Class A office buildings in lower Fairfield County, Connecticut.
 

(v)       “Competitors” shall mean Bloomberg L.P., Thompson Reuters Inc., Standard & Poor’s Capital IQ, MSCI Inc. and Morningstar Inc.
 

(w)       “Conference Center” shall have the meaning given to such term set forth on Exhibit I.
 

(x)       “Control” shall mean ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding voting stock of a corporation or other majority equity
and/or control interest of a different form of business entity and/or the possession of power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policy of such
corporation or other entity, whether through the ownership of a controlling interest, by statute or according to the provisions of a contract.
 

(y)       “CPI” shall mean the Consumer Price Index published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor for “All Urban
Consumers” in the table entitled, “Consumer Price Index: US City Average,” or any successor thereto, All Items (1982-84 = 100), seasonally adjusted for the month in
question. If the CPI is converted to a different standard reference base or otherwise revised, then the determination of adjustments provided for herein shall be made
with the use of such conversion factor, formula or table for converting the CPI as may be published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics or, if said Bureau does not
publish such conversion factor, formula or table, then with the use of such conversion factor, formula or table as may be published by Prentice-Hall, Inc. or any other
nationally recognized publisher of similar statistical information. If the Consumer Price Index ceases to be published, and there is no successor thereto, then Landlord
and Tenant shall use diligent efforts, in good faith, to agree upon a substitute index for the CPI.
 

(z)       “Default Rate” shall mean the prime or base rate published in the Wall Street Journal (or its successor, and if more than one (1) prime or base
rate shall be published on a day, then the highest such rate) on the applicable default date, plus four (4%) percent per annum.
 

(aa)      “Environmental Laws” shall mean the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§6901, et seq. (RCRA),
as amended, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization
Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. (CERCLA), as amended, the Toxic Substance Control Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq., the Federal Insecticide,
Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. §§136 et seq., the Clean Air Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, any and all state analogs of the
same, the Connecticut Transfer Act, C.G.S. §22a-134 et seq., and all applicable federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, as any of
the foregoing may have been or may be from time to time amended, supplemented or supplanted, and any other federal, state or local laws, ordinances, rules and
regulations, now or hereafter existing relating to regulations or control of Hazardous Materials or the protection or restoration of the environment and health and
safety.
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(bb)      “Event of Default” shall mean any of the events set forth in Article 17.
 

(cc)      “Expansion Space A” shall mean 25,000 rentable square feet of contiguous space in either (i) the Building, (ii) the 801 Main Building, (iii)
the 901 Main Building, or (iv) on the fifth (5th) floor south section of the 20 Glover Building.
 

(dd)      “Expansion Space B” shall mean (i) 40,718 rentable square feet located on the fourth (4th) of the Building, (ii) 40,795 rentable square feet
located on the third (3rd) floor of the Building or (iii) contiguous square feet comparable to the amount in (i) or (ii) herein on one (1) floor at either the 801 Main
Building or the 901 Main Building.
 

(ee)      “First Offer Space” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 23.2.
 

(ff)      “First Offer Notice” shall have the meaning given to such term in Article 23.
 

(gg)     “Fixed Rent” shall mean the rental amounts specified in subsection 4.1(a) hereto.
 

(hh)     “Garage” shall mean the parking area located on the Land directly below the Building.
 

(ii)       “Hazardous Materials” shall mean substances defined as “hazardous substances”, “hazardous materials”, “hazardous wastes” or “toxic
substances” in any applicable federal, state or local statute, rule, regulation or binding determination, including but not limited to Environmental Laws; and asbestos,
PCBs, radioactive substances, methane, volatile hydrocarbons, petroleum or petroleum-derived substances or wastes, radon, industrial solvents or any other material as
may be specified in Applicable Laws.
 

(jj)       “Improvements” shall mean the Building and all of the structures, improvements, and all building fixtures therein (including, without
limitation, the Garage and driveways) now or hereafter located on the Land.
 

(kk)     “Land” shall mean the land described on Exhibit B hereto.
 

(ll)       “Landlord’s Work” shall mean the construction described on Exhibit I.
 

(mm)   “Landlord’s Representatives” shall mean Landlord’s officers, directors, shareholders, partners, members, employees, agents,
representatives and contractors and Affiliates of Landlord and their officers, directors, shareholders, partners, members, employees, agents, representatives and
contractors.
 

(nn)     “Lease Expiration Date” shall mean December 31, 2035.
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(oo)     “Lease Year” shall mean a 12 month period, except that the first Lease Year shall commence on the Commencement Date and end on the last
day of the 12th month after the Rent Commencement Date, and subsequent Lease Years shall end on the annual anniversary thereof.
 

(pp)     “Minimum Occupancy Requirement” shall mean Tenant, and/or an Affiliate(s) and/or a Person that is a Successor(s) to Tenant being in
occupancy of at least thirty-three percent (33%) of the rentable square feet in the Premises.
 

(qq)      “Mortgage” shall mean any mortgage on the Premises or any part thereof given by Landlord to a Mortgagee to secure a loan encumbered by
Landlord’s interest in the Premises or a part thereof.
 

(rr)       “Mortgagee” shall mean any holder of a Mortgage with respect to the Premises or any part thereof.
 

(ss)       “Nondisturbance Agreement” shall have the meaning given in Section 13.1.
 

(tt)       “Nonstandard Improvements” shall mean internal stairs, improvements to fire stairs, uninterrupted power supply systems (UPS), any
structural changes and raised flooring.
 

(uu)      “Operating Expenses” is defined in Section 6.3.
 

(vv)      “Other Taxes” shall mean all taxes, assessments, excises, levies, fees and charges (exclusive of any penalties or interest thereon) other than
Property Taxes, including all payments related to the cost of providing facilities or services, whether or not now customary or within the contemplation of Landlord
and Tenant, that are levied, assessed, charged, confirmed or imposed by any public or government authority upon, or measured by, or reasonably attributable to (i) the
Premises; (ii) the cost or value of Tenant’s Property (to the extent Tenant does not pay taxes, fees and charges thereon directly) or the cost or value of any leasehold
improvements made in or to the Premises by or for Tenant (to the extent Tenant does not pay taxes, fees and charges thereon directly), regardless of whether title to
such improvements is vested in Tenant or Landlord; (iii) any Rent payable under this Lease, including any gross income tax or excise tax levied by any public or
government authority with respect to the receipt of any such Rent; (iv) the possession, leasing, operation, management, maintenance, alteration, repair, use or
occupancy by Tenant of the Premises; or (v) this transaction or any document to which Tenant is a party creating or transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises.
Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything to the contrary in this Lease, Other Taxes shall not include (y) federal, state and local income, documentary, transfer,
estate, death, conveyance and inheritance taxes; and (z) succession, franchise, partnership, corporate and capital stock taxes (such as doing business taxes), unless
specifically payable by Tenant pursuant to (i) – (v) above or levied or assessed against Landlord in whole or in part in lieu of or as a substitute for any Other Taxes.
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(ww)     “Park” shall mean the office park comprising the buildings currently known as 45 Glover Avenue, 801 Main Avenue and 901 Main Avenue,
Norwalk, CT, the site plan of which is set forth on Exhibit P-4 attached hereto and made a part hereof.
 

(xx)       “Permitted Encumbrances” shall mean those items more particularly described on Exhibit C attached hereto and made a part hereof.
 

(yy)       “Person” shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, joint venture,
association, joint stock company, trust, trustee(s) of a trust, unincorporated organization, any other form of business organization, or government or governmental
authority, agency or political subdivision thereof.
 

(zz)       “Possession Date” shall mean January 1, 2019.
 

(aaa)      “Premises” shall mean the space in the Building described in Section 2.1 herein. No easement for light, air or view is included with or
appurtenant to the Premises and the foregoing disclaimer has been negotiated by Landlord and Tenant, and is intended as a complete negation of any representation or
warranty by Landlord, express or implied; provided, however, notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall not erect or permit to be erected within the boundaries of
the Land within fifty (50) feet of the Building any structure that materially blocks, impairs, obscures or otherwise covers the windows of the Building, specifically
excluding flag poles, light poles, trees and landscaping.
 

(bbb)     “Primary Term” shall mean the period beginning on the Commencement Date and ending on the Lease Expiration Date.
 

(ccc)      “Property” shall mean the Land, Building and the Garage.
 

(ddd)      “Property Taxes” shall mean all real estate taxes, assessments, excises, levies, fees and charges (and any real estate tax, assessment, excise,
levy, fee or charge levied wholly or partly in lieu thereof or as a substitute therefor or as an addition thereto) (exclusive of any penalties or interest thereon) of every
kind and description, general or special, ordinary or extraordinary, foreseen or unforeseen, secured or unsecured, whether or not now customary or within the
contemplation of Landlord and Tenant, that are levied, assessed, charged, confirmed or imposed by any public or government authority on or against, or otherwise
with respect to, the Property or any part thereof. Property Taxes shall not include (y) federal, state and local income, documentary, transfer, estate, death, conveyance
and inheritance taxes; and (z) succession, franchise, partnership, corporate and capital stock taxes (such as doing business taxes), unless specifically included in the
definition of Property Taxes above or levied or assessed against Landlord in whole or in part in lieu of or as a substitute for any Property Taxes.
 

(eee)      “REA” shall mean that certain Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated February 9, 2001 by and among Hewitt
Properties V LLC, Hewitt Properties VI LLC and Hewitt Properties VII LLC and recorded February 13, 2001 in Volume 4041 at Page 2 of the Norwalk Land Records
as amended by that certain First Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated as of April 22, 2002 by and among 25 Glover
Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC and recorded on April 23, 2002 in Volume 4426 at Page 90 and Second Amendment to
Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated as of December 15, 2003 by and among 25 Glover Partners LLC, 35 Glover Partners LLC, 45
Glover Partners LLC and Hewitt Associates LLC and recorded January 14, 2004 in Book 5267 at Page 278 of the Norwalk Land Records, as may be amended.
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(fff)      “Renewal Notice” shall have the meaning given to such term in subsection 3.2(a).
 

(ggg)    “Renewal Term” shall have the meaning given to such term in subsection 3.2(a).
 

(hhh)     “Rent” shall mean Fixed Rent and Additional Rent in the aggregate.
 

(iii)       “Rent Commencement Date” shall be July 1, 2020, subject to extension pursuant to Section 22.1(d) hereof.
 

(jjj)       “Rooftop Terrace” shall mean that certain area of the rooftop located on the eight (8th) floor of the Building as depicted as the cross-
hatched area on Exhibit Q attached hereto.
 

(kkk)    “Site Assessment” shall have the meaning given to that term in Section 24.2.
 

(lll)       “Site Reviewers” shall have the meaning given to that term in Section 24.2.
 

(mmm) “Structural Elements” shall mean the roof, exterior structural walls, structural columns, structural support beams and the foundation of the
Building and the Garage.
 

(nnn)     “Successor” shall mean an entity succeeding to substantially all of the business assets of Tenant, whether by merger, consolidation or
otherwise, which intends to carry on the business of Tenant and which has a net worth (determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
consistently applied) at least equal to $(Redacted); or (ii) an entity that purchases all or substantially all of Tenant’s assets.
 

(ooo)     “Taxes” shall mean Property Taxes and Other Taxes.
 

(ppp)     “Tenant Improvements” shall mean the initial improvements to be constructed by Tenant for Tenant’s initial occupancy of the Premises in
accordance with this Lease.
 

(qqq)     “Tenant’s Plans” shall have the meaning given to that term in Section 22.2.
 

(rrr)       “Tenant’s Property” shall mean Tenant’s moveable trade fixtures and moveable partitions, telephone and other equipment, furniture,
furnishings, work stations, telephone and computer systems, decorations and other items of personal property.
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(sss)     “Tenant’s Proportionate Share” shall mean the rentable square footage of the Premises divided by the rentable square footage of the
Building. As of the date hereof, Tenant’s Proportionate Share is 65.46%.
 

(ttt)      “Tenant’s Representatives” shall mean Tenant’s subtenants, officers, directors, shareholders, partners, members, employees, agents,
representatives and contractors, subtenants, invitees, licensees and Affiliates of Tenant and their officers, directors, shareholders, partners, members, employees,
agents, representatives and contractors.
 

(uuu)    “Term” shall mean the Primary Term and the Renewal Terms, if exercised.
 

(vvv)    “Unavoidable Delay” shall mean any and all delays beyond the reasonable control of a party, including, without limitation, delays caused by
the other party hereto, governmental restrictions, governmental regulations, governmental controls, order of civil, military or naval authority, governmental
preemption, strikes, labor disputes, lock-outs, shortage of labor materials, inability to obtain materials or reasonable substitutes therefor, Acts of God, fire, earthquake,
floods, explosions, actions of the elements, extreme weather conditions, enemy action, civil commotion, riot or insurrection, fire or other unavoidable casualty or any
other cause beyond such party’s reasonable control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) lack of funds shall not be deemed an Unavoidable Delay, and (ii) the provisions
of this Section shall not excuse Tenant from its obligation to pay Rent as and when due.
 

Section 1.2        Consents. Whenever in this Lease a party’s approval or consent is required, same shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed,
unless otherwise specified herein. If given, such approval or consent shall be given in writing, in the manner required for notices under Article 33 herein.
 

ARTICLE 2

Demise; Premises
 

Section 2.1        Demise; Premises. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby hires from Landlord during the Term exclusive use of (i) the entire
rentable area of the second (2nd) floor of the Building, which consists of 37,573 rentable square feet and as shown on the floor plan attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 (the
“Second Floor Premises”), (ii) the entire rentable area of the fifth (5th) floor of the Building, which consists of 40,723 rentable square feet and as shown on the floor
plan attached hereto as Exhibit A-2 (the “Fifth Floor Premises”), (iii) the entire rentable area of the sixth (6th) floor of the Building, which consists of 40,723 rentable
square feet and as shown on the floor plan attached hereto as Exhibit A-3 (the “Sixth Floor Premises”), (iv) the entire rentable area of the seventh (7th) floor of the
Building, which consists of 41,064 rentable square feet and as shown on the floor plan attached hereto as Exhibit A-4 (the “Seventh Floor Premises”), and (v) the
entire rentable area of the eighth (8th) floor of the Building (subject to Landlord’s rights of access and entry as expressly set forth herein), which consists of 13,081
rentable square feet and as shown on the floor plan attached hereto as Exhibit A-5 (the “Eighth Floor Premises”; and the Eighth Floor Premises, together with the
Second Floor Premises, Fifth Floor Premises, Sixth Floor Premises, Seventh Floor Premises, the “Premises”) for the rents, covenants and conditions (including
limitations, restrictions and reservations) hereinafter provided. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right to use the Common Areas. The parties have agreed that, for
all purposes hereunder, the Premises shall be deemed to contain 173,164 rentable square feet. The measurements of the rentable square feet of the Premises have been
made in accordance with the REBNY method of building measurement with a full floor loss factor of twenty percent (20%).
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Section 2.2      Modification of Property. Landlord hereby reserves the right, without the consent of, but with notice to, Tenant, to (a) modify or alter the Land
that is subject to this Lease, (b) convey any portion of the Land, (c) to submit the Property or any portion thereof to the provisions of the Common Interest Ownership
Act, Conn. Gen. Stats. §47-200 et seq. and to execute a new reciprocal easement agreement or to amend the REA with respect to the Property or any portion thereof,
or (d) to perform any combination thereof; provided, that any such modification, alteration, conveyance, submission, execution or amendment shall not adversely
affect Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Property for the use permitted hereunder, as provided for in this Lease, increase Tenant’s financial or other obligations or
Landlord’s rights, decrease Tenant’s rights or Landlord’s obligations, under this Lease by more than a de minimis extent or increase the value of the assessed value of
the tax lot comprising the Property other than to a de minimis extent, and at all times the Property shall be a first-class property in comparison to other Comparable
Buildings. This Section 2.2 shall be self-operative and no further instrument of modification of this Lease shall be required to effectuate such a modification,
alteration, conveyance, execution or amendment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant, at Landlord’s expense, shall execute and deliver promptly any agreement that
Landlord may reasonably request in confirmation of any such modification, alteration, conveyance or execution.
 

Section 2.3        Rooftop Terrace.
 

(a)       Landlord hereby expressly acknowledges and agrees that Tenant shall have the exclusive right throughout the Term of this Lease to use the
Rooftop Terrace and provide upgrades and improvements to the Rooftop Terrace and to the Building façade overlooking the Rooftop Terrace which may include
railings, additional pavers, additional patio tiles, planters, tables, chairs, a green roof and modifications to the Building façade within the Rooftop Terrace, at any time
during the term of this Lease at no Additional Rent.  The design, placement and quantity of all such improvements shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written approval
pursuant to Article 22 or Article 9, as the case may be.  This right to use the Rooftop Terrace shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Lease including, but
not limited to, the indemnity provisions in Article 20 hereof, and shall be co-terminus with the Lease.
 

(b)      If Tenant uses the Rooftop Terrace, Tenant shall, at its cost, comply with all relevant Applicable Laws with respect to the Rooftop Terrace,
subject to Section 2.3(c) below, and obtain all necessary permits or licenses for the same.  Tenant shall maintain the Rooftop Terrace in a clean, neat and orderly
fashion.  In the event Tenant fails to keep the Rooftop Terrace in a neat, clean and orderly condition, Landlord may, after fifteen (15) Business Days’ notice to Tenant
and Tenant’s failure to cure, suspend Tenant’s right to use the Rooftop Terrace until Tenant is in compliance with the requirements hereof.  Landlord shall have no
liability whatsoever for the loss, damage, destruction or theft of Tenant’s furniture or equipment used in the Rooftop Terrace, except to the extent caused by the
negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or its employees, agents or contractors and not covered by the insurance required to be maintained by Tenant pursuant to
this Lease.  Tenant shall use commercially reasonable efforts to remove all furniture and movable improvements prior to any significant storm event.
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(c)       Landlord shall be responsible, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense (but subject to recoupment to the extent permitted pursuant to Article 6) to
maintain, repair and replace the roof liner and ballast; provided, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any such cost occasioned by the negligence or willful misconduct
of Tenant or any Tenant’s Representatives that damages the Building, including, without limitation, the roof liner or ballast. Tenant shall be responsible, at Tenant’s
sole cost and expense, to maintain, repair and replace the existing patio tiles and any additional improvements installed on the Rooftop Terrace by Tenant; provided,
Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for any such cost occasioned by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any Landlord’s Representatives. Tenant shall
take all actions necessary to prevent any such installations from adversely affecting applicable warranties with respect to the roof.
 

(d)       (i) Landlord and its contractors accompanied by a Landlord Representative shall, upon reasonable prior notice (except in the event of an
emergency, in which case no notice shall be required) to Tenant, have the right of entry to the Rooftop Terrace to gain access to the Base Building and the Base
Building Systems, and (ii) Landlord and any other tenant’s contractor accompanied by a Landlord Representative shall, upon reasonable prior notice (except in the
event of an emergency, in which case no notice shall be provided) to Tenant, have the right of entry to the Rooftop Terrace to access the Building equipment and
mechanical rooms to the extent it is not reasonable or prudent to access the other tenant’s equipment from the eighth floor equipment room from within the Building;
provided, however in connection with all such access, Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts not to interfere with Tenant’s business operations and quiet
use and enjoyment of the Eighth Floor Premises.
 

ARTICLE 3

Term
 

Section 3.1        Primary Term. The Primary Term shall be for a period beginning on the Commencement Date and ending on the Lease Expiration Date, or
such earlier or later date as hereinafter provided. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that the Lease is a binding agreement as of the date hereof
notwithstanding that the Commencement Date does not occur until January 1, 2020.
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Section 3.2        Renewal Terms.
 

(a)       Tenant shall have the right, at its option, to renew the Term of this Lease with respect to all of the Premises for two (2) terms of five (5) years
each (each a “Renewal Term”). The first Renewal Term, if exercised by Tenant, shall commence on the day after the expiration of the Primary Term and shall expire
on the day immediately preceding the fifth (5th) anniversary of such commencement date and the second Renewal Term, if exercised by Tenant, shall commence on
the day after the expiration of the first Renewal Term and shall expire on the day immediately preceding the fifth (5th) anniversary of such commencement date. Each
option to renew the Term of this Lease as described above shall be exercisable by Tenant giving notice to Landlord (each a “Renewal Notice”) not less than eighteen
(18) months prior to the Lease Expiration Date or the last day of the first Renewal Term, as the case may be. Time shall be of the essence with respect to the date of
exercising each option, any principle of law to the contrary notwithstanding. Except for the Fixed Rent and the obligations of Landlord to construct the Landlord’s
Work and pay to Tenant the Tenant Improvement Allowance, the terms and conditions of this Lease shall apply to each Renewal Term with the same force and effect
as if such Renewal Term had originally been included in the Primary Term of this Lease. All Rent shall commence on the first day of each Renewal Term. The right of
Tenant to a Renewal Term shall be conditioned upon the following: (i) no Event of Default shall have occurred and remain uncured (A) as of the date on which the
Renewal Notice for the applicable Renewal Term is delivered, and (B) on the Lease Expiration Date or the last day of the first Renewal Term, as the case may be; (ii)
this Lease being in full force and effect as of the Lease Expiration Date or the last day of the first Renewal Term, as the case may be; (iii) the named Tenant shall not
have assigned this Lease at any time during the Primary Term or the first Renewal Term, as the case may be, except to an Affiliate or Successor; and (iv) the Renewal
Notice being delivered timely in accordance with this section.
 

(b)       Upon Tenant’s exercise of any of its rights to renew this Lease given in accordance with the provisions of this Section, Landlord and Tenant
shall promptly execute and acknowledge an instrument confirming any such renewal together with an amendment to any notice of lease previously recorded in
recordable form confirming the same. Tenant shall have no right to extend or renew this Lease except as provided in this Section.
 

(c)       During each Renewal Term, the Fixed Rent shall be ninety-five percent (95%) of the fair rental value of the Premises as of the date six (6)
months prior to the commencement of such Renewal Term. For purposes of this Lease, “fair rental value” shall be deemed to mean comparable quality, first-class
commercial office space (including any available in the Park) on comparable renewal terms and conditions taking into account all relevant factors, whether favorable
to Landlord or Tenant, including, without limitation, then market tenant improvement allowances, leasing commissions, rent abatements and annual rent escalations. In
the event that the parties have not agreed upon the fair rental value of the Premises prior to the date six (6) months before the commencement of a Renewal Term, such
value shall be determined by arbitration in Norwalk, CT before a single Appraiser as follows:
 

(i)     Landlord and Tenant shall have ten (10) days following the date that is six (6) months before the commencement of the applicable
Renewal Term within which to select one (1) mutually agreeable Appraiser. If Landlord and Tenant fail to agree on one (1) Appraiser within such ten (10) day period,
either party may promptly request the American Arbitration Association to appoint an Appraiser for the matter, and said Association’s selection shall be binding upon
Landlord and Tenant.
 

(ii)     Within fifteen (15) days following appointment of the Appraiser, Landlord and Tenant shall each submit to the Appraiser, in writing, a
good faith determination of the fair rental value of the Premises. If either party fails to submit such determination within such time period, the fair rental value
submitted by the other party will be determinative.
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(iii)     The Appraiser selected must choose either Landlord’s or Tenant’s good faith determination of the fair rental value of the Premises and
may not determine that any other amount is the fair rental value, and the Appraiser’s choice shall be final and binding upon the parties. In determining the fair rental
value of the Premises and which of Landlord’s or Tenant’s determinations to select, the Appraiser shall consider all relevant factors, including but not limited to, then
market tenant improvement allowances, leasing commissions, rent abatements and annual rent escalations. From the date of appointment, the Appraiser shall have
thirty (30) days within which to render a decision as to the fair rental value of the Premises.
 

Judgment upon the award rendered by the Appraiser shall be binding upon the parties and may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction. The
Appraiser shall determine the liability of the parties for the costs of the arbitration and may allocate counsel fees, witness fees and other costs between the parties.
 

ARTICLE 4

Rent
 

Section 4.1        Fixed and Additional Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord in lawful money of the United States of America, by check at the office of Landlord
or by wire or electronic funds transfer to the account designated by Landlord, or at such other place as Landlord may designate in writing to Tenant, the following:
 

(a)       Without notice or demand, annual fixed rent (“Fixed Rent”) payable in equal monthly installments, in advance on the first day of each and
every calendar month during the Term, commencing on the Rent Commencement Date, as follows:
 

Period (which dates are
subject to change based on

the Rent Commencement Date)
Fixed Rent Per
Rentable Sq. Ft.

Fixed
Rent/Year

 
Monthly Installments

1/1/20 – 6/30/20 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/20 – 6/30/21 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/21 – 6/30/22 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/22 – 6/30/23 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/23 – 6/30/24 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/24 – 6/30/25 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/25 – 6/30/26 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/26 – 6/30/27 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/27 – 6/30/28 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/28 – 6/30/29 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/29 – 6/30/30 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/30 – 6/30/31 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/31 – 6/30/32 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/32 – 6/30/33 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/33 – 6/30/34 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/34 – 6/30/35 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
 

7/1/35 – 12/31/35 (Redacted) (Redacted) (Redacted)
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Notwithstanding the above or anything to the contrary in this Lease but subject to adjustment (as to the dates but not the length of the time periods) based on the Rent
Commencement Date, Fixed Rent for the first (Redacted) months of the Primary Term will be (Redacted) Dollars ($(Redacted)) and Fixed Rent for the (Redacted) last
months of the Primary Term shall be (Redacted) Dollars ($(Redacted)). Occupancy of the Premises by Tenant for its business purposes prior to the Lease
Commencement Date shall not accelerate the Rent Commencement Date with respect to Fixed Rent except as may be provided under a separate early access
agreement, nor shall it impact the Term. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Tenant shall have no right to occupy the Premises for its
business purposes until its Tenant Improvements are completed.
 

(b)       Additional Rent shall commence on the earlier of the Commencement Date or the date Tenant takes possession of the Premises for its
business purposes, except that Tenant shall commence paying for electricity in accordance with Section 11.3, HVAC and Tenant service requests made to Landlord on
the Possession Date, and the same shall be due thirty (30) days after receipt of a bill therefor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have no obligation to pay
Additional Rent for Operating Expenses for the month of December 2019 or for the first six (6) months of calendar year 2020 or the last six (6) months of calendar
year 2035 as may be adjusted based on actual Rent Commencement Date. Landlord shall have the same remedies for a default in the payment of Additional Rent as
for a default in the payment of Fixed Rent. With respect to Additional Rent related to Operating Expenses, Landlord shall provide notice and demand as set forth in
Article 6 hereof and with respect to Additional Rent related to any “net profit” pursuant to Section 12.1(c) hereof, no notice or demand shall be required. All other
Additional Rent shall be due within thirty (30) days following written demand therefor.
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(c)       Solely as a courtesy to Tenant and in no event as an obligation of Landlord under this Lease, Landlord shall endeavor to email invoices for all
Rent to accountspayable@factset.com ten (10) days prior to the due date thereof, or to such other email address designated by Tenant in accordance with the notice
provisions of this Lease.
 

Section 4.2        Late Charge. Any Rent not paid on or before the seventh (7th) Business Day after the due date thereof shall be payable on or before the first
day of the succeeding month with a late charge equal to five percent (5%) of the unpaid installment. There shall be no abatement of, deduction from, counterclaim or
set off against Rent, except as otherwise specifically provided in this Lease.
 

ARTICLE 5

Use
 

Section 5.1        Use. Tenant shall use and occupy the Premises for executive, general and administrative offices for Tenant, its Affiliates and Successors and
its permitted subtenants’ and assigns and for ancillary uses thereto that comply with Applicable Laws, including, without limitation, the Rooftop Terrace, pantry,
storage of office supplies and presentations, sales presentations and shareholder meetings, and for no other purpose without Landlord’s prior written consent, which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Tenant shall have the express right in the Premises to store and serve food and beverages, by any reasonable means,
including, without limitation, by vending machines, for the consumption by officers, employees and business guests of Tenant. Further, Tenant and its employees shall
have the right to install and use a pantry in the Premises, including, without limitation, installation and use thereon of a microwave oven, toaster, coffee machine,
refrigerator, freezer and dishwasher (provided that Tenant shall not have the right to install a cooking kitchen in the Premises). Tenant shall not use or occupy or suffer
or permit the use or occupancy of the Premises or any part thereof in any manner which in Landlord’s reasonable judgment shall materially adversely affect or
materially unreasonably interfere with any services required to be furnished by Landlord to Tenant or to any other tenant or occupant of the Building, or with the
proper and economical rendition of any such service or with the use or enjoyment of any part of the Building by any other tenant or occupant.
 

Section 5.2        Restrictions On Use. Tenant shall not use or occupy, or suffer or permit the Premises or any part thereof to be used in any manner, or suffer or
permit anything to be done therein or brought into or kept therein, which would in any way: (a) violate any Applicable Laws; (b) make void or voidable any insurance
policy then in force with respect to the Building or the Property of which Tenant has received prior written notice including, without limitation, any protective
safeguards endorsement or sprinkler credit (provided, that mere executive, general and administrative office use will not be deemed to have made void or voidable any
such policy); (c) make unobtainable from reputable insurance companies authorized to do business in the State of Connecticut at standard rates any fire insurance with
extended coverage, or liability, elevator, boiler or other insurance required to be furnished by Landlord under the terms of a Mortgage or Ground Lease, if any
(provided, that mere executive, general and administrative office use will not be deemed to have made unobtainable any such policy); (d) cause physical damage to the
Property or any portion of the Property (other than reasonable wear and tear or as part of Tenant Improvements or Alterations made in accordance with provisions of
Article 9 and Article 22); (e) constitute a public or private nuisance; (f) materially or unreasonably impair the appearance of the Building or negatively affect
Landlord’s ability to lease to third parties or materially increase the risk of environmental damage at the Property; (g) first cause the Premises to be classified as an
establishment under the Connecticut Transfer Act, Conn. Gen. Stats. §22a-134 et seq.; (h) discharge noxious fumes, vapors or odors into the Building’s air
conditioning system or into the Building’s flues or vents or otherwise in such a manner as may cause unreasonable disturbance to the other occupants of the Building;
or (i) cause noise to escape from the Premises as may cause unreasonable disturbance to the other occupants of the Building or the Park. The provisions of this Section
5.2, and the application hereof, shall not be deemed to be limited in any way to or by any other provisions of this Lease or any of the Rules and Regulations (provided,
that mere executive, general and administrative office use and that Tenant’s operation as provided in this Lease will not be deemed to violate this Section 5.2).
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Section 5.3        Certificate of Occupancy. Tenant shall not at any time use or occupy, or suffer or permit to use or occupy the Premises in violation of the
certificate of occupancy issued for the Premises or the Building or the applicable zoning ordinances of the City, and in the event that any governmental authority shall
hereafter contend or declare by notice, violation, order or in any other manner whatsoever that the Premises are used for a purpose which is a violation of such
certificate of occupancy, Tenant shall immediately discontinue such use of the Premises. The certificate of occupancy for the Base Building is attached hereto as
Exhibit O and Landlord hereby represents and warrants to Tenant that (i) the same is in full force and effect; and (ii) Landlord shall not have the right to amend the
certificate of occupancy for the Base Building in a manner that limits the uses that Tenant may perform in the Premises in accordance with Section 5.1 hereof.
 

Section 5.4        Floor Load. Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Premises that exceeds the floor load per square foot that such floor was
designed to carry fifty (50) pounds per square foot (live load)). Subject to the terms of the next preceding sentence, if Tenant wishes to place any safes, vaults or other
structural reinforcements in the Premises, it may do so at its own expense, subject to Landlord’s prior approval, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed. Landlord reserves the right to reasonably prescribe their weight and position. Business machines and mechanical equipment in the Premises
shall be placed and maintained by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, in such manner as shall be sufficient in Landlord’s reasonable judgment to absorb vibration and noise
and prevent annoyance or inconvenience to any of the other tenants or occupants of the Building.
 

Section 5.5        Use of Hazardous Materials. Tenant shall not install, use, generate, store or dispose of in or about the Premises any Hazardous Materials,
except for quantities of Hazardous Materials customarily used in business office operations, provided that Tenant uses such Hazardous Materials in accordance with all
Environmental Laws.
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Section 5.6        Signage.
 

(a)       Tenant shall be provided appropriate interior signage commensurate with the signage protocol for the Building, including without limitation,
Building directory and listing solely in the event Landlord elects to install a directory in the lobby and prominent non-exclusive logo signage within the main lobby of
the Building, the size, design and location of which shall be approved by Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, the signage
contained on Exhibit R is conceptually approved by Landlord so long as there is sufficient space in the lobby to tastefully provide signage of a comparable size, but
not larger size (i.e., font/letter size, not the number of letters), to other tenants of the Building.
 

(b)       Additionally, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws and the REA, Tenant shall have the ability to install signature logo building signage
in Tenant’s “FactSet blue” and in Tenant’s logo font on two faces of the exterior of the Building where it is most visible from the bounding road on the south-facing
side on the southwest corner of the Building as set forth on Exhibit J attached hereto and on the west-facing side or north-facing side of the northwest corner of the
Building at the same elevation as depicted on Exhibit J, the size, design (other than logo and “FactSet blue” color) and location of which shall be approved by
Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws and the REA, Tenant shall have
the right to use the exterior FactSet sign currently mounted on a building located at Merritt 7 Corporate Park located in Norwalk, Connecticut, provided that (i) the
FactSet sign is mounted to the Building in the locations as provided herein, (ii) the FactSet sign is compatible with the design of the Building and (iii) mounting the
FactSet sign will not cause any damage to the Building.
 

(c)       Landlord, subject to Applicable Laws and the REA, shall replace the monument sign on Glover Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut and shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to do so by December 1, 2019, such design to be approved by Tenant in its reasonable discretion and the cost of the replacement
monument sign shall be shared by Landlord and Tenant on a 50/50 basis. Tenant shall be entitled to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the net available area for tenant
names on the new monument sign. All signage specifications shall be approved by Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, and shall be designed in
accordance with state and local standards.
 

(d)       During the Term and subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval, Tenant, at Tenant’s cost, shall have the right to replace the wayfinding
signage along the driveway leading to the main entry of the Building. Tenant may install signage within the Premises that is not visible from outside the Premises
without Landlord’s approval, including, without limitation, in any elevator hobbies on full floors within the Premises and/or on the entry doors within the Premises.
Tenant shall not have any right to other signage on the Property without Landlord’s prior approval, which approval may be withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion. All
interior signage within the Premises that is not visible from outside the Premises may be in Tenant’s colors.
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ARTICLE 6

Operating Expenses
 

Section 6.1        Payments.
 

(a)       In addition to Fixed Rent, Tenant shall, commencing with the Rent Commencement Date but subject to Section 4.1(b) hereof, be liable for the
payment of Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the Operating Expenses, as hereinafter defined. Landlord’s good faith estimate of Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the
Operating Expenses for the calendar year in which the Commencement Date occurs is the annual rate of $(Redacted) per rentable square foot of the Premises (which
estimate is based on the Operating Expenses of the Property inclusive of the Planned Amenities (as defined in Exhibit I) as if the same were fully built and operational
as of the date hereof and the REA), which includes services provided substantially similar to Comparable Buildings and as calculated as set forth on Exhibit M. For
those Operating Expenses which have controllable costs as set forth on Exhibit M, for the calendar year in which the Commencement Date occurs, such Operating
Expenses shall not exceed the amounts set forth on Exhibit M, as increased by the percentage increase in the CPI from the date hereof to the Rent Commencement
Date. For purposes of this Lease, “controllable costs” shall mean costs which are discretionary and the cost of which Landlord has the right or reasonable ability to
control. For all other non-controllable Operating Expenses, despite Landlord’s good faith estimate as set forth herein, there shall be no restriction on the actual cost of
such Operating Expenses payable by Tenant hereunder. Operating Expenses may also be increased for extra amenities and upgrades requested by Tenant. Until
Landlord notifies Tenant of Tenant’s new estimated payment as hereinafter provided, Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the Operating Expenses based
on the foregoing estimated amounts. Operating Expenses dependent on occupancy shall be determined as if the Building were one hundred percent (100%) occupied
during any calendar year in which actual occupancy is less than one hundred percent (100%).
 

(b)       On or prior to January 1 of each calendar year during the Term, Landlord shall furnish Tenant with a written statement setting forth in
reasonable detail Landlord’s good faith estimate for such upcoming calendar year of the Operating Expenses for such calendar year and the computation of the annual
and monthly amounts payable by Tenant based on such estimate; provided, however, that if Landlord fails to provide such an estimate, Landlord shall not be in default
hereunder and Tenant shall continue to pay Tenant’s Proportionate Share of estimated Operating Expenses based on the latest estimate furnished to Tenant. All
monthly installments of Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the estimated Operating Expenses thereafter due during such calendar year shall be increased or decreased, as
the case may be, to reflect one-twelfth (1/12) of the annual amount of the new estimate until a new adjustment becomes effective. In addition, if there is a change in
the information on which Landlord based the estimate upon which Tenant is then making its payment of Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the estimated Operating
Expenses so that Landlord reasonably believes that the Operating Expenses for such calendar year will be more than 105% or less than 95% of Landlord’s estimate for
such Operating Expenses as set forth in the estimate furnished to Tenant for such calendar year, then Landlord shall be permitted (but not more than once for any
calendar year) to revise such Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the estimated Operating Expenses by notice to Tenant (with reasonable back-up information to support
the change), and upon the giving of such notice by Landlord, all monthly installments thereafter due during such calendar year shall be further adjusted to reflect such
increase or decrease; provided that the first payment from Tenant to Landlord of such increase shall not be due until thirty (30) days after Tenant has received such
notice from Landlord.
 

(c)       Tenant shall pay all Other Taxes.
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Section 6.2        Landlord’s Statement.
 

(a)       Within ten (10) months after the end of each calendar year that occurs in whole or in part during the Term, Landlord shall furnish Tenant with
a statement (each, a “Landlord’s Statement”) setting in reasonable detail for said calendar year the Operating Expenses for such calendar year. Upon Tenant’s receipt
of a Landlord’s Statement, Tenant may request, and Landlord shall within thirty (30) days provide, reasonable back-up documentation for same. If Tenant’s
Proportionate Share of the Operating Expenses for such calendar year shall be greater (resulting in a deficiency) or shall be less (resulting in an overpayment) than the
estimated amount actually paid by Tenant with respect to such calendar year, then: (i) Tenant shall, in case of such a deficiency, pay to Landlord as Additional Rent for
such calendar year the amount of the difference, in a lump sum, thirty (30) days after Tenant receives the applicable Landlord’s Statement; or (ii) Landlord shall, in
case of such an overpayment, credit to Tenant the amount of the overpayment against the next due payments of Additional Rent, or in the case of the expiration or
earlier termination of this Lease, Landlord shall remit to Tenant such overpayment within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s receipt of the Landlord’s Statement in
question. Any adjustment for the final calendar year of the Term shall survive the expiration thereof.
 

(b)       Notwithstanding the foregoing if Landlord shall not have rendered a Landlord’s Statement for any calendar year prior to the date that is
twelve (12) months after the end of such calendar year, then (1) Landlord shall no longer have the right to deliver a Landlord’s Statement for such calendar year for the
purpose of collecting a deficiency for such calendar year, (2) Landlord shall still be obligated to deliver a Landlord’s Statement for such calendar year if there is an
overpayment by Tenant for such calendar year and (3) Landlord, within thirty (30) days from delivery of such Landlord’s Statement, shall refund to Tenant the amount
of such overpayment. Landlord’s failure to so render a Landlord’s Statement with respect to any calendar year, or Landlord’s delay in so rendering Landlord’s
Statement beyond the date specified in this Section 6.2(b), shall not prejudice Landlord’s right to render a Landlord’s Statement with respect to any subsequent
calendar year. The obligations of Landlord and Tenant under the provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Term.
 

(c)       Each Landlord’s Statement shall be conclusive and binding upon Landlord and Tenant unless, within twelve (12) months after receipt of such
Landlord’s Statement (such later date, the “Section 6.2(c) Date”), Tenant shall notify Landlord that it disputes the correctness of Landlord’s Statement, specifying in
reasonable detail the respects in which Landlord’s Statement is claimed to be incorrect, but reserving the right to challenge any additional items that may arise during
the course of any audit. Pending the determination of such dispute Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the Operating Expenses in accordance with the
applicable Landlord’s Statement within the time periods prescribed in Section 6.2(a) above, and such payments shall be without prejudice to Tenant’s position.
Landlord shall maintain in an orderly manner all of its books and records (collectively, the “Expense Records”) pertaining to Operating Expenses. Within twelve (12)
months after Tenant’s receipt of a Landlord’s Statement and upon reasonable prior notice to Landlord, the Expense Records shall, during Landlord’s regular business
hours at the office of Landlord or its managing agent within the CT-NY-NJ tristate area, be made reasonably available to Tenant (and its consultants) for purposes of
auditing, reviewing and, to the extent reasonably necessary, photocopying the Expense Records applicable to such Landlord’s Statement. Tenant shall maintain the
results of any such inspection on a confidential basis except that Tenant may disclose such results to its accountants, attorneys, and other advisors (provided that they
agree to maintain the results of any such inspections on a confidential basis), and may disclose such results to the extent necessary or desirable in any proceeding or
otherwise as required by Applicable Laws or court order. Such inspection may be done only by Tenant’s employees or a professional auditing firm selected by Tenant
operating on a time basis, as distinguished from a contingent fee basis.
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(d)       Tenant, on or prior to the Section 6.2(c) Date, may send a notice (“Tenant’s Statement”) to Landlord that Tenant disagrees with the
applicable Landlord’s Statement, specifying in reasonable detail the basis for Tenant’s disagreement and the amount of Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the Operating
Expenses that Tenant claims is due. Landlord and Tenant shall attempt to settle such disagreement. If they are unable to do so within thirty (30) days following
delivery of a Tenant’s Statement, then either party may notify the other that such disagreement shall be determined by a CPA in accordance with this Section 6.2(d),
and promptly thereafter Landlord and Tenant shall jointly designate a certified public accountant (the “CPA”) whose determination made in accordance with this
Section 6.2(d) shall be binding upon the parties. The CPA shall be a member of an independent certified public accounting firm having at least twenty accounting
professionals and shall have at least ten (10) years immediately preceding experience performing accounting services for landlords and tenants relating to operating
expenses for Comparable Buildings. If Landlord and Tenant shall be unable to agree upon the designation of the CPA within 15 days after receipt of notice from the
other party requesting agreement as to the designation of the CPA, which notice shall contain the names and addresses of two or more certified public accountants who
are acceptable to the party sending such notice, then either party shall have the right to request the AAA to designate the CPA. Any determination made by the CPA
shall not exceed the amount determined to be due in the first instance by Landlord’s Statement, nor shall such determination be less than the amount claimed to be due
by Tenant in Tenant’s Statement (as Tenant’s Statement may be amended by Tenant prior to submission to the CPA based upon Tenant’s review of Landlord’s records),
and any determination which does not comply with the foregoing shall be null and void and not binding on the parties. In rendering such determination the CPA shall
not add to, subtract from or otherwise modify the provisions of this Lease, including the immediately preceding sentence. If it shall be determined (by agreement or
arbitration) that Landlord overcharged Tenant for its Proportionate Share of the Operating Expenses for any calendar year, then Landlord shall credit to Tenant the
amount of the overpayment against the next due payments of Additional Rent, or in the case of the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Landlord shall remit
Tenant such overpayment within thirty (30) days after the determination of such overpayment is made. In addition, if it shall be determined (by agreement or
arbitration) that Landlord overcharged Tenant by five percent (5%) or more of the charges referenced on Landlord’s Statement, then Landlord shall be responsible for
the fees and expenses of the CPA, and Landlord shall reimburse Tenant, within thirty (30) days thereafter, for all third party fees and expenses incurred by Tenant in
connection with its audit of Operating Expenses and such arbitration proceeding and such interest. If it shall be determined that Landlord did not overcharge Tenant to
the degree as aforesaid, then Tenant shall be responsible for the fees and expenses of the CPA, and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord, within thirty (30) days thereafter,
for all third party fees and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with Tenant’s audit of Operating Expenses and such arbitration proceeding.
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Section 6.3        Operating Expenses.
 

(a)       The term “Operating Expenses” shall mean any and all actual expenses paid or incurred by Landlord for the operation of the Property,
including without limitation:
 

(i)      wages and salaries of all necessary employees, including clerical personnel engaged in the physical operation and maintenance of the
Property and other improvements appurtenant thereto, including Employer’s Social Security Taxes, and any other taxes that may be levied on such wages and salaries,
and any and all fringe benefits provided for such employees;
 

(ii)     all supplies and material used in the operation and maintenance of the Property;
 

(iii)    the cost of supplying HVAC to the rentable areas of the Building and for operation of the elevators, as well as the cost of all utilities
supplied to the Common Areas;
 

(iv)     the costs of maintaining, repairing, snow plowing, lining and lighting all appurtenant parking, sidewalk and ingress areas, including
traffic controls, and the planting, mowing and maintaining of all planted areas within or appurtenant to the Property;
 

(v)       the allocable costs of all maintenance and service agreements on equipment used in the operation and maintenance of the Property;
 

(vi)      insurance premiums for the Property;
 

(vii)     the costs of repairs, cleaning and maintenance of the Property and appurtenances thereto, exclusive of the costs of alterations for the
accommodation of a specific tenant or tenants, or leasehold improvements to premises demised exclusively to other tenants, or extra cleaning for a specific tenant or
tenants for which direct charges are made, or brokerage commissions for leases or lease renewals or extensions with tenants of the Property; exclusive also of repairs
or maintenance to be performed by tenants, or advertising and promotion expenses relating to vacant space in the Property;
 

(viii)    any capital expenses which (A) result in the reduction of any item of Operating Expenses, as for example, a labor-saving
improvement, taking into account the cost of the capital expenditure and the savings associated with the capital expenditure (but in no event shall the amount included
in Operating Expenses for any calendar year exceed the amount of the savings during such calendar year as the result of such capital expense), or (B) are required by
Applicable Laws that became effective after the Commencement Date, then the annual amortization (calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the
capital item in question, as determined under generally accepted accounting principles (consistently applied)), plus an interest factor of five percent (5%) per annum
on the unamortized cost of such capital item, may be included in Operating Expenses;
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(ix)      Property Taxes;
 

(x)       management fees pertaining to operation of the Property not greater than 3.0% of total revenue from the Building; and
 

(xi)     all charges and assessments under the REA allocable to the Property and, to the extent the Property is subjected to the same, all charges
and assessments equitably allocable to the Property under the Merritt 7 Reciprocal Easement Agreement, subject in each case to the capital expense limitation in
subsection 6.3(a)(viii) herein and the capital expense limitation set forth in the REA. The Property has a twenty-eight percent (28%) share under the REA, which
percentage shall remain constant during the Term. In addition, expenses relating to any facility or structure erected pursuant to the REA and which are not made
available to Tenant shall be excluded from Operating Expenses.
 

(b)       Anything herein in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, there shall be excluded from Operating Expenses the following:
 

(i)      Financing costs and debt service, including, without limitation, debt service on mortgages, deeds of trust or other monetary
encumbrances upon the Property or any part thereof and any recording or mortgage tax or expense incurred in connection therewith;
 

(ii)     any expense for which Landlord is compensated through insurance, condemnation awards, warranties, maintenance contracts, service
contracts, any tenant (including Tenant) of the Property or any other third party;
 

(iii)    wages, salaries, benefits and other compensation (including, without limitation, fringe benefits, social security, unemployment and other
payroll taxes and the cost of providing disability and worker’s compensation coverage) to personnel above the grade of Building manager or to the extent not involved
in the operations and management of the Property;
 

(iv)    any fee or expenditure paid to any Person which shall be an Affiliate of Landlord, in each case in excess of the amount which would be
paid in the absence of such relationship;
 

(v)     the cost of electricity furnished directly to other tenants of the Building and the costs of any other utilities furnished on a submetered
basis to leasable areas of other tenants of the Building or payable directly by such tenants to the applicable utility company;
 

(vi)     the cost of installations for tenants of the Building incurred in connection with preparing space for a new tenant, rental concessions,
improvement allowances, and all costs of obtaining new tenants and extending or renegotiating leases with existing tenants, including without limitation brokerage
commissions, professional fees and the costs of assuming or otherwise “taking over” or compensating tenants of the Building for other leases;
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(vii)    costs incurred in the removal, abatement, encapsulation, remediation, replacement with alternative substances and disposal of
Hazardous Materials, including, without limitation, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, the costs of investigating, abating and remediating any environmental
contamination, including, without limitation, Hazardous Materials, and all costs of defending, challenging and complying with any governmental orders requiring the
remediation of any environmental contamination, including any Hazardous Materials;
 

(viii)   depreciation;
 

(ix)     rent paid under ground or underlying leases;
 

(x)      leasing commissions, advertising, promotion costs and other fees and expenses, including, without limitation, legal fees, relating to
procuring tenants to rent space in the Property;
 

(xi)      legal and arbitration expenses incurred in connection with any negotiation or enforcement of, or disputes arising out of, any space
lease, ground lease or Mortgage;
 

(xii)     the costs of restoration of the Property after a casualty or condemnation;
 

(xiii)    Landlord’s general overhead expenses not related specifically to the Property;
 

(xiv)     any capital expenses other than those described in subsection 6.3(a)(viii) herein;
 

(xv)      any cost or expense in connection with Landlord’s Work, the TIA (as hereinafter defined) or a credit for the remodeling of the
bathrooms;
 

(xvi)     amortization, except as provided in in subsection 6.3(a)(viii) herein;
 

(xvii)    costs incurred in performing work or furnishing services or utilities for any tenant, whether at such tenant’s or Landlord’s expense, to
the extent that such work or service is in excess of any work or service or utilities that Landlord is obligated to furnish to Tenant at Landlord’s expense;
 

(xviii)   any cost directly paid or reimbursed by any tenant or other third party (except to the extent that the same shall be paid as Additional
Rent (or the equivalent) under any other lease);
 

(xix)     Taxes exclusively chargeable to and reimbursable by another tenant;
 

(xx)      charitable and political contributions;
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(xxi)     any interest or penalties imposed on Landlord for failure to timely pay Taxes or Operating Expenses;
 

(xxii)    the costs of bringing those aspects of the Property which Landlord is responsible for the repair of under this Lease into compliance
with Applicable Laws enacted prior to the Commencement Date;
 

(xxiii)   any bad debt loss, rent loss or reserves for bad debts or rent loss;
 

(xxiv)   costs incurred in connection with the acquisition or sale of air rights, transferable development rights, easements or other real property
interests;
 

(xxv)    professional fees not allocated to the operation or management of the Property;
 

(xxvi)   the costs of constructing (but not the costs of operating, insuring or maintaining) the Planned Amenities, the Tenant Upgraded
Amenities (as defined in Exhibit I) and any additional floors added to the Building;
 

(xxvii)  the cost of any fines, penalties or other similar amounts payable by Landlord in connection with settlements, judgments or arbitration
awards arising from the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, any property manager or any of their respective employees or agents;
 

(xxviii) costs incurred for acquiring and insuring, but not costs incurred for maintaining, works of art of the quality and nature of “fine art”
(rather than decorative art of the type customarily found in Comparable Buildings);
 

(xxix)    the costs of curing Landlord’s defaults under this Lease and any other lease of premises in the Building (in each case, to the extent
that such costs are in excess of those which would have been incurred in the absence of such defaults);
 

(xxx)     amounts payable by Landlord for withdrawal liability or unfunded pension liability to a multi-employer pension plan (under Title IV
of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended);
 

(xxxi)    if, by any Applicable Law, any assessment constituting part of Taxes may be paid in installments, then, for purposes hereof, (A) such
assessment shall be deemed to have been payable in the maximum number of installments permitted by law, and (B) there shall be included in Operating Expenses for
such calendar year in which such installments may be paid, only such the installments of such assessment so becoming payable during such applicable calendar year;
 

(xxxii)   all charges and assessments under the REA allocable to the Property exceeding the Property’s share of twenty-eight percent (28%)
and expenses relating to any facility or structure erected pursuant to the REA for the benefit of other tenants and which are not made available to Tenant;
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(xxxiii)   to the extent any costs that are otherwise includible in Operating Expenses are incurred with respect to both the Property and other
properties, there shall be excluded from Operating Expenses a fair and reasonable percentage thereof that is properly allocable to such other properties; and
 

(xxxiv)   in the event Landlord elects to purchase “green power”, any such incremental cost above rates achievable in the market.
 

For the avoidance of doubt, in the determination of Operating Expenses for each calendar year in accordance with this Article 6, no item shall be counted
more than one (1) time, either as an inclusion or an exclusion therefrom.
 

Section 6.4        Apportionment. Operating Expenses for the calendar year in which the Term shall begin as well as for the calendar year in which this Lease
shall end shall be apportioned so that Tenant shall pay for only those portions of each such calendar year as are within the Term.
 

Section 6.5        Property Tax Contests. So long as the Minimum Occupancy Requirement is satisfied, in the event of an increase in the assessment of the
Property for Property Tax purposes, Tenant may request that Landlord appeal the increased assessment. Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to file
and pursue such an appeal, unless Landlord reasonably determines that based on Landlord’s valuation of the Property, such an appeal is not likely to be successful in
reducing the assessment. The costs of any such appeal will be included in Operating Expenses (and any reduction of Property Taxes resulting from the appeal will
reduce Operating Expenses).
 

ARTICLE 7

Insurance
 

Section 7.1        Prohibited Acts; Compliance.
 

(a)       Tenant shall not do anything, or suffer or permit anything to be done in or about the Property which shall (a) subject Landlord to any liability
or responsibility for injury to any person or property by reason of any activity being conducted in the Premises (provided, that mere executive, general and
administrative office use will not be deemed to have subjected Landlord to the same); (b) cause any increase in the fire insurance rates applicable to the Building or
equipment or other property located therein (provided, that mere executive, general and administrative office use will not be deemed to have caused any such
increase); or (c) be prohibited by any license or other permit required or obtained pursuant to this Lease, including the certificate of occupancy for the Building.
 

(b)       Tenant, at its expense, shall comply with all rules, regulations or requirements of the applicable Board of Fire Underwriters and the applicable
Fire Insurance Rating Organization or any similar body of which it has received written notice, provided that such compliance does not require structural changes to
the Premises unless such changes are necessitated or occasioned by Tenant’s particular manner of use or occupancy (as opposed to executive, general and
administrative office use of the Premises) or Tenant’s Alterations to the Premises. Landlord shall comply with all such rules, regulations and requirements applicable
to the Common Areas.
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Section 7.2        Rate Increases. If by reason of any act, omission or negligence on the part of Tenant, the rate of property insurance on the Property or
equipment or other property of Landlord or any other tenant or occupant of the Building shall be higher than it otherwise would be, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord,
on demand, for that part of the premiums for fire insurance and extended coverage paid by Landlord and such other tenants or occupants due to such act, omission or
negligence on the part of Tenant (Landlord hereby acknowledges that Tenant’s use of the Premises for mere executive, general and administrative office use shall not
be deemed to have done the same).
 

Section 7.3        Tenant’s Insurance Requirements.
 

(a)       From and after the Possession Date, and during the Term, Tenant shall, at its expense, secure and maintain commercial general liability
insurance with combined single limit coverage (for personal injury, property damage or death arising out of any one (1) occurrence) in minimum limits of $(Redacted)
per occurrence, including excess liability coverage, of at least $(Redacted) umbrella coverage, naming Landlord, Landlord’s managing agent, Mortgagee of which
Tenant has been advised in writing and Landlord’s reasonable designees of which Tenant has been advised in writing as additional insureds under the policy. Tenant
shall deliver to Landlord duplicate certificates of such insurance prior to taking occupancy of the Premises and shall deliver new certificates at least ten (10) days prior
to the expiration of the existing coverage. Such policy shall provide that in the event of termination or material change in coverage due to non-payment, Landlord shall
be given ten (10) days’ advance notice, and for all other reasons, Landlord shall be given thirty (30) days’ advance notice, in each case, in writing sent by first class
mail to the notice address of Landlord under Section 34.1 herein. Such insurance shall insure Tenant’s contractual liability hereunder and shall contain a waiver of the
insurer’s right of subrogation against Landlord.     
 

(b)       Tenant shall maintain “special peril” casualty insurance covering the Alterations, the Tenant Improvements and Tenant’s Property within the
Premises, each with replacement value coverage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to self-insure Tenant’s Property and shall be entitled to all
of the insurance proceeds.
 

(c)       The insurance described in this Section may be effected by a policy or policies of blanket insurance which cover property located in other
premises in addition to the Premises, but only if: (i) the protection afforded thereunder is not less than that which would have been afforded under a separate policy or
policies relating only to Tenant’s Property in the Premises; and (ii) in all other respects any such policy shall comply with the other provisions of this Article.
 

(d)       motor vehicle liability coverage with limits of $(Redacted) for all owned (if any), hired and non-owned vehicles, including rented and leased
vehicles containing minimum limits per occurrence, including any umbrella coverage.
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(e)       Workers' Compensation Insurance (including Employer's Liability Insurance with a limit of at least $(Redacted), which limit may be met by a
combination of primary and excess insurance) meeting the statutory limits of the State of Connecticut.
 

(f)       Tenant shall obtain such other insurance in such reasonable amounts as may from time to time be reasonably required by Landlord against
other insurable hazards which at the time are commonly insured against, or resulting from a change in local practice in the case of construction or alteration of
buildings and/or in the case of premises similarly situated, due regard being given to the type of building, its location, construction, use and occupancy.
 

(g)       All insurance required to be maintained by Tenant under this Section and all renewals thereof shall be issued by good and responsible
companies qualified to do and doing business in the State of Connecticut and having a Standard & Poor’s Corporation or A.M. Best claims paying ability rating of at
least “A-VIII”. In the event that Tenant’s insurance company’s Standard & Poor’s Corporation or A.M. Best claims paying ability rating falls below an “A-VIII”
rating, unless Landlord and Mortgagee consent to an insurance company with a lower rating, Tenant shall diligently, and in all events within not more than one
hundred eighty (180) days after becoming aware of the insurance company’s downgrade, acquire all insurance required to be maintained by Tenant hereunder from a
new insurance company having a Standard & Poor’s Corporation or A.M. Best claims paying ability rating of at least “A-VIII”; provided however, that at no time
shall Tenant permit any insurance policy to lapse. Deductible amounts in excess of $(Redacted) for insurance required by subsection (a) above shall be subject to
Landlord’s and Mortgagee’s prior written approval, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. All commercial general liability insurance under this Section to be
maintained by Tenant shall name Landlord and the Mortgagee as additional insureds. Tenant’s commercial general liability insurance shall be primary and
noncontributing with any insurance which may be carried by Landlord shall afford according to its terms coverage for all claims based on any act, omission, event or
condition that occurred or arose (or the onset of which occurred or arose) during the policy period and during the longer of Tenant’s possession of the Premises or the
Lease Term, and shall expressly provide that Landlord, although named as an additional insured on Tenant’s commercial general liability policy, shall nevertheless be
entitled to recover under the policy according to its terms for any loss, injury or damage to Landlord to the extent sustained due to the fault of Tenant or Tenant’s
Representatives. Tenant may carry such insurance under “blanket” policies, provided such policies specifically allocate coverage amounts for the Premises equal to the
amount required by this Lease. Upon the issuance of each such policy to be maintained by Tenant or Tenant’s Representatives, as the case may be, Tenant shall deliver
a certificate thereof (ACORD 25 and ACORD 28 forms, as the case may be or equivalent to the extent available) to Landlord for retention by Landlord or the
Mortgagee. To the extent any deductibles are incurred by Tenant as a result of Landlord or Landlord’s Representatives’ actions, such deductibles shall be borne by
Landlord.
 

(h)       With respect to Tenant Improvements and Alterations, Tenant shall either carry or cause its general contractor or construction manager to
maintain:
 

(i)      Builder’s risk insurance covering the Tenant Improvements and any Alterations written in a so-called “Builder’s Risk Completed Value”
form with an agreed amount endorsement waiving co-insurance provisions for the Tenant Improvements and Alterations.
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(ii)     Commercial general liability including products and completed operations coverage that shall be continuously renewed for the statutory
period following completion of the Tenant Improvements or Alterations, respectively (which is currently two (2) years from the date of discovery with a maximum of
three (3) years following substantial completion of the Tenant Improvements or Alterations, respectively) during which time claims can be made following completion
of the project; coverage of at least $(Redacted) per occurrence and an umbrella policy of $(Redacted), naming Landlord and Tenant as additional insureds;
 

(iii)     With respect to subcontractors, commercial general liability insurance, including products and completed operations coverage;
 

(iv)     Professional liability of not less than $(Redacted) for architects, engineers and design professionals;
 

(v)      For the above CGL policies referenced in (ii) and (iii) immediately above, the additional insured endorsement on a form CG 2010 and
CG 2037 or equivalent and if available; and
 

(vi)      notice of cancellation in accordance with Section 7.3(g).
 

Section 7.4        Waiver of Subrogation.
 

(a)       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Landlord and Tenant each hereby waives, except to the extent of any deductible or
any claim that would fall within a deductible if made, its respective right of recovery against the other and their respective Landlord’s Representatives and Tenant’s
Representatives and their respective subtenants, contractors, employees and licensees and each releases the other and their respective Landlord’s Representatives and
Tenant’s Representatives and their respective subtenants, contractors, employees and licensees from any claim arising out of loss, damage or destruction to the
Property, including, without limitation, the Premises, and contents thereon or therein, to the extent of net insurance proceeds actually received by the releasing party
(or which should have been received if the claiming party had carried the insurance required under this Lease), whether or not such loss, damage or destruction may be
attributable to the fault, negligence, willful misconduct or criminal act of either party or any of the Landlord’s Representatives or Tenant’s Representatives, as the case
may be, or any of its or their respective partners, members, officers, shareholders, directors, agents, invitees, contractors, subtenants or employees, or any agents,
invitees, contractors or employees of any officer, director, shareholder, partner or member of Landlord or Tenant or Landlord’s Representatives or Tenant’s
Representatives. Each party shall look first to the proceeds of its respective property insurance policy to compensate it for any such loss, damage or destruction to its
property.
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(b)       Landlord and Tenant shall diligently attempt to cause their respective insurers to issue appropriate waiver of subrogation endorsements to
endorse all policies and insurance carried in connection with the Property or any part thereof or the contents of either of them. Anything in this Lease to the contrary
notwithstanding, Landlord and Tenant shall look first to the proceeds of their respective property insurance policies before proceeding against each other or their
subtenants, contractors, employees and licensees in connection with any claim relating to any matter covered by this Lease.
 

Section 7.5        Landlord's Insurance Obligations. Landlord, at its cost and expense, shall obtain and maintain in effect as long as this Lease remains in effect,
(a) standard all-risk property and casualty insurance, insuring the Building (including, without limitation, the Planned Amenities) and all other improvements on the
Land against those risks normally encompassed in an all-risk policy, such insurance to provide for the payment of full replacement cost in the event of a total
destruction of the Building (including, without limitation, the Planned Amenities), other improvements and Additional Parking Lots; and (b) comprehensive general
liability insurance coverage (including premises operation, bodily injury, personal injury, death, independent contractors, products and completed operations, broad
form contractual liability and broad form property damage coverages) in amounts held by reasonably prudent commercial landlords of Comparable Buildings with
respect to the Property and Additional Parking Lots. To the extent any deductibles are incurred by Landlord as a result of Tenant or Tenant’s Representatives’ actions,
such deductibles shall be borne by Tenant.
 

ARTICLE 8

Compliance with Laws
 

Section 8.1        Tenant’s Compliance Obligations. Throughout the Term, Tenant shall, with respect to Tenant’s use, occupancy and maintenance of the
Premises (other than required physical or structural modifications to the Structural Elements, which are Landlord’s obligations under Section 8.3 herein), promptly
comply and cause the Premises to comply with or remove or cure any violation by Tenant of any and all present and future laws, including, without limitation, the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as the same may be amended from time to time (the “ADA”), ordinances (zoning or otherwise), orders, rules, regulations and
requirements of all Federal, State, municipal and other governmental bodies having jurisdiction over the Premises and the appropriate departments, commissions,
boards and officers thereof, and the orders, rules and regulations of the Board of Fire Underwriters where the Premises are situated, or any other body now or hereafter
constituted exercising lawful or valid authority over the Premises, or any portion thereof, or exercising authority with respect to the use or manner of use of the
Premises, and whether the compliance, curing or removal of any such violation and the costs and expenses necessitated thereby shall have been foreseen or
unforeseen, ordinary or extraordinary, and whether or not the same shall be presently within the contemplation of Landlord or Tenant or shall involve any change in
governmental policy, or require structural or extraordinary repairs, alterations or additions by Tenant (other than required physical or structural modifications to the
Structural Elements, which are Landlord’s obligations under Section 8.3 herein) and irrespective of the amount of the costs thereof. Tenant, at its sole cost and
expense, shall not violate the Permitted Encumbrances or any other agreement encumbering the Premises hereafter created by Tenant or consented to, in writing, by
Tenant or requested, in writing, by Tenant. Tenant shall also comply with, observe and perform all provisions and requirements of all policies of insurance maintained
by Tenant with respect to the Premises under the terms of Article 7 herein. The laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and requirements referred to in this Section are
collectively referred to as “Applicable Laws”. The foregoing notwithstanding, to the extent required under this Section 8.1, Tenant shall not perform any repairs or
Alterations to the Base Building Systems or Structural Elements within the Premises and required pursuant to any Applicable Laws, but shall reimburse Landlord for
any such work performed by Landlord in accordance with Article 6.
 

28



 
 

Section 8.2        Permitted Contests. Tenant shall not be required to (a) comply with any Applicable Law, or (b) discontinue a particular use under Article 5
herein, so long as Tenant shall contest, in good faith and at its expense, the existence, the amount or the validity thereof, the amount of the damages caused thereby, or
the extent of its liability therefor, by appropriate proceedings which shall operate during the pendency thereof to prevent (i) the sale, forfeiture or loss of the Premises,
or any part thereof, by foreclosure or otherwise, or the Rent, or any portion thereof; (ii) any interference with the use or occupancy of the Premises or any part thereof;
and (iii) any interference with the payment of Rent, or any portion thereof. While any such proceedings are pending, Landlord shall not have the right to pay, remove
or cause to be discharged the assessment, levy, fee, rent or charge thereby being contested. Each such contest shall be promptly prosecuted by Tenant to a final
conclusion. Tenant shall pay, and save Landlord and the Mortgagee harmless against, any and all losses, judgments, decrees and costs (including all reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses) in connection with any such contest by Tenant and shall, promptly after the final settlement, compromise or determination of such
contest, fully pay and discharge the amounts which shall be levied, assessed, charged or imposed or be determined to be payable therein or in connection therewith,
together with all penalties, fines, interests, costs and expenses thereof or in connection therewith, and perform all acts, the performance of which shall be ordered or
decreed as a result thereof; provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall be construed to require Tenant to pay or discharge any lien, encumbrance or other
charge created by any act or failure to act of Landlord or the payment of which by Tenant is not otherwise required hereunder, or to perform any act which Tenant is
not otherwise required to perform hereunder. No such contest by Tenant shall subject Landlord or the Mortgagee to the risk of any civil or criminal liability. Tenant
shall either complete the contest prior to the date of termination of the Lease, or supply Landlord with a bond or other form of security acceptable to Landlord.
Tenant’s obligations under this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
 

Section 8.3        Landlord’s Compliance Obligations. Landlord hereby represents to Tenant that, as of the Possession Date, Landlord shall deliver the Property,
including, without limitation, the Building (including, without limitation, the Premises as required pursuant to Section 22.1 hereof), all Structural Elements and the
Base Building Systems in good working order and repair and in compliance with all Applicable Laws, including, without limitation, the ADA. Landlord, at its
expense, shall comply with the Permitted Encumbrances and all Applicable Laws, including, without limitation, the ADA, all Environmental Laws, and insurance
requirements applicable to (a) the Common Areas, including, without limitation, the Planned Amenities and the Tenant Upgraded Amenities, (b) those requiring
physical or structural modification to the Structural Elements, excluding Rooftop Equipment, subject to Landlord’s right to contest the applicability or legality thereof
and (c) the Base Building Systems; provided however that if any such compliance as to clause (b) or (c) shall be required because of the negligence or willful act of
Tenant or any of Tenant’s Representatives or any Alterations to the Premises made by Tenant, Landlord shall comply with same at Tenant’s expense, payable as
Additional Rent.
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ARTICLE 9

Alterations and Improvements
 

Section 9.1        Restrictions.
 

(a)       Except as hereinafter provided, Tenant shall make no Alterations in or to the Premises of any nature without Landlord’s prior written consent.
Subject to the provisions of this Article, Tenant, at its expense and without Landlord’s prior consent, may make Alterations which are non-structural in or to the
interior of the Premises, provided that each such Alteration: (i) does not adversely affect utility services or Base Building Systems; (ii) does not cost more than
$(Redacted) per project (provided, Landlord’s consent of IT wiring, painting, carpeting and furniture repair and installation shall not be required by reason of cost if
Landlord’s consent would not otherwise be required hereunder); (iii), if applicable, complies with the requirements of the REA; (iv) does not affect the certificate of
occupancy for the Building or the Premises or the insurance coverage for the Building or the Premises, (v) does not adversely affect the value or utility of the
Building; and (vi) complies with Applicable Laws. Tenant shall use contractors first approved in writing by Landlord which approval may be withheld in Landlord’s
sole discretion. If Landlord fails to respond to a request for approval of a contractor within ten (10) days after receipt of such request by Tenant, Landlord’s consent
shall be deemed given. Upon Tenant’s reasonable request, Landlord shall promptly provide Tenant with a list of pre-approved contractors.
 

(b)       Except for Nonstandard Improvements, all Alterations, including, without limitation, Tenant Generator and generator pads, pantries,
supplemental HVAC, electrical, IT and data cabling and wiring and conduits, whether temporary or permanent in character, made in or to the Premises by Tenant, shall
become part of the Premises and Landlord’s property upon installation thereof and Tenant shall have no obligation to remove the same from the Premises upon the
expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. Prior to the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall remove (i) the Nonstandard Improvements made
by Tenant and the Rooftop Equipment and repair any damage to the Building resulting from such removal and reasonably restore any slab altered by Tenant (not
including, however, any core drills), reasonable wear and tear and damage by casualty and condemnation excepted; and (ii) Building signage installed by Tenant
pursuant to Section 5.6 and Landlord shall repair and restore the Building façade; provided, however, Tenant shall (A) upon Tenant’s execution and delivery of this
Lease to Landlord, pay to Landlord $(Redacted) for the cost to replace the granite on the Building façade, which granite Landlord shall preserve for this use; and (B)
following Tenant’s removal of such Building signage prior to the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall pay Landlord’s reasonable labor costs to
replace such granite on the Building façade within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s receipt from Landlord of documentation (i.e., checks and invoices) evidencing
Landlord’s reasonable labor costs therefor.
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Section 9.2        Permits; Mechanic’s Liens. Tenant shall, before making any Alterations, at its expense, obtain all permits, approvals and certificates required
by any governmental or quasi-governmental bodies and (upon completion) certificates of final approval thereof and shall deliver promptly duplicates of all such
permits, approvals and certificates to Landlord. Tenant shall carry and shall cause Tenant’s contractors and subcontractors to carry such workers’ compensation,
general liability, personal and property damage insurance as Landlord may reasonably require and Landlord shall be named as an additional insured on Tenant’s
contractors’ and subcontractors’ general liability policies. At Landlord’s request, Tenant will provide to Landlord as part of the aforesaid documentation partial lien
waivers from its contractors, subcontractors and materialmen (for trades with contracts in excess of $(Redacted)) involved in Alterations and any other work covering
prior payments by Landlord hereunder Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any mechanic’s lien is filed against the Property or any part thereof, for work done or claimed
to have been done for, or materials furnished to, Tenant, the same shall be cancelled or discharged by Tenant, by payment or filing of the bond required by law, within
thirty (30) days after notice from Landlord to Tenant of the filing, at Tenant’s expense. If Tenant shall fail to cause such lien to be discharged within the period
aforesaid, then, in addition to any other right or remedy, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, discharge the same either by paying the amount claimed to be due
or by procuring the discharge of such lien by deposit or by bonding proceedings. Any amount so paid by Landlord and all reasonable, out-of-pocket costs and
expenses incurred by Landlord, in connection therewith shall constitute Additional Rent payable by Tenant under this Lease and shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord
within thirty (30) days following written demand.
 

Section 9.3        Review of Tenant’s Plans.
 

(a)       All Alterations proposed by Tenant and requiring Landlord’s consent shall be made at Tenant’s sole cost and expense as follows:
 

(i)      Tenant shall submit to Landlord complete and final plans and specifications for all work to be done by Tenant. Such plans and
specifications shall be prepared by a licensed architect(s) and engineer(s), shall comply with all Applicable Laws, shall not adversely affect the Structural Elements
and shall be in a form sufficient to secure the approval of all government authorities with jurisdiction over the Premises.
 

(ii)     With respect to Alterations for which Landlord’s approval is required, within ten (10) Business Days after receipt of the complete plans
and specifications described above, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing whether Landlord approves or disapproves such plans and specifications, which approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; and Landlord shall describe the reasons for any such disapproval. Tenant’s request for approval shall state,
in bold print as follows: “LANDLORD’S FAILURE TO RESPOND WITHIN 10 BUSINESS DAYS SHALL BE DEEMED APPROVAL OF THE PLANS.”
Landlord’s failure to deliver a notice within the time period specified above approving or disapproving such plans and specifications shall be conclusively deemed
Landlord’s approval of such plans and specifications. Tenant may submit to Landlord revised plans and specifications for Landlord’s prior written approval, which
approval shall be granted if (x) the work to be done would not, in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, adversely affect Landlord’s ability to lease to third parties, or (y)
the work to be done shall be required by any Applicable Law.
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(iii)     All material changes in the plans and specifications required to be approved by Landlord shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written
approval, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed and changes not requiring Landlord’s approval shall be provided to Landlord prior to
commencement of the construction described therein. For the purpose of this subsection a “material change” shall be one which (x) exceeds $(Redacted), and/or (y)
adversely affects the Structural Elements or the Base Building Systems. If Tenant wishes to make a change in approved plans and specifications, Tenant shall have its
architect(s) and engineer(s) prepare plans and specifications for such change and submit them to Landlord. For alterations requiring Landlord’s approval, Landlord
shall notify Tenant in writing promptly whether Landlord approves or disapproves such change; and, if Landlord disapproves such change, Landlord shall describe the
reasons for disapproval, which reasons for disapproval shall be reasonable. Tenant may submit to Landlord revised plans and specifications for such change for
Landlord’s written approval. Tenant’s request for approval shall state, in bold print as follows: “LANDLORD’S FAILURE TO RESPOND WITHIN 10 BUSINESS
DAYS SHALL BE DEEMED APPROVAL OF THE PLANS.” Landlord’s failure to respond within ten (10) days shall be deemed approval of the proposed change.
After Landlord’s written approval or deemed approval of such change, such change shall become part of the plans and specifications approved by Landlord.
 

(iv)     Tenant shall obtain and comply with all building permits and other government permits and approvals required in connection with the
work, and shall not violate the REA. Landlord, at Tenant’s expense, and upon the request of Tenant, shall submit any documents required by Applicable Law to be
submitted by Landlord in connection with any permits, approvals or certificates required to be obtained by Tenant in connection with any permitted Alteration. Tenant
shall, through Tenant’s licensed contractor, perform the work in a good and workman like manner in accordance with the plans and specifications prepared as set forth
above. Tenant shall pay, as Additional Rent, the entire cost of all work (including the cost of all utilities, permits, fees, taxes, and property, worker’s compensation and
liability insurance premiums in connection therewith) required to make the Alterations. Under no circumstances shall Landlord be liable to Tenant for any damage,
loss, cost or expenses incurred by Tenant on account of any plans and specifications, contractors or subcontractors, design of any work, construction of any work, or
delay in completion of any work, whether or not Landlord had approved the plans and specifications. Within sixty (60) days after completion of any such work, Tenant
shall deliver to Landlord five (5) sets of plans and, if available, a CAD drawing of the plans.
 

(v)      No Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing prior to commencement of any such Alterations.
 

(b)      Tenant shall be permitted to perform Alterations during Building Hours, provided that such work does not unreasonably interfere with or
interrupt the operation and maintenance of the Building or unreasonably interfere with or interrupt the use and occupancy of the Building by other tenants in the
Building. At all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice, during the progress of Alterations, provided Landlord is accompanied by a representative of
Tenant, Tenant shall permit Landlord, its architect and other representatives of Landlord access to the Premises for the purpose of inspecting same, verifying
conformance of Alterations with Tenant’s plans and specifications and otherwise viewing the progress of Tenant’s work.
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(c)     At the time of, and in conjunction with, Landlord’s approval of Tenant’s plans and specifications pursuant to this subsection, Landlord shall
give notice to Tenant as to which parts of the Alterations shall constitute Nonstandard Improvements and, therefore, must be removed by Tenant at the expiration or
earlier termination of this Lease. As to any of Tenant’s plans and specifications deemed approved by Landlord, Landlord must provide such notice before the date such
Tenant’s plans and specifications are deemed so approved. If Tenant does not provide Landlord with notice that Tenant disputes such determination of which parts of
the Alterations constitute Nonstandard Improvements within fifteen (15) Business Days of Tenant’s receipt of Landlord’s notice, then Landlord’s determination shall
be conclusive. If Tenant shall provide such notice and the parties are unable to agree as to which parts of the Alterations constitute Nonstandard Improvements, then
the determination as to the Alterations in dispute shall be made by the Arbitrator.
 

Section 9.4   Expenses. Tenant shall pay to Landlord from time to time during the performance of any Alterations, as Additional Rent, a fee equal to
Landlord’s or Landlord’s agents’ reasonable and actual out-of-pocket third party costs and expenses incurred in connection with a third party review of Tenant’s plans
and specifications therefor. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything to the contrary in this Lease, Tenant shall not be responsible for any supervisory fee, project
management fee, surcharges, profit, overhead, administrative or similar fees or charges in connection with any Alterations, other than costs, including, without
limitation, profit, overhead and administrative fees, associated with Landlord’s costs of providing personnel to permit off-hours access to the Building, or supervision
of Base Building or Base Building System modifications.
 

ARTICLE 10

Repairs
 

Section 10.1   Tenant’s Obligations. Tenant shall maintain and take good care of the Premises and the fixtures, equipment and appurtenances therein, at
Tenant’s expense, and shall make all repairs in order to keep the Premises in good working order and condition, reasonable wear and tear and damage by fire, casualty
and condemnation excepted, except that Tenant shall not be required to make (a) any repairs or replacements to the Structural Elements of the Premises; (b) any
repairs to or replacements of the Base Building Systems serving the Premises; or (c) any repairs or replacements resulting from the negligence or willful act of
Landlord or any of Landlord’s Representatives.
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Section 10.2   Landlord’s Obligations.
 

(a)     Landlord hereby covenants to Tenant that, on the Possession Date, Landlord shall deliver the Building Systems in good order, condition and
repair. Landlord, at its expense (but subject to recoupment to the extent permitted in Article 6 herein), shall, during the Term, keep and maintain the Common Areas
(including, without limitation, the outdoor seating and eating areas on the Land), Garage, the Planned Amenities and Tenant Upgraded Amenities (each to the extent
such exists) and the Base Building Systems and Structural Elements serving the Premises in good working order, condition and repair, as a first class office building,
consistent with the standards of Comparable Buildings, and shall, during the Term, keep and maintain the Additional Parking Lots and the Existing Amenities (as
hereinafter defined) in good working order, condition and repair, and shall make all repairs and replacements (if necessary), structural and otherwise, interior and
exterior, as and when needed in or about the Property and the Additional Parking Lots, except for (i) those repairs for which Tenant is responsible pursuant to any
other provision of this Lease, including but not limited to Section 10.1 above, and (ii) repairs to Tenant’s Property, unless caused by the negligence or willful
misconduct of Landlord or any of Landlord’s Representatives; provided, however, that Landlord shall have no obligation or liability for repairs in the Premises until
receipt of notice from Tenant specifying the repairs required, except in the case of emergencies where the notice may be by telephone (or otherwise orally by a duly
authorized officer), thereafter promptly followed by a written notice. Landlord shall, throughout the Term, provide the Existing Amenities. “Existing Amenities” shall
mean visitor parking, at least one (1) loading dock, a property management team on call twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week and seasonal outdoor
seating and eating areas, including, without limitation, tables therefor, which Tenant, its employees and visitors shall have the right to use in common with others for
such purposes.
 

(b)     Tenant shall reimburse Landlord, as Additional Rent, for the reasonable cost of the following: (i) any repairs or replacements necessitated or
occasioned by the acts, omissions or negligence of Tenant or any of Tenant’s Representatives, or (ii) any repairs or replacements necessitated or occasioned by or
resulting from Alterations to the Premises made by Tenant; or (iii) any repairs made to the Base Building Systems necessitated or occasioned by the acts, omissions or
negligence of Tenant or any of Tenant’s Representatives.
 

ARTICLE 11

Utilities and Services
 

Section 11.1    HVAC; Elevators.
 

(a)     Landlord shall, at Landlord’s cost and expense (subject to recoupment to the extent permitted in Article 6 hereof) furnish and distribute to the
Premises heated, cooled and outside air (collectively “HVAC”) on a year round basis during Building Hours, as required by applicable building codes and in
accordance with the specifications set forth on Exhibit D attached hereto and made a part hereof. The required temperatures noted in Exhibit D that affect the Premises
shall be first achieved no later than the commencement of Building Hours and continue until the end of Business Hours. If Tenant shall require HVAC service at any
other time (“Overtime”), Landlord shall furnish Overtime HVAC upon at least 24 hours advance notice from Tenant on any Business Day for which Tenant shall
reimburse Landlord (Redacted) Dollars ($(Redacted)) per hour per floor, for a minimum of one (1) hour increments.
 

(b)     Landlord shall, at Landlord’s cost and expense (subject to recoupment to the extent permitted in Article 6 hereof), at all times during the Term,
provide passenger elevator service to the Premises and Landlord shall maintain in good condition and repair all passenger and freight elevators. Tenant shall have 24-
hours per day non-exclusive use of the Building passenger elevators. Tenant shall pay for Landlord’s actual cost of Tenant’s use of freight elevators during Overtime.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall provide to Tenant (at no additional cost to Tenant) freight elevator and loading dock time and accessibility to
accommodate Tenant’s construction, move-in, move-out and business operations, in coordination with Landlord’s building manager. Access to the freight elevator and
loading dock shall be coordinated with Landlord’s property manager, and all move-in, move-out and bulk delivery use shall be conducted during times mutually
agreed.
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Section 11.2   Cleaning. Landlord shall, at Landlord’s cost and expense (subject to recoupment to the extent permitted in Article 6 hereof), cause the Premises
to be cleaned on Business Days, including the exterior and the interior of the windows thereof (subject to Tenant maintaining reasonable access to such windows) in
accordance with the cleaning specifications attached hereto as Exhibit E. Tenant shall pay to Landlord on demand Landlord’s extra charges from its cleaning
contractor for any special or unusual cleaning work in the Premises requested by Tenant other than those listed on Exhibit E including, without limitation, the cleaning
of the Rooftop Terrace, provided, however, Tenant shall have no obligation to remove snow therefrom. Landlord shall cause the Rooftop Terrace to be cleaned at
Tenant’s reasonable cost. Tenant shall have the right to price out such cost with third party vendors in order to confirm that Landlord’s cost is reasonable. If Tenant
shall determine that Landlord’s cost of cleaning the Rooftop Terrace is not reasonable, Tenant shall have the right to contract with its own third party vendor for such
cleaning services upon reasonable prior notice to Landlord, provided that such vendor employs union labor for such services or that such services are performed in a
manner that does not interfere with the cleaning services and the scheduling of such services provided to the Building by Landlord. In lieu of cleaning by Landlord or
a third party, Tenant may at any time opt to clean the Terrace by use of its own employees. Tenant shall provide reasonable prior notice to Landlord of its intention to
use its own employees to clean the Rooftop Terrace. Such cleaning by Tenant’s employees shall be subject to reasonable rules of Landlord to coordinate the cleaning
of the Rooftop Terrace with Landlord’s cleaning of the balance of the Premises.
 

Section 11.3   Electricity.
 

(a)     Landlord shall furnish to Tenant, through the transmission facilities initially installed by Landlord in the Building, alternating electrical energy
to be used by Tenant in the Premises for the operation of the lighting fixtures and Tenant’s business machines and equipment. Landlord shall install, at Landlord’s cost
and expense (without recoupment pursuant to Article 6 hereof), separate checkmeters to measure electricity consumption in the Premises, excluding electricity for
Base Building HVAC. Commencing on the Possession Date, Tenant shall pay for electricity monthly, based on the consumption shown on the checkmeters multiplied
by the rate for the Building, with no markup for Landlord, but Landlord shall have the right to pass through to Tenant any actual third party charges for meter reading
services.
 

(b)     Landlord shall provide a minimum of six (6) watts per useable square foot (connected load) excluding HVAC for the Premises.
 

(c)     Tenant’s use of electrical energy in the Premises shall not exceed the capacity of the feeders or wiring installations then serving the Premises.
In the event that, in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, Tenant’s electrical requirements necessitate installation of an additional riser, risers, or other proper and necessary
equipment, Landlord shall so notify Tenant of same. Within 30 days after receipt of such notice, Tenant shall either cease such use of additional electricity or agree to
install necessary additional electrical capacity, subject to Landlord’s prior approval of plans therefor. Tenant shall not, without prior consent of Landlord in each
instance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, make or perform, or permit the making or performing of, any alteration to wiring installations or other
electrical facilities in or serving the Premises or any additions to the electrical fixtures in the Premises.
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(d)     Intentionally Omitted.
 

(e)     Except to the extent resulting from Landlord’s negligence or willful acts or omissions, Landlord shall not in any way be liable or responsible to
Tenant for any loss or damage or expense that Tenant may sustain or incur if, during the Term, either the quantity or character of electrical energy is changed or is no
longer available or suitable for Tenant’s requirements. Landlord shall in no way be liable for any failure, inadequacy or defect in the character or supply of electrical
energy furnished to the Premises except for actual damage suffered by Tenant by reason of any such failure, inadequacy or defect resulting from the negligence or
willful misconduct of Landlord. In order that Landlord may at all times have all necessary information that it requires in order to maintain and protect its equipment,
Tenant shall not make any material alteration or material addition to the electrical equipment and/or appliances in the Premises without the prior written consent of
Landlord in each instance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
 

(f)     Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall purchase and install all bulbs (including, but not limited to, LED, incandescent and fluorescent) and ballasts
used in the Premises.
 

Section 11.4   Water. Landlord shall, at Landlord’s cost and expense (subject to recoupment to the extent permitted in Article 6 hereof), supply reasonably
adequate quantities of hot and cold water to a point or points in the Premises for ordinary lavatory, pantry use and drinking purposes. If Tenant requires, uses or
consumes water for any purpose in addition to ordinary lavatory, pantry and drinking purposes, Landlord, at Tenant’s cost and expense, may install a water meter and
thereby measure Tenant’s consumption of water for all purposes. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall maintain any such meter and any such installation
equipment in good working order and repair. Tenant shall pay for water consumed shown on the meter and sewer charges thereon with no markup for Landlord, but
Landlord shall have the right to pass through to Tenant any actual third party charges for meter reading services, such charges to be due and payable within thirty (30)
days after demand therefor.
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Section 11.5   Parking. (a)     Landlord, at its expense (but without affecting Landlord’s right to recoupment to the extent permitted in Article 6 herein), shall
maintain or cause to maintain in good working order and condition the Garage to be used by Tenant in common with other tenants of the Building and the Additional
Parking Lots and make all necessary repairs and replacements thereto. Tenant shall have the right to use during Building Hours up to, and Landlord shall make
available, a total of five (5) parking spaces per 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises (as may be reduced by Tenant as set forth herein, the “Maximum Spaces”)
on an unreserved basis and shall give Tenant at no charge the same number of parking cards (to the extent a card access security system exists) as spaces that access
both the Garage and the Additional Parking Lots; provided, however the number of parking cards provided to Tenant shall not exceed the number of Garage Spaces
and Additional Parking then-currently elected by Tenant as provided herein and shall be reduced to the extent Tenant reduces the number of Paid Spaces (as herein
defined). Of the Maximum Spaces, three (3) parking spaces per 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises (the “Garage Spaces”) shall be provided by Landlord in the
Garage at no charge to Tenant. Of the Maximum Spaces, up to two (2) parking spaces per 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises (the “Additional Parking”) shall
be provided by Landlord on an unreserved basis in either, at Landlord’s election, the newly constructed apartment complex being built or built by Landlord and/or its
Affiliates along Glover Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut or at one or more surface parking lots to be constructed in accordance with all Applicable Laws, each by
Landlord at Landlord’s cost without reimbursement from Tenant pursuant to Article 6 hereof or otherwise, to be located along Glover Avenue in Norwalk Connecticut
and as both are shown in the areas in “yellow” on Exhibit S attached hereto attached hereto and made a part hereof (such parking at either the newly constructed
apartment complex along Glover Avenue in Norwalk, Connecticut (“New Apartments”) or at one or more surface parking lots located along Glover Avenue in
Norwalk, Connecticut (“Surface Lots”) is hereinafter referred to as the “Additional Parking Lots”). Of the Additional Parking, one (1) parking space per 1,000
rentable square feet of the Premises shall be provided to Tenant at no charge and, at Tenant’s election, one (1) parking space per 1,000 rentable square feet of the
Premises shall be provided to Tenant at the rate of $(Redacted) per space per month of the Term (the “Paid Spaces”). Tenant shall provide Landlord with written
notice of any Paid Spaces required and such Paid Spaces shall be made available in increments of 50 spaces; provided, however, in the event Tenant requires more
than 150 Paid Spaces, Tenant shall be limited to and pay for a total of 173 Paid Spaces. Throughout the Term, Tenant shall have an ongoing right, at any time and from
time to time during the Term, upon not less than sixty (60) days written notice to Landlord, to reduce the number of Paid Spaces by increments of 50 spaces, at which
time the number of Paid Spaces shall be permanently reduced by such 50 space increment(s). In the event of a reduction of the number of Paid Spaces, Landlord shall
have no obligation to again provide the right to use such Paid Spaces that have been relinquished. Upon such reduction in Paid Spaces, “Paid Spaces” for the purposes
of this Lease shall be redefined to mean the new number of Paid Spaces and any parking cards provided for such relinquished Paid Spaces shall be returned promptly
to Landlord.
 

(b) Commencing when Tenant takes occupancy of the Premises for its business purposes, Landlord shall provide, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense,
shuttle service to and from the Additional Parking Lots containing the Additional Parking during Building Hours. In the event other tenants of the Building, the Park,
10 Glover Avenue, Norwalk, Connecticut, 20 Glover Building, the apartment buildings along Glover Avenue and/or any other buildings (collectively, the “Other
Buildings”) utilize such shuttle service, then Landlord shall allocate the cost of such shuttle service by and among Tenant and such other users of the shuttle service.
The allocable costs of providing such shuttle service shall be billed as a direct cost to each tenant of the Other Buildings that utilize the shuttle service. Landlord shall
construct, at Landlord’s cost and expense, a shuttle bus stop enclosure at the site of the Additional Parking Lots to protect persons from the elements, which enclosure
shall be available no later than the Commencement Date and substantially similar to the enclosure set forth on Exhibit T attached hereto. If Landlord relocates the
Additional Parking Lots from the New Apartments to Surface Lots (or vice versa) built by Landlord at its expense without reimbursement from Tenant, Landlord, at
its expense, shall build shuttle bus enclosures at the Additional Parking Lots for Tenant’s use, substantially similar to the enclosure set forth on Exhibit T attached
hereto.
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(c) Tenant acknowledges that the Garage may be used by others during non-Building Hours, provided however, in the event Tenant needs to use the Garage
Spaces during non-Building Hours, Tenant shall have the right to use the Garage Spaces during non-Building Hours to the extent such use remains consistent with
Tenant’s business purposes set forth in Section 5.1 hereof. Visitor parking is available in the surface lot in front of the entrance to the Building and is available 24
hours a day 365 days a year. There shall be no charge for visitor parking.
 

(d) Tenant shall have the right at any time to add software and/or hardware to each of the garage entries in the Park that will allow Tenant’s employees to be
prohibited from entry to the Garage and notified each time Tenant has utilized all of its Garage Spaces (the “Parking Solution”). If Tenant exercises such right, at
Tenant’s cost, Landlord and Tenant shall agree upon a parking consultant, who shall provide options to the Parking Solution, including budgeting costs for the
installation of such Parking Solution equipment. Based upon the options provided by the parking consultant, Landlord and Tenant shall determine a mutually agreeable
solution, including a firm cost for the agreed Parking Solution, and upon approval by the parties, Landlord, at Tenant’s cost, shall install such software and/or hardware
as the case may be. As a result of the installation of the Parking Solution equipment and Tenant providing the required information on employees and their
automobiles, Landlord shall provide parking passes to Tenant up to the number of Maximum Spaces and such parking passes shall provide access to the Garage and to
the Additional Parking Lots, if necessary. Prior to implementation of the Parking Solution, Landlord shall provide Tenant with the number of parking passes granting
access to the Garage equal to the number of Garage Spaces, and separate passes granting access only to the Additional Lots for the number of vehicles equal to the
remainder of the Maximum Spaces. If after installation of the Parking Solution, the Parking Solution fails to properly limit the number of Tenant’s Representatives
occupying the parking spaces within the Garage to the Garage Spaces, then Landlord may restrict the number of passes granting access to the Garage to the number of
Garage Spaces.
 

(e) Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to protect Tenant’s parking space allocation at any Surface Lots by installing (or causing others to
install) appropriate signage at such Surface Lots in Landlord’s reasonable discretion and, if requested by Tenant, towing (or causing others to tow) parking space
violators at Surface Lots, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.
 

Section 11.6   Building Communications. Tenant’s wireless communications and local area network shall not unreasonably interfere with that of services
provided by Landlord nor shall it unreasonably interfere with communications of other tenants in the Building, and Landlord shall require in leases with other tenants
of the Building that their wireless communications and local area networks not unreasonably interfere with communications of Tenant. Landlord shall have the right to
resolve disputes of wireless communications between tenants of the Building by establishing criteria as part of the Rules and Regulations promulgated in accordance
with the provisions of Article 29 for all tenants to adhere regarding the use of the 802.xx frequency band or other such wireless band communications within the
Building.
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Section 11.7   Interruption of Services. Landlord does not warrant that any of the services referred to above, or any other services which Landlord may supply,
will be free from interruption, and Tenant acknowledges that any one (1) or more such services may be temporarily suspended by reason of accident, repairs,
inspections, alterations or improvements necessary to be made, or by Unavoidable Delay (as hereinafter defined). Any common law or statute to the contrary
notwithstanding, except to the extent resulting from Landlord’s negligence or willful acts or as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, any such interruption or
discontinuance of service shall not be deemed an eviction or disturbance of Tenant’s use and possession of the Premises, or any part thereof, nor render Landlord liable
to Tenant for damages by abatement of the Rent or otherwise, nor relieve Tenant from performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease. Landlord shall, however,
exercise reasonable diligence to restore any service or utility so interrupted. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything to the contrary in this Lease, if: (i) (a) any
Essential Service (as defined in the following sentence) is discontinued to the Premises for more than five (5) consecutive days following notice thereof from Tenant to
Landlord; and (b) such discontinuance renders all or any significant portion of the Premises untenantable and all or such portion of the Premises is not used by Tenant
for the conduct of its business, then Rent shall thereupon abate, based upon the portion of the Premises so rendered untenantable and not used by Tenant until such
discontinuance is remedied; and (ii) other than in the event of a casualty, which shall be governed by the provisions of Article 15, (a) any Essential Service is
discontinued to the Premises for more than twelve (12) months following notice thereof from Tenant to Landlord; and (b) such discontinuance renders all or any
significant portion of the Premises untenantable and all or such portion of the Premises is not used by Tenant for the conduct of its business, Tenant shall have the right
to terminate this Lease upon notice to Landlord and, upon Landlord’s receipt of such notice, this Lease shall terminate on such date as if such date were the expiration
date hereunder. “Essential Service” means any of the following: heating or air-conditioning (as seasonally required), office electricity, elevator, water or plumbing.
The abatement provided for in this subsection shall not apply to any discontinuance of an Essential Service caused by casualty or condemnation.
 

Section 11.8   Access and Security. Tenant shall have 24-hour, 7-day-per-week, 365-day-per-year access to the Premises. Access shall be controlled by
electronic card and/or on-duty personnel. Should Tenant’s card keys be able to integrate with Landlord’s system, Tenant shall have the right to integrate its card keys
for access to the Building and the Premises onto Landlord’s system. Landlord shall maintain a manned security station and a security system with card key access,
surveillance system and camera monitoring, as more particularly set forth on Exhibit G attached hereto (the “Building Security Specifications”) 24-hours-per-day, 7-
days-per-week, 365-days-per-year. Landlord shall provide that all external doors to the Building shall be equipped with electronic card readers and that security
cameras shall cover all external door entrances to the Building and the Garage, which are actively monitored by Building security personnel and recorded on a DVR,
digital or similar device and otherwise as provided by Class A office buildings. The actual cost of such security shall be an Operating Expense as provided in Article 6.
Any additional security at the Premises desired by Tenant shall be at Tenant's sole cost and expense and Tenant shall have the right to install its own security system to
service the Premises; provided, Tenant shall provide Landlord with keys and/or electronic card access such that Landlord shall at all times have access to the Premises.
During non-Business Hours, a roving security guard shall provide for various tours of the Building, the Premises and the Park. In the event of any change to the
Building Security Specifications, Landlord’s property manager shall advise Tenant in writing of any such changes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall not
decrease the overall level of security set forth in the Building Security Specifications below the security standards at Comparable Buildings.
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Tenant shall have the right, subject to Applicable Laws, to use the fire stairs in the Building for vertical transport and Tenant may install card key
access in the stairwell to limit access to its full floors to Tenant, its employees, and contractors. Landlord and its property manager shall be provided keys, key codes,
cards, or badges to access the Premises from such locked fire stairs. Tenant, at its expense and subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval of plans and specifications
(which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), may make improvements to the fire stairs. Should Tenant make such improvements, Tenant, at Tenant’s expenses
shall provide all necessary repair and maintenance to such improvements so to keep them consistent with a Comparable Building standard. Furthermore, Tenant shall
remove all such improvements and repair any damage to the fire stairs resulting from such removal upon the expiration of the Lease. At Tenant’s request, Landlord
shall install, at Tenant’s cost, a mutually agreeable card key access system in the elevators allowing Tenant secure access to Tenant’s fully leased floors. Landlord shall
cause the Additional Parking Lots to be sufficiently lighted. Landlord, at Tenant’s request and expense (unless shared by others) shall cause security personnel to
patrol any Surface Lot just before and after dusk until the shuttle has made its last stop for the day.
 

Section 11.9   Cafeteria, Coffee Bar and Conference Center. As part of Landlord’s Work, Landlord will construct the cafeteria and coffee bar as more
particularly set forth in Exhibit I and Tenant’s and its employees and invitees shall have the right to use the same. In connection with the cafeteria, Landlord shall hire
a first-class cafeteria operator, subject to Tenant’s reasonable approval not to be unreasonably withheld. Landlord and Tenant agree that FLIK is deemed an acceptable
cafeteria operator. During the Term, should Tenant be dissatisfied with the cafeteria operator from a service or cost perspective, Tenant shall have the right to notice
Landlord explaining in detail the issues with the cafeteria operator. Landlord will have thirty (30) days to address and cure any bona fide deficiencies. Should the
cafeteria operator fail to cure the deficiencies, then Tenant shall have the right to recommend a replacement operator. Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree,
exercising reasonableness, on the replacement cafeteria operator and Landlord shall replace the failing operator. The cafeteria shall commence operation no later than
the date Tenant first occupies the Premises for the conduct of its business. Should Tenant request the cafeteria to be open on Building Holidays, Tenant shall be
required to pay 100% of all costs to operate the cafeteria including but not limited to food costs, personnel costs, and operating costs, unless any other tenant(s) in the
Building or the Park also require the cafeteria to operate on Building Holidays in which case such costs shall be equitably prorated. In connection with the coffee bar,
Tenant shall have the right to terminate the coffee bar service on ninety (90) days’ notice to Landlord should the cafeteria operator fail to operate the coffee bar as a
profitable profit center and any operating costs associated with the coffee bar from and after ninety (90) days after such notice shall be given by Tenant shall no longer
be included in Operating Expenses. Tenant acknowledges that the cafeteria and coffee bar may be used by other tenants (and their visitors) at the Park. In the event
other tenants in the Park utilize the cafeteria or coffee bar, then any operating costs related to the cafeteria or coffee bar, as the case may be, shall be shared amongst all
tenants that utilize the coffee bar or cafeteria, as applicable.
 

Landlord shall provide access to the operator’s financials for the coffee bar and the cafeteria. Such financials shall reflect sources of income for each profit
center, including but not limited to Tenant and other tenant pantry services, catering, food and beverage sales, as the case may be and shall reflect all operating costs
for the profit centers.
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Tenant shall have the right to install, at Tenant’s cost, a system or software that permits Tenant’s employees to take advantage of any subsidy offered by
Tenant at the time each employee makes purchases from the cafeteria or coffee bar (the “Subsidy System/Software”). The cafeteria provider will operate such Tenant
system, and any costs for the repair or replacement of the components of the Tenant system or software (which may be separate from the base POS system used by the
cafeteria operator and coffee bar operator) shall be part of the operational costs of the cafeteria or coffee bar, as the case may be.
 

Tenant shall have the right to reserve space in the Conference Center during non-lunch hours and/or in connection with corporate events previously approved
by Landlord at the rental rates established by Landlord. Tenant and its employees and visitors shall, at no additional charge, have use of the Conference Center in
common with others during lunch hours (when the cafeteria is operational on Business Days) for Tenant, its employees and visitors to eat-in.
 

Section 11.10   LEED. In the event Landlord elects to purchase “green power”, any such incremental cost above rates achievable in the market shall not be
included in Operating Expenses. Landlord shall endeavor to provide Tenant with information relating to any “green” initiatives contemplated by Landlord for the
Premises and, if reports are available from providers on the reduction of the carbon footprint of the Building, Landlord shall provide Tenant with copies of such reports
at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.
 

Section 11.11   Generator.
 

(a)     Landlord shall keep and maintain in good condition and repair a generator on the Property (the “Building Generator”) that produces sufficient
electric energy to fully power the Building life safety systems in the event of a loss of electric energy from the electric utility in accordance with Applicable Laws.
 

(b)     In addition to the Building Generator, Tenant may install, at any time and at no additional charge payable to Landlord upon Landlord’s
approval of Tenant’s plans and specifications, and thereafter access and maintain, repair, replace, use and operate a diesel generator, associated fuel tank, wiring and all
necessary ancillary equipment thereto for Tenant’s business operations within the Building (“Tenant Generator”), on the Property, subject to compliance with
Applicable Laws, in a location to be reasonably determined by Landlord and Tenant (and, if installed in connection with the Tenant Improvements the location
suggested by Landlord is set forth on Exhibit H), in accordance with Article 9 or Article 22, as applicable, and so as to not materially adversely affect any tenant or
occupant of the Building and the character of the Building and further subject to Tenant paying for all costs and expenses for such installation, access and
maintenance. The Tenant Generator shall be appropriately screened or otherwise enclosed in a manner reasonably acceptable to Landlord. Tenant may remove but
shall not be required to remove any such Tenant Generator (or the fuel oil tank or other equipment attendant thereto) at the expiration or sooner termination of this
Lease. Tenant shall have the right to conduct weekly testing at times previously approved by Landlord and Tenant shall conduct regular preventative maintenance of
any Tenant Generator and Landlord shall reasonably cooperate with Tenant to do the same.
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ARTICLE 12

Assignment and Subleasing
 

Section 12.1   Rights and Obligations of Tenant.
 

(a)    Tenant may not mortgage, pledge or otherwise encumber its interest in this Lease or in any sublease of the Premises or any part thereof or the
rentals payable thereunder. Any such mortgage, pledge or encumbrance, made in violation of this Section shall be void. Provided that no Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing, and with Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, Tenant may sublease the
Premises or any portion thereof, and the interest of Tenant in this Lease may be assigned; provided that any such sublease or assignment shall expressly be subject and
subordinate to the provisions of this Lease and no such sublease shall permit the subtenant thereunder to pay rent in advance for a period of more than one (1) month,
and provided, further, that no such sublease or assignment shall affect or reduce any obligations of Tenant or any rights of Landlord hereunder and each sublease shall
require the subtenant, after an Event of Default hereunder, to attorn to Landlord, at Landlord’s request. All obligations of the then current Tenant hereunder shall
continue in full effect as the obligations of a principal and not of a guarantor or surety, to the same extent as though no assignment or sublease had been made. If
Tenant assigns its interest in this Lease, the assignee shall, in an instrument delivered to Landlord at the time of such assignment, and in form and substance reasonably
acceptable to Landlord, expressly assume all the obligations of Tenant hereunder accruing on and after the effective date of the assignment. Tenant shall, within ten
(10) days after the execution of any such sublease or assignment, deliver an executed copy thereof to Landlord. An assignee with a net worth of at least $(Redacted) at
the time of such proposed assignment shall be deemed to be financially acceptable to Landlord. No subtenant may further sublease any part of the Premises or assign
its interest in the sublease without Landlord’s prior written consent. Tenant may list part or all of the Premises with a broker. This Lease shall not, nor shall any interest
herein, be assignable as to the interest of Tenant involuntarily or by operation of law without the prior written consent of Landlord, and any such assignment without
the prior written consent of Landlord shall be void and shall, at the option of Landlord, constitute an Event of Default, subject to the provisions of Article 17 of this
Lease, provided, that a merger, consolidation or similar reorganization or change of control of Tenant where Tenant’s obligations are assumed by the successor entity
by operation of law shall not be deemed to be a prohibited assignment hereunder.
 

(b)    No assignment or sublease whatsoever shall release Tenant from Tenant’s obligations and liabilities under this Lease (which shall continue as
the obligations of a principal and not of a guarantor or surety) or alter the primary liability of Tenant to pay all Rent and to perform all obligations to be paid and
performed by Tenant. The acceptance of Rent by Landlord from any other person or entity shall not be deemed to be a waiver by Landlord of any provision of this
Lease. If any assignee, subtenant or successor of Tenant defaults beyond any applicable notice and cure period provided in this Lease in the performance of any
obligation to be performed by Tenant under this Lease, Landlord may proceed directly against Tenant without the necessity of exhausting remedies against such
assignee, subtenant or successor.
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(c)    Tenant shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of invoices therefor, reimburse Landlord for costs incurred by Landlord, including without
limitation, actual and reasonable attorneys’ fees in investigating the proposed subtenant or assignee, reviewing the proposed assignment or sublease and negotiating
the form of Landlord’s consent. In addition, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as Additional Rent, within thirty (30) days after receipt of payments from a subtenant or
assignee, fifty percent (50%) of any “net profit” on a subletting or assignment, i.e., the excess of consideration of any type received by Tenant from the subtenant or
assignee, over (in the case of a sublease only) a prorata portion of the Rent payable by Tenant hereunder, in any event reduced by Tenant’s commercially reasonable
third-party costs of effecting the assignment or sublease, including without limitation, brokerage and attorneys’ fees, marketing costs, rent free periods or other tenant
concessions and necessary alterations to the Premises.
 

Section 12.2   Recapture; Consent. If Tenant desires to assign this Lease or to sublease all or substantially all of the Premises in the aggregate for substantially
the balance of the Term, Tenant shall first give notice to Landlord of the proposed assignment or sublease and the terms thereof, and subject to Section 12.4 hereof,
Landlord shall have the right, by notice to Tenant within fifteen (15) days after receipt of Tenant’s notice, to terminate this Lease effective as of the intended effective
date of the proposed assignment or sublease, and, notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary, Tenant shall surrender the Premises in its as-is, where-is
condition. If Landlord elects not to so terminate this Lease, then Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to the proposed subletting or assignment.
 

Section 12.3   Assignment of Rents. Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord all security deposits and rents due or to become due from any subtenant, effective
during an Event of Default under the provisions of this Lease. Thereupon, Landlord shall apply any net amount collected by it from subtenants to the Rent due under
this Lease. No collection of Rent by Landlord from an assignee of this Lease or from a subtenant shall constitute a waiver of any of the provisions of this Article or an
acceptance of the assignee or subtenant as a tenant or a release of Tenant from performance by Tenant of its obligations under this Lease. Tenant shall not directly or
indirectly collect or accept any payment of subrent under any sublease more than one (1) month in advance of the date when the same shall become due. Each sublease
shall require the subtenant to attorn to Landlord, at Landlord’s request, during an Event of Default by Tenant under this Lease. During an Event of Default by Tenant
under this Lease, Landlord shall have the right to require subtenants to make their rent payments directly to Landlord.
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Section 12.4   Transfer to Successor or Affiliate. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein and provided no Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing, Tenant may, without Landlord’s consent, on not less than ten (10) Business Days’ notice to Landlord (provided that, if Tenant is prohibited
or restricted from such advance notice due to securities, regulatory or confidentiality requirements, then Tenant shall notify Landlord promptly after it is permitted to
do so), and further provided such notice shall include an executed counterpart of the assignment or sublease (which, in the case of an assignment, shall provide that the
assignee assumes directly for the benefit of Landlord all of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease from and after the date of the assignment and in the case of a
sublease, provides that same is subject and subordinate to this Lease in all respects), assign this Lease or sublet all or any portion of the Premises to a Successor or
Affiliate of Tenant. Such assignment or sublease to an Affiliate or Successor shall not require compliance with Section 12.1(a), Section 12.1(c) or Section 12.2 of this
Article 12. If thereafter the assignee or subtenant shall no longer be an Affiliate of Tenant, then that shall be deemed a new assignment or sublease, as the case may be,
subject to this Article 12. Net worth of an entity shall be evidenced by the most recently available audited financial statements delivered to Landlord. Such sublease or
assignment shall not release Tenant from its obligations hereunder, as specified in subsection 12.1(b) herein. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein,
the transfer of the outstanding capital stock of Tenant, or the stock of any entity controlling tenant, through the “over-the-counter market” or through any U.S. or
foreign recognized stock exchange, shall not be deemed an assignment or prohibited transfer.
 

ARTICLE 13

Subordination and Attornment
 

Section 13.1   Subordination; Nondisturbance Agreement.
 

(a)    Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause (i) any trustee, mortgagee or holder of a Superior Mortgage (a “Mortgagee”)
secured by Landlord’s interest in the Property (a “Mortgage”) to execute and deliver to Tenant an agreement substantially similar to that attached hereto as Exhibit L,
which provides to the effect that, if there shall be a foreclosure of its Mortgage, such Mortgagee will not make Tenant a party defendant to such foreclosure, evict
Tenant, disturb Tenant’s possession under this Lease, or terminate or disturb Tenant’s leasehold estate or rights hereunder, and will recognize Tenant as the direct
tenant of such Mortgagee on the same terms and conditions as are contained in this Lease, subject to the provisions hereinafter set forth, provided no Event of Default
shall have occurred and be continuing hereunder; and (ii) a lessor (a “Lessor”) under a ground lease of the Property (a “Ground Lease”) to execute and deliver to
Tenant an agreement substantially similar to that attached hereto as Exhibit L, which provides to the effect that if its Ground Lease shall terminate or be terminated for
any reason, Lessor will not evict Tenant, disturb Tenant’s possession under the Lease, or terminate or disturb Tenant’s leasehold estate or rights hereunder, and will
recognize Tenant as the direct tenant of such Lessor on the same terms and conditions as are contained in this Lease (subject to the provisions hereinafter set forth),
provided no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and Lessor shall not make Tenant a party in any action to terminate such Ground Lease or to
remove or evict Tenant from the Premises provided no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing (any such agreement, or any agreement of similar
import, from a Mortgagee or a Lessor, as the case may be, which is in a commercially reasonable form, being hereinafter referred to as a “Nondisturbance
Agreement”). In the event Landlord delivers to Tenant a Nondisturbance Agreement substantially similar to that attached hereto as Exhibit L executed by Landlord
and Mortgagee, this Lease shall be subject and subordinate to such Superior Lease and/or to such Mortgage. If the date of expiration of any Ground Lease shall be the
same day as the expiration date hereunder, the Term shall end and expire 12 hours prior to the expiration of the Ground Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, on the
Effective Date, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a Nondisturbance Agreement in substantially the same form as attached to Exhibit L attached hereto from the current
Mortgagee. Landlord represents to Tenant that the only Mortgage of record as of the date hereof is that certain Consolidated, Amended and Restated Open-End
Mortgage Deed, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing from 25 Glover Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC, 45 Glover
Partners, LLC, and Merritt River Commercial LLC, in favor of Bank of America, N.A., in the original principal amount of $335,700,000.00 dated November 17, 2016
and recorded in Volume 8440 at Page 1 of the Norwalk Land Records. Tenant may record any Nondisturbance Agreement in the Land Records of Norwalk, CT, that
Tenant shall cause to be paid all costs, taxes, and expenses necessary for the recordation thereof.
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Section 13.2   Attornment. If at any time prior to the expiration of the Term, any Ground Lease shall terminate or be terminated for any reason or any
Mortgagee comes into possession of the Property or the estate created by any Ground Lease by receiver or otherwise, Tenant agrees, at the election and upon demand
of any owner of the Property, or of the Lessor, or of any Mortgagee in possession of the Property, to attorn, from time to time, to any such owner, Lessor or Mortgagee
or any person acquiring the interest of Landlord as a result of any such termination, or as a result of a foreclosure of the Mortgage or the granting of a deed in lieu of
foreclosure, then upon the executory terms and conditions of this Lease, for the remainder of the Term, provided that such owner, Lessor or Mortgagee, as the case
may be, or receiver caused to be appointed by any of the foregoing, shall then be entitled to possession of the Premises. The provisions of this Section shall enure to
the benefit of any such owner, Lessor or Mortgagee, shall apply notwithstanding that, as a matter of law, this Lease may terminate upon the termination of any Ground
Lease, and shall be self-operative upon any such demand, and no further instrument shall be required to give effect to said provisions. Subject to any Nondisturbance
Agreement delivered by Tenant, nothing contained in this Section shall be construed to impair any right otherwise exercisable by any such owner, Lessor or
Mortgagee.
 

Section 13.3   Lease Modification. Tenant shall execute and deliver to Landlord within a reasonable period of time any reasonable modifications of this Lease
required or requested by the holder or potential holder of a Mortgage, provided that no such modification shall adversely affect Tenant’s rights or obligations
hereunder, including without limitation, such modifications shall not affect the Term or amount of Rent payable hereunder.
 

ARTICLE 14

Landlord’s Right of Entry; Roof Rights; Etc.
 

Section 14.1   Right of Entry. Landlord and Landlord’s Representatives shall have the right to enter the Premises at any time during normal business hours
upon reasonable prior notice to Tenant (at least 24 hours’ notice, except in the event of an emergency, in which case no notice shall be required), in order to perform its
obligations under this Lease or exercise any of its rights under this Lease, including, without limitation: (a) to examine the Premises or for the purpose of performing
any obligation of Landlord or exercising any right or remedy reserved to Landlord in this Lease; (b) to exhibit the Premises to a prospective tenant, purchaser,
mortgagee, ground Landlord of the Building, or others during the last 18 months of the Term, provided Tenant has not delivered timely a Renewal Notice, (c) to make
such repairs, alterations, improvements or additions or to perform such maintenance, including the maintenance of all air conditioning, elevator, plumbing, electrical,
sanitary, mechanical and other service or utility systems as Landlord may deem necessary or desirable and Landlord shall clean-up its equipment at the end of each
day; (d) to take all materials into and upon the Premises that may be required in connection with any such repairs, alterations, improvements, additions or
maintenance; (e) to post notices of non-responsibility and notices required by Applicable Laws; and (f) to examine permits in Tenant’s possession with respect to the
Premises, all of which should be customary and adequate and reasonably satisfactory to Landlord. Landlord shall exercise its rights under this Section in a manner that
will not unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s use of the Premises as provided in Section 5.1 hereof or Tenant’s operation in the Premises.
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Section 14.2   Rooftop Equipment. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right, for no additional rental charge, to install, access, maintain and use roof
equipment, including, without limitation, air conditioning units, radiometers, two (2) satellite dishes and other equipment needed for its operations and to run conduit
from the roof to the Premises in connection therewith (collectively, the “Rooftop Equipment”) on the roof of the Building, subject to compliance with Applicable
Laws, in a manner and pursuant to plans and specifications reasonably acceptable to Landlord and so as to not adversely affect the performance of any Building
Systems or another tenant’s system existing at the time of Tenant’s installation and further subject to Tenant paying for all costs and expenses for such installation,
access and maintenance. Tenant shall take all actions necessary to prevent any such installations from adversely affecting applicable warranties with respect to the
roof. Any installation of Rooftop Equipment shall be subject to available rooftop space and Landlord’s prior approval of equipment list, plans and proposed locations,
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Tenant shall also have the right to reasonably connect its own fiber optic systems to the systems existing in the
Building, subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval as to the nature and details of such connections. Tenant at its expense shall remove the Rooftop Equipment prior to
the Lease Expiration Date, the end of the final Renewal Term, if exercised, or the earlier termination of this Lease and shall repair any damage to the Premises
resulting from such removal, reasonable wear and tear and damage by casualty and condemnation excepted.
 

Section 14.3   Supplemental HVAC. Tenant shall have the right to install, access and maintain supplemental HVAC for the Premises (“Supplemental
HVAC”), subject to compliance with Applicable Laws, in a manner and pursuant to plans and specifications reasonably acceptable to Landlord and further subject to
Tenant paying for all costs and expenses for such installation, access and maintenance.
 

ARTICLE 15

Casualty
 

Section 15.1   Restoration; Abatement.
 

(a)     If the Building, the Garage, the Premises or any part thereof shall be damaged by fire or other casualty, Tenant shall give reasonably prompt
notice thereof to Landlord, and upon such notice Landlord shall proceed with reasonable diligence to repair or cause to be repaired such damage to the Building
(including, without limitation, the Planned Amenities), the Garage and the Premises (including, without limitation, access thereto) to substantially the same condition
as prior to the casualty, excluding Tenant Improvements, Alterations and Tenant’s Property. Landlord’s restoration obligation shall be subject to Applicable Laws, and
Landlord shall have no obligation to repair, replace or restore any Tenant Improvements, Alterations or Tenant’s Property.
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(b)     Rent shall abate in the proportion that the Premises shall have been rendered untenantable, or, if the damage (i) involves more than twenty-five
percent (25%) of the rentable square footage of the Premises, (ii) impedes access to the Premises rendering the Premises untenantable or (iii) materially impairs major
building systems, Rent shall fully abate. Such abatement to be from the date of such casualty until the earlier of (i) Tenant’s completion of such Alterations to the
Premises to substantially the same condition as prior to the casualty so that Tenant may occupy the same for its business purposes and a certificate of occupancy for
the Building shall have been issued, and (ii) six (6) months following the date such repairs which are required to be performed by Landlord pursuant to Section 15.1(a)
above, other than Long Lead Work (as hereinafter defined), are substantially completed and a certificate of occupancy for the Landlord’s required restoration of the
Building shall have been issued. Landlord shall promptly and diligently in a good and workmanlike manner complete the Long Lead Work. If the Additional Parking
is destroyed, Landlord, at its expense, shall provide replacement Additional Parking in accordance with Section 11.5 hereof and, until such Additional Parking is
replaced, the charge for the Paid Spaces shall be abated.
 

Section 15.2    Tenant’s Right of Termination.
 

(a)     Within ninety (90) days after notice to Landlord of any damage described in Section 15.1 herein, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a statement
setting forth such Landlord’s good faith estimate as to the time required to repair such damage, exclusive of time required to perform Long Lead Work (the
“Estimate”). If the estimated time period exceeds twelve (12) months from the date of the Estimate, Tenant may elect to terminate this Lease by notice to Landlord
not later than sixty (60) days following receipt of the Estimate. If Tenant makes such election, the Term shall expire upon the thirtieth (30th) day after notice of such
election is given by Tenant, and Tenant shall vacate the Premises and surrender the same to Landlord as if such date were the expiration date of this Lease (provided,
that such obligation shall be subject to Tenant being reasonably and safely able to access the Premises to comply with such obligation in light of the casualty) except
that Tenant shall have no restoration obligations notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, and any prepaid portion of Rent shall be abated as of
such date of damage or destruction and shall be refunded by Landlord to Tenant. If Tenant shall not have elected to terminate this Lease pursuant to this Article, the
damage shall be diligently repaired by Landlord, as set forth in this Article, provided, that if Landlord fails to substantially complete the repair on or prior to the
thirtieth (30th) day after the expiration of the repair period set forth in the Estimate, then Tenant may (but shall not be obligated to) perform such repair for Landlord’s
account or terminate the Lease upon notice to Landlord, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense.
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(b)     Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such damage occurs during the last two (2) years of the Term and if the estimated time period set forth in the
Estimate delivered pursuant to subsection (a) above exceeds one hundred eighty (180) days from the date of the Estimate (exclusive of time required to perform Long
Lead Work), then Tenant may give notice to Landlord of its intention to terminate this Lease and Tenant shall vacate the Premises and surrender the same to Landlord
as if such date were the expiration date of this Lease (provided, that such obligation shall be subject to Tenant being reasonably and safely able to access the Premises
to comply with such obligation in light of the casualty) except that Tenant shall have no restoration obligations notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this Lease, and any prepaid portion of Rent shall be abated as of such date of damage or destruction and shall be refunded by Landlord to Tenant.
 

(c)     For purposes of this Lease, the term “Long Lead Work” shall mean any item which is not a stock item and must be specially manufactured,
fabricated or installed or is of such an unusual, delicate or fragile nature that there is a substantial risk that: (i) there will be a delay in its manufacture, fabrication,
delivery or installation, or (ii) after delivery, such item will need to be reshipped or redelivered or repaired so that in Landlord’s reasonable judgment the item in
question cannot be completed when the standard items are completed even though the item of Long Lead Work in question is (x) ordered together with the other items
required and (y) installed or performed (after the manufacturer or fabrication thereof) in the order and sequence that such Long Lead Work and other items are
normally installed or performed in accordance with good construction practice. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Landlord required Long Lead Work is required
for Landlord to obtain a certificate of occupancy for the Building or for Tenant to obtain a certificate of occupancy for its tenant improvements, or if any Long Lead
Work precludes Tenant’s use of the Building, Premises, and Garage, Base Building Systems, cafeteria or conference facility to conduct its business, then Landlord
shall provide temporary improvements sufficient to allow Landlord to procure a certificate of occupancy for the Building and Tenant to procure a certificate of
occupancy for its Premises (after Tenant has performed its own improvements to the Premises) and the reasonable use of all such facilities for conducting Tenant’s
business until the Long Lead Work can be completed with the Landlord using reasonably diligent efforts to complete the Long Lead Work as soon as reasonably
possible thereafter.
 

Section 15.3   Landlord’s Right of Termination. If more than fifty (50%) of the Building shall be damaged by fire or other casualty, then Landlord may, at its
option, provided it terminates the leases of all similarly situated tenants, terminate this Lease by giving Tenant thirty (30) days’ notice of such termination, which
notice shall be given within sixty (60) days after the date of such damage. In the event that such notice of termination shall be given, (a) this Lease shall terminate as
of the date thirty (30) days after the giving of the notice of termination (whether or not the Term shall have commenced) with the same effect as if that were the
expiration date of the Term except that Tenant shall have no restoration obligations notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease; (b) Rent shall be
apportioned as of the date of damage or destruction; and (c) any prepaid portion of Rent shall be abated as of the date of damage or destruction and shall be refunded
by Landlord to Tenant. If, at any time prior to Landlord giving Tenant the aforesaid notice of termination or commencing the repair and restoration pursuant to Section
15.2, the holder of a Mortgage takes possession of the Building through foreclosure or otherwise, such holder or person shall have a further period of thirty (30) days
from the date of so taking possession to terminate this Lease, under the same terms and conditions as set forth in this Section, by 30 days’ written notice of
termination. If such notice shall be given, this Lease shall terminate as of the date provided in such notice of termination (whether or not the Term shall have
commenced) with the same effect as if that were the expiration date of the Term hereof except that Tenant shall have no restoration obligations notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, and Rent shall be abated as of the date of damage or destruction, and any prepaid portion of Rent for any period after
such date shall be refunded by Landlord to Tenant.
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Section 15.4   Liability. Except for Landlord’s gross negligence or willful acts, Landlord shall not be liable for any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or
injury to the business of Tenant resulting in any way from such damage by fire or other casualty or the repair thereof. Landlord will not carry insurance of any kind on
Tenant’s Property. If Landlord shall be delayed from substantially completing the repairs or restoration due to any act or omission of Tenant or any of Tenant’s
Representatives, then such repairs or restoration shall be deemed substantially complete on the date when the repairs or restoration would have been substantially
complete but for such delay, and the expiration of the Rent abatement shall not be postponed by reason of such delay.
 

Section 15.5   Cooperation. Landlord and Tenant shall cooperate with each other in providing information to an insurance company with respect to any loss or
damage occurring in the Building and shall not interfere with the other’s collection of insurance proceeds.
 

Section 15.6   Intentionally Omitted.
 

Section 15.7   Express Agreement. This Lease shall be considered an express agreement governing any case of damage to or destruction of the Property or
any part thereof by fire or other casualty, and any law providing for such contingency in the absence of such express agreement, now or hereafter enacted, shall have
no application in such case.
 

ARTICLE 16

Eminent Domain
 

Section 16.1   Termination Rights.
 

(a)    If the whole of the Premises or more than twenty-five percent (25%) thereof, or such part thereof as will render the remainder untenantable or
inaccessible for the use permitted hereunder shall be acquired or condemned for any public or quasi-public use or purpose, this Lease shall end as of the date of the
vesting of title in the condemning authority (either through court order or by voluntary conveyance by Landlord in lieu of condemnation) with the same effect as if
said date were the expiration date of this Lease, except that Tenant shall have no restoration obligations notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Lease. Landlord shall give Tenant prompt written notice of any written notice of condemnation received by Landlord affecting the Property. If only a part the Premises
shall be so acquired or condemned so as not to render the same untenantable or inaccessible, then, except as otherwise provided in this Article, this Lease and the Term
shall continue in force and effect, but from and after the date of the vesting of title, the Fixed Rent shall be reduced based on the amount of rentable square feet of the
Premises condemned, and any Additional Rent payable or credits receivable pursuant to Article 6 herein shall be similarly reduced to reflect the diminution of the
Premises.
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(b)     If more than 25% of the Building, more than 25% of the Garage, any of the Additional Parking or any of the visitor parking shall be so
acquired or condemned, and, if by reason of such acquisition or condemnation, Tenant no longer has reasonable means of access to or use of (i) the Premises, (ii) the
Garage Spaces, (iii) the Additional Parking (provided that Landlord shall have the right at its cost and expense to relocate the Additional Parking within the area
marked in “yellow” on Exhibit S attached hereto), (iv) the cafeteria, the Conference Center or the fitness center (each as described on Exhibit I attached hereto and
collectively, the “Limited Amenities”) (provided that Landlord shall have the right at its cost and expense to relocate and make available to Tenant such amenities
elsewhere within the Park), or (v) the visitor parking (provided that Landlord shall have the right at its cost and expense to relocate the visitor parking in the Garage or
elsewhere in the Park) or by reason of such acquisition or taking the lobby of the Building no longer contains Comparable Building standard finishes (but in no event
shall the reduction in size of the lobby be a factor in evaluating a Comparable Building standard), then Landlord or Tenant, at its option, may give to the other party,
within sixty (60) days following the date upon which such party shall have received notice of vesting of title, ninety (90) days’ notice of termination of this Lease. In
the event any such ninety (90) day notice of termination is given, this Lease shall terminate upon the sooner of the date of title vesting and expiration of said ninety
(90) days with the same effect as if the date were the expiration date of this Lease, except that Tenant shall have no restoration obligations notwithstanding anything to
the contrary contained in this Lease. If a part of the Building, the Garage, the Additional Parking Lots, the Limited Amenities or visitor parking shall be so acquired or
condemned, and the Lease shall not be terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Section, Landlord, at its expense (but subject to recoupment from the proceeds of
any award), shall restore that part of the Premises, the Building and the Property not so acquired or condemned to a self-contained rental unit and substantially the
same condition as prior thereto, excluding Tenant’s Property. In the event of any termination of this Lease pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the Rent shall be
apportioned as of the date of such termination.
 

Section 16.2     The Award. In the event of any such acquisition or condemnation of all or any part of the Property, Landlord shall be entitled to receive the
entire award for any such acquisition or condemnation. Tenant shall have no claim against Landlord or the condemning authority for the value of any unexpired
portion of the Term, and Tenant hereby expressly assigns to Landlord all of its right, title and interest in and to any such award. Tenant shall execute any and all further
documents that may be required in order to facilitate the collection thereof by Landlord. Nothing contained in this Section shall be deemed to prevent Tenant from
making a separate claim in any condemnation proceedings for any Tenant Improvements, Alterations, furniture, partitions, equipment, relocation expenses, goodwill,
loss of business, moving expenses and for the value of any Tenant’s Property (in excess of the unamortized portion of Landlord’s contribution thereto).
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Section 16.3     Temporary Taking. Except as otherwise provided below, if the temporary use or occupancy of all or any part of the Premises shall be
condemned or taken for any public or quasi-public use or purpose during the Term, this Lease shall be and remain unaffected by such condemnation or taking except
that Rent shall abate with regard to the portion of the Premises taken during such temporary use or occupancy and Tenant shall continue to pay the balance of the Rent
in full. In the event of any such condemnation or taking, Tenant shall be entitled to appear, claim, prove and receive the entire award related to the temporary taking of
the Tenant Improvements, Alterations, and Tenant’s Property and Landlord shall be entitled to receive any portion of such award as relates to use and occupancy. If the
period of temporary use or occupancy extends beyond the Lease Expiration Date, in which event Landlord shall be entitled to appear, claim, prove and receive that
portion of the award as represents the cost of restoration of the Premises, excluding, however, Tenant’s Property and the balance of any such award shall be
apportioned between Landlord and Tenant as of the Lease Expiration Date. At the termination of such public or quasi-public occupancy prior to the Lease Expiration
Date, Landlord shall, at its expense, repair and restore the Building, including, without limitation, the Premises and Garage, as nearly as possible to the condition in
which they were prior to the condemnation or taking, excluding, however, the Tenant Improvements and Alterations, and if prior to the expiration of the Term, Tenant
shall, at its expense, repair and restore the Alterations and Tenant Improvements. If the temporary taking is not over until after the expiration of the Term, the portion
of the award for the Tenant Improvements and Alterations shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord. If the temporary taking is for a period longer than one (1) year Tenant
may terminate this Lease upon 45 days’ notice to Landlord, and in the event of such termination, Landlord alone shall be entitled to appear, claim, prove and receive
the entire award, except that Tenant can make a separate claim for items set forth in the last sentence of Section 16.2 herein and, as in Section 16.1(a) above, Tenant
shall have no restoration obligations notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease.
 

ARTICLE 17

Default
 

Section 17.1    Events of Default. Each of the following events shall be an “Event of Default” hereunder:
 

(a)     if Tenant shall file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or insolvency, or shall be adjudicated as bankrupt or insolvent, or shall file any petition or
answer seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future federal
bankruptcy act or any other present or future applicable federal, state or other statute or law, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors or shall seek or
consent to or acquiesce in the appointment of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of Tenant or of all or any part of Tenant’s Property; or
 

(b)     if, within 90 days after the commencement of any such proceeding against Tenant, such proceeding shall not have been dismissed, or if, within
90 days after the appointment of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of Tenant, or of all or a substantial part of Tenant’s property, without the consent or acquiescence of
Tenant, such appointment shall not have been vacated or otherwise discharged, or if any execution or attachment shall be issued against Tenant or any of Tenant’s
property pursuant to which the Premises shall be taken or occupied or attempted to be taken or occupied; or
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(c)     if Tenant shall default in the payment when due of any installment of Fixed Rent or in the payment when due of any Additional Rent, and such
default shall continue for a period of ten (10) days after written notice to Tenant; or
 

(d)     if Tenant shall default in the observance or performance of any term, covenant or condition of this Lease on Tenant’s part to be observed or
performed (other than the covenants for the payment of Rent) and Tenant shall fail to remedy such default within thirty (30) days after notice by Landlord to Tenant of
such default, or if such default is of such a nature that it cannot with due diligence be completely remedied within said period of thirty (30) days, Tenant shall not
commence within said period of thirty (30) days and thereafter diligently prosecute to completion, all steps necessary to remedy such default; or
 

(e)     if any event shall occur or any contingency shall arise whereby this Lease or the estate hereby granted or the unexpired balance of the Term
would, by operation of law or otherwise, devolve upon or pass to any person, firm or corporation other than Tenant, except as is expressly permitted under Article 12
herein;
 
then in any of said events Landlord may give to Tenant notice of intention to end the Term at the expiration of three (3) Business Days from the date of the giving of
such notice, and, in the event such notice is given, this Lease (whether or not the Term shall have commenced) shall terminate upon the expiration of said three (3)
Business Days with the same effect as if that day were the expiration date of this Lease, and all rights of Tenant under this Lease shall expire and terminate and Tenant
shall immediately quit and surrender the Premises but Tenant shall remain liable for all of its obligations hereunder and for Rent and/or damages, as provided in
Article 18 herein.
 

Section 17.2    Use and Occupancy Payments. Any monies received by Landlord from or on behalf of Tenant during the pendency of any proceeding or the
types referred to in Section 18.1 herein shall be deemed paid as compensation for the use and occupation of the Premises, and the acceptance of any such
compensation by Landlord shall not be deemed an acceptance of Rent or a waiver on the part of Landlord of any rights under Article 18 herein.
 

ARTICLE 18

Re-entry by Landlord; Remedies
 

Section 18.1    Re-entry. If this Lease and the Term shall terminate as provided in Article 18 herein:
 

(a)     Landlord and Landlord’s agents may immediately, or at any time after such Event of Default or after the date upon which this Lease shall
terminate, peaceably re-enter the Premises or any part thereof, without notice, either by summary proceeding or by any other applicable action or proceeding, and may
repossess the Premises and dispossess Tenant and any other persons from the Premises and remove any and all of its or their property and effects from the Premises,
and in no event shall re-entry be deemed an acceptance of surrender of this Lease; and
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(b)     Landlord may relet the whole or any part or parts of the Premises from time to time either in the name of Landlord or otherwise, to such tenant
or tenants, for such term or terms ending before, on or after the expiration date of this Lease, at such rental or rentals and upon such other conditions, which may
include concessions and free rent periods reasonably required under then existing market conditions, as Landlord, in its sole discretion, may reasonably determine.
Landlord, at its option, may make such alterations in and to the Premises as Landlord, in Landlord’s sole discretion, shall consider advisable or necessary in
connection with any such reletting and Tenant shall be liable for the amount of all expenses reasonably incurred by Landlord in connection therewith.
 

Section 18.2    Tenant’s Waivers. Tenant waives any rights to (a) redeem the Premises, (b) re-enter or repossess the Premises, or (c) restore the operation of
this Lease, after Tenant shall have been dispossessed by a judgment or by warrant of any court or judge, or after any re-entry by Landlord, or after any expiration or
termination of this Lease and the Term, whether such dispossess, re-entry, expiration or termination shall, be by operation of law or pursuant to the provisions of this
Lease. The words “re-enter”, “re-entry” and “re-entered” as used in this Lease shall not be deemed to be restricted to their technical legal meanings.
 

Section 18.3    Injunction. In the event of any breach or threatened breach by either party or any persons claiming through or under either party of any of the
agreements, terms, covenants or conditions contained in this Lease, the other party shall be entitled to enjoin such breach or threatened breach and shall have the right
to invoke any right and remedy allowed at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise; provided however, that in no event shall Tenant be entitled to enjoin Landlord
from any actions which are required pursuant to the terms of a Mortgage.
 

Section 18.4    Remedies. If this Lease and the Term shall terminate as provided in Article 17 herein, or by or under any summary proceeding or any other
action or proceeding, or if Landlord shall re-enter the Premises as provided in this Article, or by or under any summary proceeding or any other action or proceeding,
then, in any of said events;
 

(a)     Tenant shall pay to Landlord all Rent to the date upon which this Lease and the Term shall have terminated or to the date of re-entry upon the
Premises by Landlord, as the case may be.
 

(b)     Landlord shall be entitled to retain all monies, if any, paid by Tenant to Landlord, whether as advance rent, security or otherwise, but such
monies shall be credited by Landlord against any Rent due at the time of such termination or re-entry, or at Landlord’s option, against any damages payable by Tenant.
 

(c)     Tenant shall be liable for and shall pay to Landlord any deficiency between (i) the Rent payable hereunder for the period which otherwise
would have constituted the unexpired portion of the Term (conclusively presuming the Additional Rent to increase by three percent (3%) per annum over the
Additional Rent payable for the year immediately preceding such termination or re-entry), and (ii) the net amount, if any, of rents (“Net Rent”) collected under any
reletting effected pursuant to the provisions of subsection 18.1(b) herein for any part of such period (first deducting from the rents collected under any such reletting
all of Landlord’s reasonable expenses in connection with the termination of this Lease and Landlord’s re-entry upon the Premises and in connection with such
reletting, including but not limited to all reasonable repossession costs, brokerage commissions, alteration costs, attorneys’ fees and other expenses of preparing the
Premises for such reletting.
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(d)     Any such deficiency shall be paid in monthly installments by Tenant on the days specified in this Lease for the payment of installments of
Fixed Rent. Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant each monthly deficiency as the same shall arise, and no suit to collect the amount of the deficiency for
any month shall prejudice Landlord’s right to collect the deficiency for any subsequent month by a similar proceeding. Alternatively, suit or suits for the recovery of
such deficiencies may be brought by Landlord from time to time at its election;
 

(e)     Whether or not Landlord shall have collected any monthly deficiencies as aforesaid, Landlord shall, at its sole option, be entitled to recover
from Tenant, and Tenant shall pay Landlord, on demand, as and for liquidated and agreed final damages, a sum equal to the amount by which the Rent payable
hereunder for the period which otherwise would have constituted the unexpired portion of the Term following the last deficiency collected (conclusively presuming the
Additional Rent to increase by three percent (3%) per annum over the Additional Rent payable for the year immediately preceding such termination or re-entry)
exceeds the then fair rental value of the Premises for the same period, both discounted to present worth at four percent (4%). If, before presentation of proof of such
liquidated damages to any court, commission or tribunal, the Premises, or any part thereof, shall have been relet by Landlord for the period which otherwise would
have constituted the unexpired portion of the Term, or any part thereof, each party shall be entitled to have an expert testify before such court, commission or tribunal
as to its determination of the fair rental value for the part or the whole of the Premises so relet during the term of the reletting and the decision made by the judge of
such court, commission or tribunal shall be binding upon the parties.
 

(f)     In no event shall Tenant be entitled to receive any excess of the Net Rent collected over the sums payable by Tenant to Landlord hereunder. If
the Premises or any part thereof should be relet in combination with other space, then equitable apportionment on a rentable square foot area basis shall be made of the
rent received from such reletting and of the expenses of reletting.
 

(g)     Tenant, shall be liable for and shall pay to Landlord the cost and expense of completing any improvement, alteration or betterment to the
Premises, or for restoring or rebuilding any part thereof, required to be performed by Tenant under this Lease and for which Tenant failed to complete.
 

Section 18.5    Covenants.
 

(a)     If this Lease be terminated as provided in Article 18 herein or by or under any summary proceeding or any other action or proceeding, or if
Landlord shall re-enter the Premises, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease:
 

(i)     The Premises shall be, upon such earlier termination or re-entry, in the same condition as that in which the Tenant has agreed to
surrender them to Landlord at the expiration of the Term hereof;
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(ii)     Landlord shall be entitled immediately, without notice or other action by Landlord, to recover, and Tenant shall pay, as and for
damages therefor, the then cost of performing such covenant, plus interest thereon at the Default Rate beginning upon occurrence of Event Default until paid in full.
 

(b)     Each and every covenant contained in this Section shall be deemed separate and independent, and not dependent on other provisions of this
Lease. It is understood that the consideration for the covenants in this Section is the making of this Lease, and the damages for failure to perform the same shall be
deemed to be in addition to and separate and independent of the damages accruing by reason of default in observing any other covenant contained in this Lease.
 

Section 18.6    Cumulative Remedies. Each right and remedy of Landlord provided for in this Lease shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every
other right and remedy provided for in this Lease or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise, and the exercise or beginning of the
exercise by Landlord of any one or more of the rights or remedies provided for in this Lease or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise
shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by any party of any or all other rights or remedies provided for in this Lease or now or hereafter existing at law or
in equity by statute or otherwise.
 

Section 18.7    Attorneys’ Fees. In addition to all other remedies, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reimbursement upon demand of all reasonable
attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party in connection with any default by the other party, together with other costs of collection and interest, commencing upon
the occurrence of an Event of Default, or Landlord Event of Default, on the amount recovered, at the Default Rate.
 

Section 18.8    Landlord Event of Default. Landlord shall be deemed to have committed an event of default (“Landlord Event of Default”) in the event
Landlord shall violate or fail to perform any of the conditions, covenants or agreements herein made by Landlord and such default shall continue for thirty (30) days
after notice from Tenant; provided, however, that if the nature of such default is such that Landlord can cure the default, but not within thirty (30) days, then the
Landlord Event of Default shall be suspended so long as Landlord commences to cure such default within thirty (30) days and thereafter diligently and continuously
prosecutes the curing of the default.
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ARTICLE 19

Curing Tenant’s Defaults
 

Section 19.1     Cure. If there shall be an Event of Default by Tenant, Landlord may, without thereby waiving such Event of Default, perform the same for the
account and at the expense of Tenant, without notice in a case of emergency and in any other case if such failure continues after fifteen (15) days from the date of the
giving by Landlord to Tenant of notice of intention so to do, or such lesser period of notice in the event that a condition might constitute a default under a Mortgage or
Ground Lease. Bills for any expense incurred by Landlord in connection with any such performance by it for the account of Tenant, and bills for all costs, expenses
and disbursements of every kind and nature whatsoever, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, involved in collecting or endeavoring to collect Fixed Rent or Additional
Rent or other charge or any part thereof or enforcing or endeavoring to enforce any rights against Tenant, under or in connection with this Lease, or pursuant to law
may be sent by Landlord to Tenant monthly or immediately, and shall be due and payable as Additional Rent in accordance with the terms of said bills. Any such bills
shall be payable with interest at the Default Rate from the date Landlord incurs the charge or expense to the date of payment by Tenant to Landlord. Tenant’s
obligations under this Section shall survive the Lease Expiration Date or sooner termination of the Term.
 

ARTICLE 20

Non-Liability and Indemnification
 

Section 20.1    Indemnification By Tenant. Except as expressly set forth to the contrary in this Lease, from and after the Possession Date through the Term,
subject to Section 7.4 of this Lease, Tenant shall indemnify and save Landlord and Landlord’s Representatives harmless of and from all loss, cost, liability, claim,
damage and expense, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, penalties and fines incurred by Landlord to the extent in connection with or arising
from: (a) the use or occupancy of the Premises by Tenant or anyone claiming under Tenant, including, without limitation, (i) any liability, cost or damage resulting
from the installation, maintenance, operation or removal by Tenant of the Supplemental HVAC, the Tenant Generator or the Rooftop Equipment; and (ii) the
installation, maintenance, operation or removal of the installations on the Rooftop Terrace by Tenant, but excluding from this indemnity provision loss, cost, liability,
claim, damage or expense caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any of Landlord’s Representatives or any other tenant or any other tenant’s
contractors, and (b) any acts, omissions, or negligence of Tenant or any of Tenant’s Representatives, in or about the Premises, the Property or the Additional Parking
Lots, including any acts, omissions or negligence by Tenant or Tenant’s Representatives in making or performing of any Tenant’s Alterations. This indemnity and hold
harmless agreement shall include indemnity from and against any and all liability, fines, suits, demands, costs and expenses of any kind or nature (including, without
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements) incurred in or in connection with any such claim or proceeding brought thereon, and the defense thereof but,
except with respect to claims with respect to bodily injury or death, shall be limited to the extent any insurance proceeds collectible by Landlord under policies owned
by Landlord or such injured party with respect to such damage or injury are insufficient to satisfy same. Any Building employees to whom any personal property shall
be entrusted by or on behalf of Tenant shall be deemed to be acting as Tenant’s agents with respect to such personal property, and neither Landlord nor Landlord’s
Representatives shall be liable for any loss of or damage to any such property by theft or otherwise.
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Section 20.2    Constructive Eviction. Except as expressly set forth to the contrary in this Lease and/or except to the extent resulting from Landlord’s
negligence or willful acts or omissions, neither (a) the performance by Landlord, Tenant or others of any decorations, construction, repairs, alterations, additions or
improvements in, to or on the Building, Land or the Premises; provided, however, Landlord shall use, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause other
tenants to use, commercially reasonable efforts to minimize disruption to Tenant’s business operations in connection therewith, nor (b) any damage to the Premises or
to Tenant’s Property, nor any injury to any persons, caused by other tenants or persons in the Building, or by operations in the construction of any private, public or
quasi-public work, or by any other cause, nor (c) any temporary or permanent covering or bricking up of any such windows if required by law, order or regulation of
Federal, county, state or municipal authorities or by any direction pursuant to law or any public officer, nor (d) the interruption or cessation of any services to the
Premises, nor (e) the proper exercise by Landlord of any right reserved to Landlord in Article 26, nor (f) any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or injury to or
interruption of Tenant’s business by reason of any of the events or occurrences referred to in the foregoing subdivisions (a) through (e) shall constitute an actual or
constructive eviction, in whole or in part, or entitle Tenant to any abatement or diminution of Rent, or relieve Tenant of any of its obligations under this Lease, or
impose any liability upon Landlord, or Landlord’s Representatives, provided that such event(s) or occurrence(s) do(es) not exceed thirty (30) days in the aggregate in
any calendar year and that Landlord is making diligent efforts to correct such condition.
 

Section 20.3    Indemnification By Landlord. Except as expressly set forth to the contrary in this Lease, subject to Section 7.4 of this Lease, from and after the
date hereof, Landlord shall indemnify and save Tenant and Tenant’s Representatives harmless of and from all loss, cost, liability, claim, damage and expense,
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, penalties and fines incurred by them to the extent in connection with or arising from any acts, omissions, or
negligence of Landlord or Landlord’s Representatives, in or about the Property or the Additional Parking Lots either prior to or during the Term. This indemnity and
hold harmless agreement shall include indemnity from and against any and all liability, fines, suits, demands, costs and expenses of any kind or nature (including,
without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements) incurred in or in connection with any such claim or proceeding brought thereon, and the defense
thereof but except with respect to claims with respect to bodily injury or death, shall be limited to the extent any insurance proceeds collectible by Tenant under
policies owned by Tenant or such injured party with respect to such damage or injury are insufficient to satisfy same.
 

Section 20.4    Defense of Actions. If any claim, action or proceeding is made or brought against either party, which claim, action or proceeding the other
party shall be obligated to indemnify such first party against pursuant to the terms of this Lease, then, upon demand by the indemnified party, the indemnifying party,
at its sole cost and expense, shall resist or defend such claim, action or proceeding in the indemnified party’s name, if necessary, by such attorneys as the indemnified
party shall reasonably approve. Attorneys for the indemnifying party’s insurer are hereby deemed approved for purposes of this Section. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, an indemnified party may retain its own attorneys to defend or assist in defending any claim, action or proceeding involving potential liability of
$(Redacted) or more, and the indemnifying party shall pay the reasonable fees and disbursements of such attorneys.
 

Section 20.5    Payments. All payments pursuant to this Article shall be paid within thirty (30) days following rendition of bills or statements therefor. The
provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of the Term.
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Section 20.6    Damages. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall Landlord or Tenant be liable to the other under this
Lease for any special, consequential or punitive damages, except as expressly set forth in Section 21.3 of this Lease.
 

ARTICLE 21

Surrender
 

Section 21.1    Condition of Premises. On the expiration of the Term or upon any earlier termination of this Lease, or upon any re-entry by Landlord upon the
Premises, Tenant shall, at its expense, quit and surrender the Premises to Landlord broom clean, in as good order, condition and repair, except with respect to
Landlord’s obligations pursuant to the provisions of this Lease and except for ordinary wear, tear and damage by fire and other casualty and condemnation, together
with all improvements (including, without limitation, all Alterations and Tenant Improvements, including, without limitation, Tenant Generator and generator pads,
pantries, supplemental HVAC, electrical, IT and data cabling and wiring and conduits, whether temporary or permanent in character) which have been made upon the
Premises except Tenant shall perform those obligations with respect to the Nonstandard Improvements made by Tenant, the Rooftop Equipment and the Building
signage installed by Tenant pursuant to Section 5.6, as expressly provided in Section 9.1(b). Tenant shall remove from the Premises and the Building all of Tenant’s
Property (Tenant’s Property shall remain Tenant’s property at all times during the Term hereof) and all personal property and personal effects of all persons claiming
through or under Tenant, and shall pay the cost of repairing all damage to the Property occasioned by such removal.
 

Section 21.2    Waiver. Tenant expressly waives, for itself and for any person claiming through or under Tenant, any rights which Tenant or any such person
may have under any applicable law in connection with any holdover summary proceedings which Landlord may institute to enforce the provisions of this Article.
 

Section 21.3    Holdover By Tenant. If the Premises are not surrendered on the termination of the Term, Tenant shall indemnify Landlord against loss or
liability resulting from delay by Tenant in so surrendering the Premises, including any claims made by any succeeding tenant founded on such delay. The parties
recognize and agree that the damage to Landlord resulting from any failure by Tenant to timely surrender possession of the Premises as aforesaid will be extremely
substantial, will exceed the amount of the monthly installments of the Rent theretofore payable hereunder, and will be impossible to accurately measure. Tenant
therefore agrees that if possession of the Premises is not surrendered to Landlord on the expiration date or earlier termination date, in addition to any other rights or
remedies Landlord may have hereunder or at law, Tenant shall pay to Landlord on account of use and occupancy of the Premises for each month and for each portion
of any month during which Tenant holds over in the Premises, a sum equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of both the Fixed Rent and Operating Expenses (each
based on the amounts payable immediately prior to the last six (6) month free rent period of the Term). Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to permit Tenant to
retain possession of the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease or to limit in any manner Landlord’s right to regain possession of the Premises
through summary proceedings, or otherwise, and no acceptance by Landlord of payments from Tenant after the expiration date or earlier termination date shall be
deemed to be other than on account of the amount to be paid by Tenant in accordance with the provisions of this Section. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, in the event Tenant fails to surrender the Premises as required hereunder, Tenant shall not be liable to Landlord for consequential damages for the
initial sixty (60) days following the termination of the Term.
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Section 21.4    Survival. Tenant’s obligations under this Article shall survive the Lease Expiration Date or sooner termination of this Lease.
 

ARTICLE 22

Construction
 

Section 22.1    Landlord’s Work.
 

(a)     Landlord’s Work. Landlord shall, at its sole cost, risk and expense, cause to be constructed and completed the Landlord’s Work described on
Exhibit I hereto. It shall be Landlord’s obligation to complete the Landlord’s Work and to deliver the Premises to Tenant by the dates specified on Exhibit I.
 

(b)     Performance of Landlord’s Work. Landlord shall proceed with and complete Landlord’s Work in a diligent and good and workmanlike manner,
in accordance with all Applicable Laws and plans and specifications therefor. Landlord shall be responsible for all costs associated with construction of the Landlord’s
Work.
 

(c)     Punch List. Landlord shall provide notice to Tenant inviting Tenant to review Landlord’s Work due by the Possession Date. Upon Tenant’s
review of such work, Tenant shall deliver the punch list to Landlord for that portion of Landlord’s Work due by the Possession Date. Promptly thereafter, Landlord
shall undertake and complete all items on the punch list by not later than thirty (30) days thereafter. After Tenant re-inspects the same, or causes the same to be re-
inspected, Landlord shall continue to promptly remedy in a good and workmanlike manner any incomplete items until Landlord has completed all Punch List items.
On or before thirty (30) days prior to the Commencement Date, Landlord shall deliver a temporary certificate of occupancy for Landlord’s Work required to be
delivered no later than thirty (30) days prior to the Commencement Date.
 

(d)     Construction Delay.
 

(i)     If Landlord fails to (i) complete the Landlord’s Work in Exhibit I, Section A, by the Possession Date, (ii) complete (as evidenced by the
delivery of a temporary certificate of occupancy) the Landlord’s Work in Exhibit I, Section B thirty (30) days prior to the Commencement Date, or (iii) deliver
exclusive, broom-clean possession of the Premises to Tenant on the Possession Date (TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE with respect to each such date), then the Rent
Commencement Date shall be extended by one (1) day for each day of such delay or failure for the first thirty (30) days, and by two (2) days for each day of such
delay or failure after such thirty (30) day period.
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(ii)     In addition to the foregoing, if the delay is more than ninety (90) days, Tenant may take all available commercially reasonable actions to
complete Landlord’s work on behalf of Landlord and at Landlord’s sole cost. Bills for any expense incurred by Tenant in connection with any such performance by it
for the account of Landlord may be sent by Tenant to Landlord monthly or immediately and shall be due and payable by Landlord to Tenant in accordance with the
terms of said bills. If Landlord fails to pay to Tenant the amount of any such bill within thirty (30) days of Landlord’s receipt of such bill, and such failure is
continuing for five (5) days following the date notice of such failure is received by Landlord, then, in addition to all of Tenant’s other rights and remedies relating
thereto, Tenant shall be entitled to offset the amount thereof against the next Rent becoming due and payable. Any such bills shall be payable with interest at the
Default Rate from the date Tenant incurs the charge or expense to the date of payment by Landlord to Tenant, Landlord’s obligations under this Section shall survive
the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
 

(e)     Change Orders; Cost of Changes. Tenant may order changes in Landlord’s Work (“Changes”). All Changes initiated for any portion of
Landlord’s Work shall be authorized by change orders signed by Landlord and the designated representative of Tenant (“Change Orders”), which shall be in the form
annexed as Exhibit N. If Tenant wishes to make a Change to Landlord’s Work, Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing of the requested Change. All Changes shall be
subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval. Within five (5) Business Days of Tenant’s request, or as soon thereafter as possible, Landlord will either approve or
disapprove the Change, and any rejection shall be accompanied by a statement in reasonable detail of the reasons therefor. If Landlord approves the Change, Landlord
shall issue a Change Order executed by Landlord, which shall specify Landlord’s statement of the increased net costs of implementing the Change (a “Change
Increase”) and the new Possession Date or Commencement Date, if any, which Landlord anticipates will result therefrom. Within five (5) Business Days of receipt of
the Change Order executed by Landlord, Tenant shall either accept the Change Order by delivering an executed copy thereof to Landlord, or reject the Change Order,
in which case the Change will not be made. At the time Tenant executes the Change Order, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord full payment of the net increased cost
resulting from the Change Order. If Tenant fails to deliver the executed Change Order to Landlord within such five (5) Business Days’ period, the Change shall not be
implemented. If Tenant executes the Change Order, Landlord shall duly prosecute the Change in accordance with the requirements of the Change Order. Tenant shall
also pay any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of Landlord payable to third parties incurred in connection with any proposed Change requested by Tenant which is
not implemented. Tenant understands that Landlord will not be obligated to stop any portion of construction while a proposed Change is under consideration unless
Tenant authorizes such work stoppage in writing.
 

(f)     Labor Harmony. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that from and after the Possession Date until Landlord’s Work has been completed,
Landlord’s contractors and Tenant’s contractors may both be working in the Building at the same time. Landlord and Tenant shall each use commercially reasonable
efforts to require their respective contractors to minimize conflicts between the two sets of contractors. If, in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, work being performed in
connection with the Tenant Improvements has or may disturb harmony with any trade engaged in performing any work, labor or service for Landlord, then Landlord
and Tenant will use commercially reasonable efforts to remedy the situation, provided that no disruption of labor harmony caused by the presence of Tenant’s
contractors will be permitted to continue if, in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, such disruption might delay completion of Landlord’s Work beyond the Possession
Date.
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Section 22.2    Construction of Tenant Improvements.
 

(a)     Commencing on the Possession Date, following delivery by Tenant to Landlord of evidence of the insurance coverage required of Tenant
pursuant to Section 7.3(a), Tenant and its authorized agents, contractors, subcontractors and representatives shall have the right to enter upon the Property and the
Premises in order to commence and perform construction of the Tenant Improvements. Landlord shall provide a $(Redacted) per rentable square foot Tenant
Improvement Allowance (“TIA”) for the Premises which, as of the date of this Lease, is 173,164 rentable square feet. The TIA may be used for hard and soft costs,
including, without limitation, construction costs, data and phone cabling and if necessary for architectural/engineering costs (but not to offset rent, other than noted
below). Tenant shall be responsible for any and all costs in excess of Landlord’s allowance necessary to complete its construction and obtain a certificate of occupancy
for the Premises. The TIA shall be paid based on monthly requisitions submitted by Tenant and approved by Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld.
Commencing on the Possession Date, Tenant shall have a maximum of five (5) years to issue one or more requests for reimbursements from the TIA; Tenant’s offset
right set forth in Section 22.2(a) below shall not be impacted by this time limit. Landlord will agree that the TIA would be used on a pari passu basis for costs incurred
by Tenant for the construction of the Tenant Improvements. If Landlord fails to pay to Tenant the portion of the TIA as required under the Lease, within thirty (30)
days of Landlord’s receipt of all documentation, and such failure is continuing for five (5) days following the date notice of such failure is received by Landlord, then,
in addition to all of Tenant’s other rights and remedies relating thereto, Tenant shall be entitled to offset the amount thereof against the next Rent becoming due and
payable.
 

(b)     In addition to the foregoing, Landlord shall provide Tenant $(Redacted) as an allowance towards the hard and soft costs of renovation of the
existing restrooms in the Premises (which amounts are included in the term “TIA”) but, for clarity, are over and above the $(Redacted) per rentable square foot
allowance provided above).
 

(c)     Tenant may select a general contractor, subcontractors, construction managers, architects and engineers with Landlord’s approval.
Additionally, Landlord shall be given the opportunity to submit a proposal to perform the Tenant Improvements. Landlord approves of Perkins Eastman, Gensler and
Ted Moudis as architects. Furthermore, Landlord approves the following general contractors: Pavarini/Structuretone, PappaJohn Construction, Clune, JTS
Construction, Gesualdi Construction, Olympic Construction, Allen Construction and GP Construction. Tenant shall be required to use contractors designated by
Landlord for work which affects the Base Building Systems or the Structural Elements.
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(d)     Tenant shall pay to Landlord from time to time during the performance of any Tenant Improvements, as Additional Rent, a fee equal to
Landlord’s or Landlord’s agents’ reasonable and actual out-of-pocket third party costs and expenses incurred in connection with a third party review of Tenant’s plans
and specifications therefor. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything to the contrary in this Lease, Tenant shall not be responsible for any supervisory fee, project
management fee, surcharges, profit, overhead, administrative or similar fees or charges in connection with any Tenant Improvements, other than costs, including,
without limitation, profit, overhead and administrative fees, associated with Landlord’s costs of providing personnel to permit off-hours access to the Building, or
supervision of Base Building or Base Building System modifications.
 

(e)     Throughout the construction period and during Tenant’s move-in period, Landlord, at no cost to Tenant, shall provide freight elevator and
loading dock access at times mutually agreed upon. In addition, Tenant shall be responsible for the cost of electricity and HVAC within the Premises from the
Possession Date. Tenant shall be permitted to perform Tenant Improvements during Building Hours, provided that such work does not, in Landlord’s sole but
reasonable discretion, unreasonably interfere with or interrupt the operation and maintenance of the Building or unreasonably interfere with or unreasonably interrupt
the use and occupancy of the Building by other tenants in the Building.
 

(f)     Landlord’s obligation to make disbursements from the TIA shall be subject to Landlord’s receipt of: a request for such disbursement from
Tenant signed by an authorized officer; copies of invoices or other evidence reasonably satisfactory to Landlord of the hard costs (construction costs) and the soft costs
actually paid or to be paid by Tenant; a certificate of Tenant’s independent licensed architect stating, in his/her opinion, that the portion of Tenant Improvements
theretofore completed and for which the disbursement of Hard Costs is requested was substantially in accordance with the Tenant’s Plans and any approved changes,
as approved by Landlord (provided, Tenant’s submission to Landlord of a properly prepared and executed AIA Document G702/703 shall satisfy the requirements of
such certificate); and no lien on account of work done for or materials furnished to Tenant or any of its contractors or subcontractors shall have been filed against any
part of the Property and not have been paid or bonded and, in either event, to be discharged of record within a reasonable period of time. Furthermore, Tenant shall
require its contractor to certify that all Tenant Improvements were performed in a good and workmanlike manner, which may also be satisfied by submitting Tenant’s
contractor’s signature on AIA Document G702. In addition, at Landlord’s request, Tenant will provide to Landlord as part of the aforesaid documentation partial lien
waivers from its contractors, subcontractors and materialmen (for trades with contracts in excess of $(Redacted)) involved in Tenant Improvements and any other
work covering prior payments by Landlord hereunder.
 

(g)     Intentionally Omitted.
 

(h)     If Tenant desires to obtain telecommunications and/or data services that are not currently available in the Building, then Tenant may contract
directly with any provider of such service. Landlord shall not charge Tenant or the provider any access fee or toll for any telecommunication service brought into the
Building by or on behalf of Tenant, including, without limitation, permitting such access to and use of the Building and the Building’s existing risers and conduits, as
may be available and as necessary. Tenant and Landlord will mutually agree on the path to the Building’s POP room from the road, where the telecommunications
provider’s service resides.
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(i)     Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall submit to Landlord final, 100% complete dimensioned and detailed plans and drawings of partition layouts
(including openings), ceiling and lighting layouts, colors, mechanical and electrical circuitry plans and any and all other information as may be reasonably necessary to
complete the construction of the Tenant Improvements (such plans are collectively referred to herein as “Tenant’s Plans”). Tenant shall submit Tenant’s Plans to
Landlord in form, quality and quantity acceptable for the purposes of filing for a building permit with the Building Department of the City of Norwalk, and such plans
shall be signed and sealed by an architect licensed in the State of Connecticut. Tenant’s Plans shall comply with Applicable Laws.
 

(j)     Within ten (10) Business Days after receipt of Tenant’s Plans (which plans shall be accompanied with a notice stating in bold face all-capitals
12-point type “FAILURE OF LANDLORD TO DISAPPROVE THESE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS WITHIN TEN (10) BUSINESS DAYS AFTER
RECEIPT SHALL BE DEEMED APPROVAL”), Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing whether Landlord approves or disapproves the Tenant’s Plans, and
Landlord shall describe the reasons for any such disapproval. If Landlord fails to so notify Tenant within such ten (10) Business Day period, then Landlord shall be
deemed to have approved the Tenant’s Plans. Tenant may submit to Landlord revised Tenant’s Plans for Landlord’s prior written approval, and within five (5) Business
Days after receipt of the complete revised Tenant’s Plans, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing whether Landlord approves or disapproves such revised Tenant’s
Plans, and Landlord shall describe the reasons for any such disapproval. If Landlord fails to so notify Tenant within such five (5) Business Day period, then Landlord
shall be deemed to have approved such revised Tenant’s Plans. This procedure shall be repeated until Tenant’s Plans are finally approved (or deemed approved) by
Landlord. To the extent that Landlord shall have approved any progress prints, Landlord shall not disapprove any Tenant’s Plans on the basis of any matters in such
plans that are substantially in conformity with those matters previously approved by Landlord in the progress prints. Tenant’s Plans shall comply with and conform to
the plans and specifications of the Building and comply with all the rules, regulations and/or other requirements of any governmental department having jurisdiction
over the construction of the Building. Tenant shall prepare Tenant’s Plans in accordance with pre-existing conditions and field measurements. Landlord’s review of
Tenant’s Plans is solely to protect the interests of Landlord in the Building, and Landlord shall be neither the guarantor of, nor responsible for, the correctness or
accuracy of Tenant’s Plans or the compliance of Tenant’s Plans with Applicable Laws. At the time of, and in conjunction with, Landlord’s approval of Tenant’s Plans
pursuant to this subsection, Landlord shall give notice to Tenant as to which parts of the Tenant Improvements shall constitute Nonstandard Improvements and,
therefore, must be removed by Tenant at the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. (As to any of Tenant’s Plans deemed approved by Landlord, Landlord must
provide such notice before the date such Tenant’s Plans are deemed so approved.) If Tenant disputes such determination of which parts of the Tenant Improvements
constitute Nonstandard Improvements and the parties are unable to agree as to which parts of the Tenant Improvements constitute Nonstandard Improvements, then
the determination as to the Tenant Improvements in dispute shall be made by the Arbitrator.
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(k)     Tenant shall, only after having obtained Landlord’s written approval (or deemed approval) of the Tenant’s Plans as provided in Section 22.2(d),
and at its sole cost and expense, be responsible for obtaining all governmental permits as shall be required for the completion of Tenant Improvements, or, if Landlord
or Tenant shall deem the same reasonably advisable (or the applicable governmental authority shall so require), Landlord may procure such permits and Tenant shall
pay for same. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with Tenant in connection with obtaining necessary permits for the Tenant
Improvements and other Alterations. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord, within thirty (30) days after demand therefor (together with reasonable backup documentation),
for all reasonable and actual out of pocket, third party costs and expenses reasonably incurred by Landlord in connection with Landlord’s cooperation in obtaining
such permits and changes.
 

(l)     Intentionally Omitted.
 

(m)     Tenant, at its expense, and with diligence and dispatch, shall procure the cancellation or discharge of all notices of violation arising from or
otherwise connected with Tenant Improvements which shall be issued by any public authority having or asserting jurisdiction. Landlord does not consent to be liable
for any improvements or alterations made to the Premises by Tenant, its employees, agents or contractors. Landlord shall not be obligated to pay for any materials or
labor ordered by Tenant.
 

(n)     Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any mechanic’s lien is filed against the Property or any part thereof, for work done or claimed to have been
done for, or materials furnished to, Tenant, the same shall be cancelled or discharged by Tenant, by payment or filing of the bond required by law, within thirty (30)
days after notice from Landlord to Tenant of the filing, at Tenant’s expense. If Tenant shall fail to cause such lien to be discharged within the period aforesaid, then, in
addition to any other right or remedy, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, discharge the same either by paying the amount claimed to be due or by procuring
the discharge of such lien by deposit or by bonding proceedings. Any amount so paid by Landlord and all reasonable, out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by
Landlord, in connection therewith shall constitute Additional Rent payable by Tenant under this Lease and shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord within thirty (30) days
following written demand.   
 

Section 22.3    Site Representatives. Tenant and Landlord shall each designate in writing one or more representatives to act on its behalf in dealings with the
other party in matters relating to Landlord’s Work and the Tenant Improvements. Each party shall be bound by any consents or approvals given by such designated
representatives. Except as hereinafter provided, either party may, at any time, change its designated representatives by giving a minimum of three (3) Business Days’
notice of a change of designation. The designated representatives shall exert their commercially reasonable efforts to render decisions and take actions in a timely
manner so as to avoid unreasonable delay in the Tenant Improvements. Tenant hereby designates Thomas Doucette as its designated representatives. Landlord hereby
designates Carl R. Kuehner as its designated representative. Neither Landlord nor Tenant shall change any designated representatives without notice to the other.
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ARTICLE 23

Expansion Right
 

Section 23.1    Expansion Right.
 

(a)     Landlord hereby grants to Tenant the option to lease Expansion Space A and Expansion Space B on the terms and conditions set forth in this
Section 23.1.
 

(b)     To exercise its right to lease Expansion Space A, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, on or before September 1, 2018, a notice electing to lease
Expansion Space A, time being of the essence with respect to the giving of such notice.  If Tenant exercises such right, (i) the term of such leasing shall commence on
January 1, 2020 (but Tenant shall have possession as of January 1, 2019 pursuant to a separate access agreement executed by the applicable parties) and expire on the
Termination Date, (ii) the rent and other economic terms (including, without limitation, free rent and tenant improvement allowance, but with respect to the renovation
of the existing bathrooms in Expansion Space A, such allowance shall be only $(Redacted)) shall be on the same economic terms as this Lease including without
limitation parking as set forth below (excluding any demolition of the mezzanine structure) and (iii) the lease for Expansion Space A shall be in substantially the same
form as this Lease, with such Expansion Space A to be delivered in substantially the same condition as described in Section A of Exhibit I attached hereto (but
including demolition of only those bathrooms for which Tenant shall have exclusive use), except for those terms and conditions that are specific to the applicable
property located at 801 Main, 901 Main and 20 Glover, as applicable, and removing such terms specific to the Property including, but not limited to, signage, tax
appeals, amenities and rights of first offer (a “New Lease”) and Landlord and Tenant shall use commercially reasonable efforts to execute and deliver the same within
thirty (30) days after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s notice; provided, however, in the event Expansion Space A relates solely to space in the Building, in lieu of a New
Lease, Landlord and Tenant shall execute and deliver an amendment to this Lease within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s notice, incorporating the
terms and conditions set forth in this subsection.
 

(c)     To exercise its right to lease Expansion Space B, which right Tenant shall have regardless of whether it exercises its right to lease Expansion
Space A. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, on or before April 1, 2023, a notice electing to lease Expansion Space B, time being of the essence with respect to the
giving of such notice.  If Tenant exercises such right, (i) the term of such leasing shall commence on October 1, 2024 and expire on the Termination Date, (ii) the rent
and other economic terms shall be on the same economic terms as this Lease including without limitation parking as set forth below (except that free rent and tenant
improvement allowance (including the allowance for the renovation of one set of the existing bathrooms closest to the expanded premises in the amount of
$(Redacted)) shall be proportionately adjusted based on the term of such lease) and (iii) the lease for Expansion Space B shall be in the form of a New Lease except
such Expansion Space B shall be delivered in substantially the same condition as described in Section A of Exhibit I attached hereto (but including demolition of only
those bathrooms for which Tenant shall have exclusive use) and except for those terms and conditions that are specific to the applicable property located at 801 Main
or 901 Main and removing such terms specific to the Property including, but not limited to, signage, tax appeals, amenities and rights of first offer. Landlord and
Tenant shall use commercially reasonable efforts to execute and deliver within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s notice; provided, however, in the
event Expansion Space B relates solely to space in the Building, in lieu of a New Lease, Landlord and Tenant shall execute and deliver an amendment to this Lease
within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s notice, incorporating the terms and conditions set forth in this subsection.
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(d)     If Expansion Space A or Expansion Space B is located in:
 

(i)     the Building, 801 Main Building, or 901 Main Building, the parking allocation for such expansion space shall be 3 Garage Spaces per
1,000 RSF of the said expansion space and 2 Additional Parking spaces (in the Additional Parking Lots) per 1,000 RSF of the said expansion space; or
 

(e)     20 Glover Building, the parking allocation shall be 2.3 Garage Spaces (located in the parking areas available to the tenants of 20 Glover
Avenue, which may be located at 1 Glover Avenue, 10/20 Glover Avenue or the garage located at 399 Main Avenue, Norwalk, Connecticut) per 1,000 RSF of the said
expansion space and 2.7 Additional Parking spaces (in the Additional Parking Lots) per 1,000 RSF of the said expansion space.
 

(f)     In the event Tenant assigns this Lease or sublets all or a portion of the Premises (except to an Affiliate or Successor), the provisions of this
Article 23 shall be deemed automatically null and void, and of no further force or effect.
 

(g)     Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that the provisions of this Article 23 shall not apply during any period of time there is an Event of
Default.
 

Section 23.2    Right of First Offer.
 

(a)     Throughout the Term of this Lease and subject to the prior rights of such third parties set forth on Exhibit U attached hereto and made a part
hereof, if Landlord believes in good faith that any office space in the Building or in 801 Main Building and 901 Main Building (“First Offer Space”) is or will
become Available (as hereinafter defined), and so long as the First Offer Space is at such time owned by Landlord or an Affiliate of Landlord, Landlord shall offer, or
shall cause to be offered, to lease the First Offer Space to Tenant, as set forth in a notice to Tenant which identifies the First Offer Space (“First Offer Notice”), and
the terms and conditions upon which such space is available. As used herein, “Available” means, as to the First Offer Space, that such space is vacant (or Landlord
reasonably anticipates that such space shall become vacant) and free of any present or future possessory right existing in favor of any third party. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, such space shall not be deemed Available and Landlord shall not be obligated to notify Tenant of the Availability of such space if Landlord is negotiating an
extension of a lease or a new direct lease with an existing tenant or occupant of such space (it being agreed that Landlord shall be free to enter into any such extension
of lease or new direct lease). Within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s acceptance of Landlord’s offer, the parties shall execute an amendment to this Lease or, if the First
Offer Space is not located in the Building, enter into a New Lease, for the First Offer Space, which amendment or New Lease shall be prepared and submitted by
Landlord and each party shall pay their respective costs.
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(b)     Tenant shall have a period of twenty (20) days after receipt of the First Offer Notice to give to Landlord notice that Tenant (i) accepts
Landlord’s offer, or (ii) rejects Landlord’s offer. Time shall be of the essence with respect to Tenant’s notice, and Tenant’s failure to give any such notice within the
twenty (20) day period shall be deemed a rejection of Landlord’s offer, any principles of law or equity to the contrary notwithstanding. A First Offer Notice may only
be accepted in whole, not in part. Within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s acceptance of Landlord’s offer, the parties shall execute an amendment to this Lease for the
First Offer Space, or if not in the Building, a separate New Lease, and in either case, in mutually acceptable form.
 

(c)     If Tenant rejects, or is deemed to have rejected, Landlord’s offer, Landlord shall be free to lease such First Offer Space set forth in the First
Offer Notice to any party upon substantially the same terms and conditions as set forth in the First Offer Notice. For purposes of this Lease, “substantially the same
terms and conditions as set forth in the First Offer Notice” shall mean a decrease of less than seven and one-half percent (7.5%) in the overall economic consideration.
If Landlord shall fail to lease the First Offer Space set forth in the First Offer Notice to any party within six (6) months after the First Offer Notice and on substantially
such terms or if such First Offer space previously subject to a First Offer Notice again becomes Available, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a subsequent First Offer
Notice prior to leasing the First Offer Space to any other party.
 

(d)     Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Landlord shall not be obligated to give a First Offer Notice, Tenant shall have no right to
exercise its option to lease the First Offer Space, and any attempted exercise shall be void and of no effect, if: (i) the named Tenant has assigned this Lease other than
to a Successor or Affiliate or has at any time subleased any part of the Premises to any party in a transaction where Landlord’s consent was required under Article 12
herein; or (ii) there is an Event of Default by Tenant hereunder and such Event of Default shall not have been cured at the time that Landlord would otherwise be
obligated to give the First Offer Notice or, if such Event of Default occurs after Tenant’s attempted exercise of its option and continues at the time of the proposed
commencement of the lease of the First Offer Space.
 

(e)     Upon Landlord’s request, if Tenant rejects, or is deemed to have rejected, Landlord’s offer under the First Offer Notice, Tenant shall, within
five (5) days after demand therefor by Landlord, give notice to Landlord that Tenant has declined to exercise such right.
 

(f)     Intentionally Omitted.
 

(g)     If Tenant accepts Landlord’s offer under the First Offer Notice, the Lease shall remain unmodified with the exception that (i) in the event
Tenant timely elects to lease the First Offer Space in accordance with this section anytime during the last seven (7) years of the Initial Term, the expiration date of this
Lease shall be amended to that date that is the later of (a) the then current expiration date of this Lease, and (b) the last day of the last year of the term specified in the
first Offer Notice; and (ii) the Lease shall be amended to provide for cross-default in the event Tenant shall default under either the Lease or the New Lease of the First
Offer Space.
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ARTICLE 24

Environmental Obligations.
 

Section 24.1    Environmental Indemnification.
 

(a)     On the Possession Date, the Property and the Additional Parking Lot located at the New Apartments shall be free of Hazardous Materials,
except Hazardous Materials that are: (i) present at the Property in compliance with Environmental Laws including, without limitation, Hazardous Materials ordinarily
used in a first-class office building; or (ii) the subject of any ongoing remediation and/or monitoring program as approved by the Connecticut Department of
Environmental Protection or a “licensed environmental professional” within the meaning of Connecticut General Statutes §22a-134 et seq., or present at the Property
as a result of Tenant’s actions but in no event shall any Hazardous Materials exist in the Premises as of the Possession Date other than quantities customarily used in
business office operations or Tenant’s operations in compliance with Environmental Laws. Landlord releases and shall defend and indemnify Tenant and its officers,
directors, shareholders, partners, members and employees (“Tenant Parties”) and hold harmless Tenant and the Tenant Parties and any of their respective successors
and assigns with respect to any and all liabilities, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, consultant fees and expenses and reasonable attorneys’ fees and
expenses) arising from (A) the presence of Hazardous Materials at, on, under, to or from the Property or the Premises or the Additional Parking Lots, and (B) any
violation of Environmental Laws with respect to the Property or the Additional Parking Lots at any time prior to or during the Term, to the extent that the condition or
violation described in clause (A) or (B) was not caused by Tenant or any Tenant Parties or any other tenant at the Property. Landlord shall remediate any condition for
which, but only to the extent to which, Landlord is providing indemnification under this Section in accordance with all applicable requirements of Environmental
Laws and, in so doing, shall take such measures as are commercially reasonable to minimize any interference with Tenant’s use, occupancy, and quiet enjoyment of the
Property and the Additional Parking Lots. As between Landlord and Tenant, Tenant shall have no liability for the presence of any Hazardous Materials at, on, in,
under, to or from the Property or the Premises or the Additional Parking Lots or the violation of or liability arising under any and all Environmental Laws with regard
to the Property or the Premises or the Additional Parking Lots, except with respect to any condition caused by, but only to the extent caused by, the actions or inactions
of Tenant or any Tenant Parties, including actions or inactions that exacerbate any environmental condition present on the Premises prior to the date of execution of
this Lease of which Tenant had notice. The representations, warranties and covenants made and these agreements by Landlord to release, defend, indemnify and hold
harmless Tenant and Tenant Parties shall be in addition to any other obligations or liabilities Landlord may have to Tenant or any Tenant Parties at common law, under
all Applicable Laws (including but not limited to all Environmental Laws) or otherwise, and shall survive, with respect to liability that accrues during the Term of this
Lease, without limit of time.
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(b)     Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing, promptly upon Landlord’s learning thereof, of any:
 

(i)     notice of violation to Landlord or awareness by Landlord of any condition which might reasonably result in a notice of violation of
any applicable Environmental Law that could have a material adverse effect upon the Premises or the value of the Premises, or the use, occupancy and quiet
enjoyment of the Property or Additional Parking by Tenant or any Tenant Party; and
 

(ii)     notice of release of Hazardous Materials at, on, in, under, to or from the Property or presence of Hazardous Materials on the Property
or Additional Parking Lots in violation of or that may result in any debt, duty , obligation, liability, suit, claim, demand, cause of action, damage, loss, cost of expense
arising under or related to any Environmental Laws.
 

Section 24.2    Hazardous Material.
 

(a)     Tenant shall, with respect to and to the extent of any environmental condition or liability caused by the acts or omissions of Tenant or Tenant
Parties at any time during the Term, (i) comply, and cause the Premises to comply, with all Environmental Laws (as hereinafter defined) applicable to the Premises
(including the making of all submissions to governmental authorities required by Environmental Laws and the carrying out of any remediation program specified by
such authority); (ii) prohibit the use of the Premises for the generation, manufacture, refinement, production, or processing of any Hazardous Material or for the
storage, handling, transfer or transportation of any Hazardous Material other than in connection with the operation, business and maintenance of the Premises and in
commercially reasonable quantities as a consumer thereof and in compliance with Environmental Laws; (iii) not install or permit the installation on the Premises of
any surface impoundments, underground storage tanks, pcb-containing transformers or asbestos-containing materials, except as may be installed by or on behalf of
Landlord or as may be permitted by Landlord in writing in its sole and absolute discretion; and (iv) cause any alterations of the Premises to be done in a way so as to
not expose in an unreasonably unsafe manner the persons working in or visiting the Premises to Hazardous Materials, and in connection with any such alterations shall
remove any Hazardous Materials present upon the Premises which are not in compliance with Environmental Laws or which present a danger to persons working in or
visiting the Premises.
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(b)     Tenant shall release, defend, indemnify and hold harmless Landlord and Landlord’s Representatives, and any of their respective successors and
assigns from and against any and all liability, to the extent arising out of the use, generation, storage, treatment, release, threatened release, discharge, spill, presence or
disposal of Hazardous Materials from, on, at, to or under the Premises or in connection with the Tenant Generator during the Term by any act or omission of Tenant or
Tenant Parties and first occurring on and after the Possession Date, including without limitation, the cost of any required or necessary repair, response action,
remediation, investigation, cleanup or detoxification and the preparation of any closure or other required plans, except to the extent caused by (i) Landlord or
Landlord’s Representatives; or (ii) any act or omission of Landlord or Landlord’s Representatives, which results in a violation of, or liability pursuant to, any
Environmental Law. This agreement to indemnify and hold harmless shall be in addition to any other obligations or liabilities Tenant may have to Landlord at common
law, under all Applicable Laws or otherwise, and shall survive, with respect to liability that accrues during the Term of this Lease, without limit of time. The
representations, warranties and covenants made and the indemnities stated in this Lease are not personal to Landlord, and the benefits under this Lease shall be
automatically assigned to subsequent parties in interest to the chain of title to the Property and Mortgagees, which subsequent parties in interest may proceed directly
against Tenant to recover pursuant to this Lease. Tenant, at its expense, may institute appropriate legal proceedings with respect to environmental matters of the type
specified in this Section or any lien for such environmental matters, not involving Landlord or its Mortgagee as a defendant (unless Landlord or its Mortgagee is the
alleged cause of the damage), conducted in good faith and with due diligence, provided that such proceedings shall not in any way impair the interests of Landlord or
the Mortgagee under this Lease or contravene the provisions of any Mortgage. Counsel to Tenant in such proceedings shall be reasonably approved by Landlord if
Landlord is a defendant in the same proceeding. Landlord shall have the right to appoint co-counsel, which co-counsel shall cooperate with Tenant’s counsel in such
proceedings.
 

(c)     Tenant, upon not less than two (2) days’ prior notice, shall permit such persons as Landlord or the Mortgagee may designate (“Site
Reviewers”) to visit the Premises at reasonable times and perform an environmental site investigation and assessment (“Site Assessment”) on the Premises for the
purpose of determining whether there exists on the Premises any environmental condition which may reasonably be expected to result in any liability, cost or expense
to Landlord or any other owner or occupier of the Premises. Such Site Assessments may include both above and below the ground testing for environmental damage
or the presence of Hazardous Materials on the Premises and such other tests on the Premises as may be necessary to conduct the Site Assessments in the reasonable
opinion of the Site Reviewers. Tenant shall supply to the Site Reviewers such reasonable and non-privileged, non-proprietary historical and operational information
regarding the Premises as may be reasonably requested by the Site Reviewers to facilitate the Site Assessments and shall reasonably make available for meetings with
the Site Reviewers appropriate personnel having knowledge of such matters. Landlord shall pay for all Site Assessments at its sole cost and expense, provided that, in
the event and to the extent Tenant is responsible for such condition or violation under this Section based on the reasonable supportable conclusions of such Site
Assessment, the cost of performing and reporting such Site Assessment shall be paid by Tenant. Landlord promptly after written request by Tenant shall deliver to
Tenant copies of all reports, summaries or other compilations of the results of all such Site Assessments, provided that in the event Tenant is responsible for payment
of a Site Assessment, promptly upon payment by Tenant for such Site Assessment.
 

(d)     Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing, promptly upon Tenant’s learning thereof, of any:
 

(i)     notice or claim to the effect that Tenant or any Tenant Party is or may be liable to any Person as a result of the release or threatened
release of any Hazardous Material into the environment from the Premises;
 

(ii)     notice that Tenant or any Tenant Party is subject to investigation by any governmental authority evaluating whether any remedial
action is needed to respond to the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Material into the environment from the Premises;
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(iii)     notice that the Premises are subject to an environmental lien;
 

(iv)     notice of violation to Tenant or awareness by Tenant of a condition which might reasonably result in a notice of violation of any
applicable Environmental Law that could have a material adverse effect upon the Property or the value of the Property;
 

(v)      release of Hazardous Materials on the Property or presence of Hazardous Materials on the Property in violation of Environmental
Laws; or
 

(vi)     To the extent the provisions of this Article 24 conflict with any other provision of this Lease, the provisions of this Article 24 shall
control.
 

ARTICLE 25

Security Deposit

Intentionally Omitted.
 

ARTICLE 26

Access; Change in Facilities; Name of Building
 

Section 26.1    Changes in Facilities. Landlord reserves the right, at any time, without incurring any liability to Tenant therefor, to have access to and to make
such changes in or to the Building (but, as to the Premises, subject to Section 26.2 hereof) and the fixtures and equipment of the Building (but, as to the Premises,
subject to Section 26.2 hereof), as well as in the entrances, passageways, halls, doors, doorways, corridors, elevators, escalators, stairs and toilets in the Common
Areas, mechanical rooms and other Common Areas as it may deem reasonably necessary or desirable, provided (i) any such change does not unreasonably or for an
unreasonably long period interfere with Tenant’s access to or use of the Premises in accordance with this Lease or access to use of the Garage, the Additional Parking,
the Planned Amenities or the Tenant Upgraded Amenities; and (ii) Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize disrupting to Tenant’s business
operations in connection therewith.
 

Section 26.2    Installation. Tenant shall permit Landlord to install, use and maintain pipes, ducts and conduits within or through the demising walls of the
Premises, or through the walls, columns and ceilings therein, provided that the installation work shall be performed at such times and by such methods as will not
reduce the usable office space in the Premises or unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises, or adversely change the appearance thereof
and provided, further, Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to locate any such pipes, ducts and conduits within the core areas of the Building.
 

Section 26.3    Name; Management. Subject to Tenant’s signage rights contained in Section 5.6 hereof and Section 35.1(v) hereof, Landlord shall have the
right to name the Building and to change such name from time to time; provided, in the event Landlord names the Building, then subsequently changes the name of the
Building and requires Tenant to use such new Building name (or any subsequent new Building name) on Tenant’s business cards, Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for
the reasonable cost of new business cards revised to reflect the new Building name. It is the intent of the named Landlord that its Affiliate, BLT Management, LLC,
shall manage the Building, subject to change by Landlord from time to time, provided that at all times the Building shall be managed in a first-class manner consistent
with the standard for Comparable Buildings, including, without limitation, a property management team on call twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) day per week.
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Section 26.4    Intentionally Omitted.
 

ARTICLE 27

Inability to Perform
 

Section 27.1    Unavoidable Delay. Except where otherwise expressly provided herein, this Lease and the obligation of Landlord and Tenant to perform all of
the covenants and agreements hereunder on the part of either party to be performed (including, without limitation, Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent hereunder) shall in
no way be affected, impaired or excused because Landlord or Tenant, as the case may be, due to Unavoidable Delay, is: (a) unable to fulfill any of its obligations under
this Lease expressly or impliedly to be performed by such party; or (b) unable to supply or delayed in supplying any service expressly or impliedly to be supplied; or
(c) unable to make or delayed in making any repairs, replacements, additions, alterations or decorations; or (d) unable to supply or delayed in supplying any equipment
or fixtures. Landlord and Tenant shall in each instance exercise reasonable diligence to effect performance when and as soon as possible; provided, however, that
neither party shall be under any obligation to pay overtime labor rates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) lack of funds shall not be deemed a cause beyond either
party’s reasonable control; and (ii) the provisions of this Section shall not excuse Tenant from its obligation to pay Rent.
 

ARTICLE 28

Waivers
 

Section 28.1    Counterclaims. In the event Landlord commences any summary proceeding or other action for possession of the Premises, Tenant shall not
interpose any counterclaim in any such proceeding unless failure to impose such counterclaim would preclude Tenant from asserting in a separate action the claim
which is the subject of such counterclaim.
 

Section 28.2    Trial by Jury. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Landlord and Tenant hereby waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or
counterclaim brought by either against the other on any matter arising out of or in any way connected with this Lease, the relationship of Landlord and Tenant, or
Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises, any claim of injury or damage, or any emergency or other statutory remedy with respect thereto.
 

Section 28.3    No Waiver. The failure of either party to insist in any one or more instances upon the strict performance of any one or more of the agreements,
terms, covenants, conditions or obligations of this Lease, or to exercise any right, remedy or election herein contained, shall not be construed as a waiver or
relinquishment for the future of the performance of such one or more obligations of this Lease or of the right to exercise such election, but the same shall continue and
remain in full force and effect with respect to any subsequent breach, act or omission whether of a similar nature or otherwise.
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Section 28.4    Specific Examples. The following specific provisions of this Section shall not be deemed to limit the generality of the foregoing provisions of
this Article:
 

(a)     No agreement to accept a surrender of all or any part of the Premises shall be valid unless in writing and signed by Landlord. No delivery of
keys shall operate as a termination of this Lease or a surrender of the Premises.
 

(b)     The receipt or acceptance by Landlord of rents with knowledge of breach by Tenant of any term, covenant or condition of this Lease shall not
be deemed a waiver of such breach.
 

(c)     No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than the correct Rent shall be deemed to be other than a payment on account,
nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment be deemed to effect or evidence an accord and satisfaction,
and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the balance or pursue any other remedy in this Lease or at law
provided.
 

Section 28.5    Survival. The provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or any sooner termination of this Lease.
 

ARTICLE 29

Quiet Enjoyment
 

Section 29.1    Covenant. Landlord covenants and agrees that Tenant, upon paying all Rent and all other charges herein provided for and upon observing and
keeping all the covenants, agreements and provisions of this Lease on its part to be observed and kept, each within any applicable notice and cure period, shall
lawfully and quietly hold, occupy and enjoy the Premises during the Term without hindrance or molestation by, or from anyone claiming by, through or under,
Landlord.
 

ARTICLE 30

Rules and Regulations
 

Section 30.1    Compliance. Tenant and Tenant’s Representatives shall observe and comply with the Rules and Regulations annexed hereto as Exhibit F, and
such reasonable changes therein (whether by modification, elimination or addition) as Landlord hereafter may make and communicate in writing to Tenant (“Rules
and Regulations”).
 

Section 30.2    Enforcement. The manner of enforcement or the failure of Landlord to enforce any of the Rules and Regulations against Tenant and/or any
other tenant in the Building shall not be deemed a waiver of any such Rules and Regulations, and Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for violation of the same by
any other tenant, its employees, agents, visitors or licensees, except that Landlord shall not enforce any Rule or Regulation against Tenant which Landlord shall not
then be enforcing (or attempting in good faith to enforce) against all other tenants in the Building. In the event of a conflict between the Rules and Regulations and this
Lease, this Lease shall control.
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ARTICLE 31

Shoring; Nature of Accidents
 

Section 31.1    Access to the Premises. If an excavation or other substructure shall be undertaken or authorized upon land adjacent to the Building or in
subsurface space, Tenant, without liability on the part of Landlord therefor, shall afford to the person causing or authorized to cause such excavation or other
substructure work license to enter upon the Premises for the purpose of doing such work as such person shall deem necessary to protect or preserve any of the walls or
structures of the Building or surrounding land from injury or damage and to support the same by proper foundations, pinning and/or underpinning, and, except in case
of emergency, Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to have such entry accomplished during reasonable hours and within a reasonable time in the presence of a
representative of Tenant, who shall be designated by Tenant promptly upon Landlord’s request. The said license to enter shall not constitute an actual or constructive
eviction, in whole or in part, or, except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Lease, entitle Tenant to any abatement or diminution of rent, or relieve Tenant from any
of its obligations under this Lease, or impose any liability upon Landlord or Landlord’s agents. Landlord shall exercise its rights under this Section in a manner that
will not unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s use of the Premises or Tenant’s operation in the Premises.
 

Section 31.2    Notice. Tenant shall give prompt notice to Landlord of: (a) any accident in or about the Premises; (b) any fire in the Premises; (c) any and all
damages to or defects in the Premises including the fixtures, equipment and appurtenances thereof, for the repair of which Landlord might be responsible or which
constitutes Landlord’s property; and (d) all damage to or defects in any parts or appurtenances of the Base Building Systems located in or passing through the
Premises.
 

Section 31.3    Window Cleaning. Tenant will not require, permit, suffer or allow the cleaning of any window in the Premises by Tenant or Tenant’s
Representatives from the outside without Landlord’s prior written consent and unless the equipment and safety devices required by law, ordinance, rules and
regulations are provided and used.
 

ARTICLE 32

Brokerage
 

Section 32.1    Representation. Landlord and Tenant each represents to the other that in the negotiation of this Lease it has not retained or dealt with any real
estate broker other than Colliers International and Newmark Knight Frank. Each party shall indemnify the other and hold it harmless from any and all losses, damages
and expenses arising out of any inaccuracy or alleged inaccuracy of the above representation, including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. Landlord shall pay
all fees and commissions due and owing Colliers International and Newmark Knight Frank pursuant to one or more separate agreements. Landlord shall have no
liability for brokerage commissions arising out of a sublease or assignment by Tenant, and Tenant shall indemnify Landlord and hold it harmless from any and all
liability for brokerage commissions arising out of any such sublease or assignment.
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ARTICLE 33

Notices
 

Section 33.1    Notices. Notices, statements, demands, or other communications required or permitted to be given, rendered or made by either party to the
other pursuant to this Lease or pursuant to any applicable law or requirement of public authority, shall be in writing (whether or not so stated elsewhere in this Lease)
and shall be deemed to have been properly given, rendered or made, when hand delivered, received by certified mail with return receipt or overnight courier delivery
with receipt of delivery, or delivery refused, addressed to the other party, as follows:
 

To Landlord:
 

45 Glover Partners, LLC
One Elmcroft Road, Suite 500
Stamford, CT 06902
Attn: David F. Waters, Esq.

 
To Tenant prior to the Commencement Date:

 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
601 Merritt 7
Norwalk, CT 06851
Attn: Elizabeth Brennan
ebrennan@factset.com

 
with copies to:

 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
25 Sundial Avenue, Suite 205W
Manchester, NH 03103
Attn: Thomas Doucette
tdoucette@factset.com

 
and

 
Robinson & Cole LLP
1055 Washington Boulevard
Stamford, CT 06901
Attn: Charles F. Martin III, Esq.
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To Tenant after the Commencement Date:
 

FactSet Research Systems Inc.
45 Glover Avenue
Norwalk, CT 06850
Attn: Legal Department and legal@factset.com

 
with copies to:

 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
25 Sundial Avenue, Suite 205W
Manchester, NH 03103
Attn: Thomas Doucette
tdoucette@factset.com

 
and

 
Robinson & Cole LLP
1055 Washington Boulevard
Stamford, CT 06901
Attn: Charles F. Martin III, Esq.

 
Any party listed in this Section may, by notices as aforesaid, designate a different address for addresses for notices, statements, demands or other communications
intended for it.
 

ARTICLE 34

Estoppel Certificate; Financial Data; Notice of Lease
 

Section 34.1    Estoppel.
 

(a)     At any time and from time to time, Tenant shall, within 10 Business Days after notice by Landlord or a Mortgagee, execute, acknowledge and
deliver to Landlord and/or such Mortgagee a certificate certifying: (i) that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been modifications,
that this Lease is in full force and effect as modified, and stating the date and nature of each modification); (ii) the Possession Date, the Rent Commencement Date, the
Commencement Date, the Lease Expiration Date and the date, if any, to which all Rent and other sums payable hereunder have been paid; (iii) the amount of Fixed
Rent currently payable monthly, (iv) that no notice has been received by Tenant of any default by Tenant hereunder which has not been cured, except as to defaults
specified in such certificate; (v) to Tenant’s knowledge that Landlord is not in default under this Lease, except as to defaults specified in such certificate; and (vi) such
other matters as may be reasonably requested by Landlord or any current or prospective purchaser or mortgage lender. Any such certificate may be relied upon by
Landlord and any current or prospective purchaser or mortgage lender of the Premises or any part thereof.
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(b)     At any time and from time to time, Landlord shall, within 10 days after notice by Tenant, execute, acknowledge and deliver to Tenant a
certificate certifying: (i) that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been modifications, that this Lease is in full force and effect as
modified, and stating the date and nature of each modification); (ii) the Possession Date, the Rent Commencement Date, the Commencement Date, the Lease
Expiration Date and the date, if any, to which all Rent and other sums payable hereunder have been paid; (iii) the amount of Fixed Rent currently payable monthly, (iv)
that no notice has been received by Landlord of any default by Landlord hereunder which has not been cured, except as to defaults specified in such certificate; (v) to
Landlord’s knowledge that Tenant is not in default under this Lease, except as to defaults specified in such certificate; and (vi) such other matters as may be reasonably
requested by Tenant, any prospective assignee of this Lease, or other party then dealing with Tenant. Any such certificate may be relied upon by Tenant, any
prospective assignee of this Lease, or other party then dealing with Tenant.
 

Section 34.2    Financial Data. If Tenant is not a publicly traded entity, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord and any Mortgagee, not more frequently than two (2)
times per year and then within thirty (30) days after written request therefor from Landlord, provided that (i) such request from Landlord is based upon or related to a
financial event of Landlord wherein it is necessary or desirable for Landlord to obtain such financial information, including but not limited to a financing or sale of the
Property, and (ii) Landlord executes and delivers to Tenant a confidentiality agreement reasonably satisfactory to Tenant that requires Landlord and Landlord’s
Representatives to keep such information confidential and that limits disclosure of such information to such Persons who have a need to know such information, the
following information: (a) an audited or certified (by the chief financial officer of Tenant) balance sheet of Tenant for the most recent fiscal year available, and (b) an
audited (or certified as aforesaid) statement of profits and losses of Tenant for such year, and (c) an audited (or certified as aforesaid) statement of cash flows of Tenant
for such year, if available, in reasonable detail and scope (collectively the “Financial Data”). The requirement to provide the Financial Data shall be limited to the
initially-named Tenant hereunder. Any assignee or subtenant of Tenant hereunder that is a non-publicly traded entity shall be required to deliver only a statement of
profits and losses and a balance sheet of such entity and its consolidated subsidiaries, if any, for the most recent fiscal year available and quarterly statements, such
profits and losses statements and balance sheets to be audited, if available.
 

Section 34.3    Notice. Following execution of this Lease, the parties shall execute, acknowledge and deliver a statutory notice of lease in form attached
hereto as Exhibit V (the “Notice”) sufficient for recording and Tenant shall have the right to record the same. Such Notice shall not in any circumstance be deemed to
change or otherwise affect any of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease.
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ARTICLE 35

Miscellaneous
 

Section 35.1    Miscellaneous Provisions.
 

(a)     This Lease and all of the covenants and provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties hereto and the heirs,
personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns of the parties.
 

(b)     The titles and headings appearing in this Lease are for reference only and shall not be considered a part of this Lease or in any way to modify,
amend or affect the provisions thereof.
 

(c)     This Lease contains the complete agreement of the parties with reference to the leasing of the Premises, and may not be amended except by an
instrument in writing signed by Landlord and Tenant and consented to by the Mortgagee. Any amendment not consented to by the Mortgagee shall be void and have
no force and effect.
 

(d)     Any provision or provisions of this Lease which shall prove to be invalid, void or illegal shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any other
provision hereof, and the remaining provisions hereof shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect.
 

(e)     This Lease may be executed in one or more counterparts and delivered by facsimile or other electronic form (including a PDF attachment to an
e-mail transmission), and may be signed by each party on a separate counterpart, each of which, taken together, shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall
constitute one and same instrument.
 

(f)     The term “Landlord” as used in this Lease shall mean only the owner or owners of the Premises at the time in question. In the event of any
transfer of such title or interest, Landlord named in this Lease (and in case of any subsequent transfers, the then grantor) shall be relieved from and after the date of
such transfer of all liability with respect to Landlord’s obligations thereafter to be performed hereunder. The obligations contained in this Lease to be performed by
Landlord shall, subject as aforesaid, be binding on Landlord’s successors and assigns, only during their respective periods of ownership.
 

(g)     This Lease shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Connecticut.
 

(h)     Any claim based on or in respect of any liability of Landlord under this Lease shall be enforced only against the Property and the income and
proceeds therefrom and not against any other assets, properties or funds of Landlord or any manager, director, officer, shareholder, general partner, limited partner, or
direct or indirect partners, employee or agent of Landlord or its managers (or any legal representative, heir, estate, successor or assign of any thereof. Similarly, no
property or assets of any manager, director, officer, shareholder, member, general partner, limited partner, or direct or indirect partner, employee or agent of Tenant
shall be personally liable or subject to levy, execution or other enforcement procedure for the satisfaction of Landlord's remedies under this Lease.
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(i)     Without the written approval of Landlord and Tenant, no Person other than Landlord (including its direct and indirect partners), the Mortgagee
(but only if Mortgagee shall assume the rights and obligations of Landlord), Tenant and their respective successors and assigns shall have any rights under this Lease.
 

(j)     There shall be no merger of the leasehold estate created hereby by reason of the fact that the same Person may own directly or indirectly, (i) the
leasehold estate created hereby or any interest in this Lease or such leasehold estate and (ii) the fee estate in the Premises. Notwithstanding any such combined
ownership, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect until terminated by an instrument executed by both Landlord and Tenant.
 

(k)     Intentionally Omitted.
 

(l)      Intentionally Omitted.
 

(m)    In the event of the termination of this Lease as herein provided, the obligations and liabilities of Landlord and Tenant, as the case may be,
actual or contingent, under this Lease which arose at or prior to such termination shall survive such termination.
 

(n)     This Lease is intended as, and shall constitute, a true lease, and Landlord and Tenant shall report their interests herein of accounting, tax and
all other purposes as a true lease and shall not take any action or position inconsistent therewith.
 

(o)     Intentionally Omitted.
 

(p)     Landlord may grant easements, licenses, rights of way or similar rights, or release or amend any such easements or rights with respect to the
Premises, so long that such actions do not increase the obligations or decrease the rights of Tenant under this Lease or affect use by Tenant of the Premises as
permitted in Section 5.1 hereof. Tenant shall reasonably cooperate with Landlord in connection therewith, at no cost to Tenant.
 

(q)     Time shall be of the essence with respect to the dates for taking all actions under this Lease, except as otherwise specified.
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(r)     LANDLORD AND TENANT HEREBY SUBMIT TO EXCLUSIVE PERSONAL JURISDICTION IN THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT
AND THE FEDERAL COURTS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA LOCATED IN THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT (AND ANY APPELLATE COURTS
TAKING APPEALS THEREFROM) FOR THE ENFORCEMENT OF SUCH PERSON’S OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER AND WAIVE ANY AND ALL
PERSONAL RIGHTS UNDER THE LAW OF ANY OTHER STATE TO OBJECT TO JURISDICTION WITHIN SUCH STATE FOR THE PURPOSES OF SUCH
ACTION, SUIT, PROCEEDING OR LITIGATION TO ENFORCE SUCH OBLIGATIONS OF TENANT OR LANDLORD. WITH RESPECT TO A SUIT
COMMENCED IN A COURT LOCATED IN THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT, LANDLORD AND TENANT HEREBY WAIVE AND AGREE NOT TO
ASSERT, AS A DEFENSE IN ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS LEASE (i) THAT IT IS NOT SUBJECT TO
SUCH JURISDICTION OR THAT SUCH ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING MAY NOT BE BROUGHT OR IS NOT MAINTAINABLE IN THOSE COURTS OR
THAT IT IS EXEMPT OR IMMUNE FROM EXECUTION; (ii) THAT THE ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING IS BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT
FORUM; OR (iii) THAT THE VENUE OF THE ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING IS IMPROPER. IN THE EVENT ANY SUCH ACTION, SUIT,
PROCEEDING OR LITIGATION IS COMMENCED, SERVICE OF PROCESS MAY BE MADE, AND PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER LANDLORD AND
TENANT OBTAINED, BY SERVICE OF A COPY OF THE SUMMONS, COMPLAINT AND OTHER PLEADINGS REQUIRED TO COMMENCE SUCH
LITIGATION BY CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED UPON LANDLORD AND TENANT AT THE ADDRESS FOR NOTICE TO SUCH
PERSON IN THIS LEASE.
 

(s)     Landlord shall, at Tenant’s request and expense, reasonably cooperate with Tenant (including, without limitation, providing Tenant and/or any
federal, state or municipal governmental agency and/or quasi-governmental agency as directed by Tenant, any necessary documents, instruments and/or information
under the control of Landlord and executing and delivering any documents reasonably requested by Tenant and/or any such governmental agency (including, without
limitation, any required Department of Revenue Exemption Certificate), (i) to enable Tenant to attempt to obtain a sales tax exemption with respect to materials used
in construction of the Tenant Improvements or Alterations, and (ii) to enable Tenant to attempt to obtain and/or retain any other federal, state and/or municipal
government economic incentives, including, without limitation, from the Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development and the Connecticut
Development Authority.
 

(t)     So long as the Minimum Occupancy Requirement is satisfied, Landlord shall not lease space in the Building to a Competitor.
 

(u)     So long as the Minimum Occupancy Requirement is satisfied and so long as the ownership entities of 801 Main and 901 Main are Affiliates of
Landlord, Landlord shall not lease space in the 801 Main Building or the 901 Main Building to Bloomberg, L.P. and shall not permit a Competitor to have exterior
signage on the 801 Main Building or the 901 Main Building, unless such signage rights exist within the leases of such tenants currently leasing space at the 801 Main
Building and 901 Main Building as of the date hereof.
 

(v)     During the Term, Landlord shall not lease space in the Building to any (i) school for school purposes, (ii) hostile foreign governmental or
quasi-governmental entity, or (iii) retail tenants not in keeping with the Class A nature of the Property.
 

(w)     Landlord and Tenant each represents and warrants to the other that (i) it has the right, power and authority to execute and deliver this Lease;
(ii) no consent of any other party is required to be obtained prior to it entering into this Lease; and (iii) this Lease has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by
it and is a valid and binding obligation of it enforceable against it in accordance with the terms hereof.
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(x)     Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that (i) upon granting its consent to Tenant’s proposed signage, Tenant Improvements and any
Alterations, such consent shall constitute a further representation and warranty that Tenant is not required to obtain the approval of any party under the REA for such
signage, Tenant Improvements and any Alterations, as the case may be; (ii) upon granting Tenant the use of the Additional Parking Lots, such grant shall constitute a
further representation and warranty that Landlord has all necessary access and use rights necessary for Tenant to make use of the Additional Parking Lots in the
manner contemplated in this Lease; (iii) as of the date hereof, Landlord has not exercised its right to include the Property in the Merritt 7 Reciprocal Easement
Agreement; (iv) to Landlord’s knowledge, without investigation, no default by Landlord exists under the Permitted Encumbrances; and (v) Landlord is the “Parcel 10
Owner” under the REA and has and retains all such rights under such REA, including, without limitation, all such approval rights, if any, as to Parcel 8 (as defined in
the REA) and Parcel 9 (as defined in the REA).
 

[ SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease on the day and year first above written.
 
 Landlord:
  
  
 45 GLOVER PARTNERS, LLC
  
   
  By:/s/ Carl R. Kuehner 
  Name: Carl R. Kuehner
  Title: Manager
   
  
 Tenant:
  
 FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.
  
   
  By:/s/ F. Philip Snow
  Name: Philip Snow
  Title: Chief Executive Officer
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A-1
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT A-2
 

 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A-3
 

 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A-4

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT A-5
 

 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT B
 

DESCRIPTION OF LAND
 
That certain piece or parcel of land, depicted as "Revised Parcel 10 on that certain map entitled, "Property Survey Depicting Revised Parcels 8, 9 & l 0, Map 12028
N.L.R., Norwalk, CT Prepared for 25 Glover Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC" dated April 4, 2002 and certified "To my
knowledge and belief this map is substantially correct as noted hereon," by Raymond L. Redniss CT Lie. No. l 0046, filed with the City Clerk of said Norwalk,
Connecticut as Map No. 12293 N .L.R.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated February 9, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4041
at Page 2; as amended by that certain First Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated April 22, 2002 by and among 25 Glover
Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC and recorded April 23, 2002 in Volume 4426 at Page 90 of the Norwalk Land Records, as
amended by Second Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated December 15, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5267 at Page 278
of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Fairfield Investors, Inc., dated June 18, 1996 and recorded in Volume 3222 at Page
284 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Merritt River Partners LLC dated June 22, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4146 at Page
346 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights created in the following:
 
Temporary Easement and Right of Way as set forth in a deed dated December 30, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5261 at Page 205.
 
Easement in a Quit Claim Deed from The State of Connecticut dated February 3, 2004 and recorded in Volume 5305 at Page 158.
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT C
 

Permitted Encumbrances
 
1. REA; and
 
2. Reciprocal Easement Agreement between Fairfield Investors, Inc. and First Merritt Seven Corp., dated February 22, 1983 and recorded in Volume 1461 at

Page 261; as modified by Agreement dated April 11, 1986 and recorded in Volume 1832 at Page 262 of the Norwalk Land Records (the “Merritt 7
Reciprocal Easement Agreement”)

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT D
 

HVAC SPECIFICATIONS
 

 
The HVAC system design for the building is based on the following criteria:
1. Summer design outdoor condition: 86ºF DB 73ºF WB.
2. Winter design temperature: 6ºF
3. Indoor design conditions:

a. Occupied office space: 78ºF (summer), 68º (winter)
b. Occupied office space humidity range:

Summer – 60% RH (Max.)
Winter – 30 % (Min.)

c. Elevator machine rooms: 85ºF maximum, 65ºF minimum
4. Lighting at typical office spaces: 1.5 watts per usable sq. ft. (70% assigned to space
loads)
5. Diversified tenant equipment heat loads: 2.5 watts per usable sq. ft.
6. Outside air: 20 CFM per person; population density for outside air ventilation: 7 people
per 1,000 usable sq. ft. (ASHRAE 62-89)
7. Population: 100 GSF/person (for space head load calculations.)
8. The HVAC system is designed such that sound levels do not exceed the following:

a. General office areas – NC 40
b. Spaces adjacent to air handling unit equipment rooms or below roof mounted equipment – NC 45
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT E
 

CLEANING SPECIFICATIONS
 
DAILY
Sweep, dry mop or vacuum all floor areas of resilient wood or carpet, remove matter such as gum and tar, which has adhered to the floor.
 
Empty all ashtrays and waste baskets and removal all trash. Wipe down ashtrays and waste baskets.
 
Empty all recycling bins
 
Wipe down countertops
 
Spot wash to remove major smudges, marks and fingerprints from such areas as walls, equipment, doors, partitions and light switches within reach.
 
Damp mop all non-resilient floors.
 
Dust and wipe all desk and table tops, so long as desks and table tops are not covered with files, paper or other personal effects.
 
Wash clean all water fountain tops and countertops.
 
Dust closet shelving, coat racks, telephones, furniture, fixtures and window sills.
 
Dust all vinyl, plastic or leather type synthetic covered chairs nightly and wipe clean as needed
 
WEEKLY
Spot clean carpet stains.
 
Spot wash interior partition glass and door glass to remove smudge marks.
 
MONTHLY
Scrub resilient floor areas using buffable non-slip floor finish.
 
Clean all interior glass, both sides.
 
Clean the exterior and saddles of elevator doors.
 
 
QUARTERLY
Vacuum all ceiling and wall air supply and exhaust vents and diffusers
 
Clean all glass and mirrors in common lobbies.
 
High dust pictures, frames, charts, graphs and similar wall hangings or surfaces not reached in nightly cleanings, the exterior of lighting fixtures, overhead pipes and
sprinklers located in the Premises.
 
Wipe down all convector covers
 

 



 
 
SEMI-ANNUALLY
 
Wash vertical terrazzo or marble surfaces.
 
Damp wash such items, including surrounding wall or ceiling areas that are soiled.
 
Clean exterior and interior windows
 
ANNUALLY
Vacuum drapes/blinds.
 
Dust all storage shelves and damp mop floor areas.
 
Wash all interior surfaces of exterior glass.
 
Refinish resilient floor areas using buffable non-slip floor finish.
 
LAVATORY CLEANING
Nightly
Scrub, rinse and dry floors.
Wipe mirrors, power shelves, bright work (including flushometers, piping, and toilet seat hinges).
Clean enameled surfaces, wash basins, urinals and bowls.
Wash both sides of all toilet seats with soap and water.
Wash tile walls near urinals with disinfectant
Fill toilet tissue dispensers, as needed
Fill all soap, towel sanitary napkin dispensers as needed
Empty and wash clean all waste cans and other receptacles
 
Weekly
Treat urinals with a scale solvent, weekly
 
Monthly
Wash down lavatory walls and stalls from trim to floor.
Wash down partitions, tile floors and enameled surfaces.
Dust all lighting fixtures.
 
General
Landlord to provide sanitary dispensary units in ladies’ rooms.
 
PORTER/MATRON DUTIES
Police lobby area, elevator cabs and lavatories twice daily.
Fill toilet tissue, soap, towel dispensers, as needed.
Keep garage lobby vestibules clean
Keep sidewalks free from debris and snow/ice.
Keep all stairwells clean and free of debris.
Keep the building entrance doors in clean condition.
Keep base building exterior metal work, marble, and building entrance in clean condition at all times.
Keep plaza, outdoor seating, railings, lights and other appurtenances clean.
Insert plastic liners in outdoor waste disposal cans and empty cans as needed.
 

 



 
 
Note:
This specification does not include the cleaning of IT/equipment rooms. This specification does not include cleaning of dishes, glasses, silverware, equipment or
cooking materials located in a kitchenette. This specification does not include carpet shampooing. This specification does not include the type of cleaning involved for
high end finishes such as wood paneling, office glass panel walls, marble, stone or other high finish flooring (other than normal mopping/cleaning)
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT F
 

RULES AND REGULATIONS
 
To the extent the provisions of these Rules and Regulations conflict with the provisions of the Lease, the provisions of the Lease shall control.
 

 

1. The sidewalks, driveways, entrances, passages, courts, lobby, esplanade areas, plaza, elevators, vestibules, stairways, corridors or halls shall not be
obstructed or encumbered by any tenant or used for any purpose other than ingress and egress to and from the Premises, and Tenant shall not permit any
of its employees, agents, or invitees to loiter in any of said areas (except for the outdoor plaza). No doormat of any kind whatsoever shall be placed or
left in any public hall or outside any entry door of the Premises. Smoking is not permitted in the Building or on the plaza deck. Smoking is currently
permitted within the smoking hut located at the loading dock.

 

 
2. No awnings or other projections shall be attached to the outside walls of the Building. No curtains, blinds, shades or screens that are visible from the

exterior of the Premises or Building shall be attached to or hung in, or used in connection with, any window or door of the Premises, without the prior
written consent of Landlord (including the manner of hanging or attachment).

 

 

3. No sign, insignia, advertisement, object, notice or other lettering shall be exhibited, inscribed, painted or affixed by any tenant either (a) on any part of
the outside of the Building, or (b) inside of the Common Areas, or (c) outside of the Premises, without in each such case the prior written consent of
Landlord. In the event of the violation of the foregoing by any tenant, Landlord may remove the same without any liability, and may charge the expense
incurred in such removal to the tenant or tenants violating this rule. Interior signs in Common Areas of the Building (if and when approved by Landlord),
and lettering on doors and directory tablets shall be inscribed, painted or affixed for each tenant by Landlord at the reasonable expense of such tenant,
and shall be of a size, color and style which matches Building standard or is otherwise reasonably acceptable to Landlord.

 

 
4. The sashes, sash doors, skylights, windows, and doors that reflect or admit light and air into the halls, passageways or other public places in the Building

shall not be covered or obstructed by any tenant, nor shall any bottles, parcels, or other articles be placed on the window sills or on the peripheral air-
conditioning enclosures.

 
 5. No showcases or other articles shall be put in front of or affixed to any part of the exterior of the Building, nor placed in the halls, corridors or vestibules.
 

 

6. The water and wash closets and other plumbing fixtures shall not be used for any purpose other than those for which they were designed or constructed,
and no sweepings, rubbish, rags, acids or other substances shall be thrown or deposited therein. All damages resulting from any misuse of the fixtures
shall be borne by the tenant who, or whose servants, employees, agents, visitors or licensees shall have, caused the same. Except as specified in
Landlord’s cleaning specifications, any cuspidors or containers or receptacles used as such in the Premises shall be emptied, cared for and cleaned by and
at the expense of Tenant.

 
 



 
 

 
7. No tenant shall mark, paint, drill into, or in any way deface any part of the Premises, Common Areas or the Building. No borings or cuttings shall be

permitted, except with the prior written consent of Landlord, and as Landlord may direct. Subject to the foregoing, Tenant may install and hang normal
office decorations and cabinetry in the Premises.

 

 8. No bicycles, vehicles, birds or animals of any kind (except fish) shall be brought into or kept in or about the Premises. However, this prohibition shall not
apply to dogs which are assisting visually impaired personnel or which may be utilized for detecting illegal drugs or explosives.

 

 

9. No noise, including, but not limited to, music or other playing of musical instruments, recordings, radio or television, which, in the judgment of
Landlord, might disturb other tenants in the Building, shall be made or permitted by any tenant. Nothing shall be done or permitted in the Premises by
any tenant, which would impair or interfere with the use or enjoyment by any other tenant of any other space in the Building or on the outdoor plaza
deck.

 

 
10. No tenant nor any of tenant’s servants, employees, agents, visitors or licensees shall at any time bring or keep upon the Premises any inflammable,

combustible or explosive fluid, chemical or substance, except in small quantities as may be required for the proper operation, maintenance and/or
cleaning of customary office equipment, provided Tenant shall comply with any and all laws and regulations governing usage and disposal of same.

 

 

11. Additional locks or bolts of any kind which shall not be operable by the Grand Master Key for the Building shall not be placed upon any of the doors or
windows by any tenant, nor shall any changes be made in locks or the mechanism thereof which shall make such locks inoperable by said Grand Master
Key. Each tenant shall, upon the termination of its tenancy, turn over to Landlord all security cards, Smartpass cards, all keys of stores, offices and toilet
rooms, either furnished to, or otherwise procured by, such tenant, and in the event of the loss of any keys furnished by Landlord, such tenant shall pay to
Landlord the cost thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to install locksets for senior executive offices not operable by the
Grand Master Key, provided that Tenant provides building management with a copy of the key(s) for the senior executive offices in the case of
emergencies.

 

 

12. The removal or delivery of furniture or extra-large or heavy items which may interfere with the use and occupancy of the Building by other tenants, or
with their access to their respective leased premises, must take place during such hours and in such elevators as Landlord or its Agent may reasonably
determine from time to time. Landlord reserves the right to inspect all objects and matter to be brought into the Building and to exclude from the
Building all objects and matter which violate any of these Rules and Regulations or the Lease of which these Rules and Regulations are a part. Landlord
may require any person leaving the Building with any package or other object or matter to submit a pass, listing such package or object or matter is being
removed, but the establishment and enforcement of such requirement shall not impose any additional responsibility on Landlord for the protection of any
tenant against the removal of property from the premises of such tenant. Landlord shall in no way be liable to any tenant for damages or loss arising from
the admission, exclusion or ejection of any person to or from the Premises of the Building under the provisions of this Rule 12 or Rule 16 hereof.

 
 



 
 

 

13. Tenant shall not occupy or permit any portion of the Premises to be occupied as an office for a public stenographer or public typist, or for the storage,
manufacture, or sale of liquor, narcotics, dope, tobacco in any form, or as a barber, beauty or manicure shop, or as a school, or as a hiring or employment
agency. Tenant shall not engage or pay any employees on the Premises, except those actually working for Tenant on the Premises (excluding independent
contractors). Tenant shall not use the Premises or any part thereof, or permit the Premises, or any part thereof to be used for manufacturing or for the sale
at auction of merchandise, goods or property of any kind. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to perform Electronic Internet
Auctions.

 

 

14. No tenant shall obtain, purchase or accept for use in the Premises catering, ice, water cooler, towel service, barbering, boot blackening, special cleaning,
floor polishing or other similar services from any persons not expressly authorized by Landlord to furnish such service; provided, however, that such
service may be furnished by an outside vendor or caterer in the event the vendors and/or caterers doing business at The Towers at Merritt River office
park fail to bid competitive prices or rates for such services. Such services shall be furnished only during regular Business Hours, in the Premises, and
under such reasonable regulations as may be fixed by Landlord. Notwithstanding the above, this prohibition shall not prevent Tenant from furnishing
such services for its employees, guests, invitees and independent contractors, or prevent Tenant’s employees from bringing in lunch items and/or having
coffee breaks. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to utilize exterior vendors and/or caterers, provided that Tenant utilizes such
vendors that maintain the Class A nature of the Building.

 

 
15. Landlord shall have the right to prohibit any advertising or identifying sign by any tenant which, in Landlord’s judgment, tends to impair the reputation

of the Building or its desirability as a building for offices and upon written notice from Landlord, such tenant shall refrain from or discontinue such
advertising or identifying sign.

 

 

16. Landlord reserves the right to exclude from the Building during hours other than Business Hours (as defined in the foregoing Lease) all persons
connected with or calling upon Tenant who do not present a pass to the Building signed by Tenant or whose entry Tenant does not approve in response to
telephone inquiry from the front desk upon such person’s arrival at the Building. Tenant shall furnish Landlord with a facsimile of such pass. All persons
entering and/or leaving the Building on weekends or Holidays or on non-Holiday weekends before or after Business Hours may, after a single notice
from Landlord to Tenant, be required to sign a register. Tenant shall be responsible for all persons for whom it issues any such pass and shall be liable to
Landlord for all acts or omissions of such persons.

 
 



 
 

 17. Tenant, before closing and leaving the Premises at any time, shall see that all operable windows are closed and lights are turned out. All entrance doors in
the Premises shall be left locked by Tenant when the Premises are not in use. Entrance doors shall not be left open at any time.

 

 
18. Unless Landlord shall furnish electrical energy hereunder as a service included in the rent, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s expense, provide artificial light an

electrical energy for the employees of Landlord and/or Landlord’s contractors while doing janitor service or other cleaning in the Premises and while
making repairs or alterations in the Premises.

 
 19. The Premises shall not be used for lodging or sleeping or for any immoral or illegal purpose.
 

 
20. The requirements of tenants will be attended to only upon notice of Landlord’s managing agent and, if Landlord or its managing agent requests, upon

execution and submission or written application or purchase order. Employees of Landlord shall not perform any work or do anything outside of their
regular duties, unless under special instructions from Landlord.

 
 21. Canvassing, soliciting and peddling in the Building are prohibited and each tenant shall cooperate to prevent the same.
 

 
22. There shall not be used in any space, or in the public halls of the Building, either by any tenant or by any others, in the moving or delivery or receipt of

safes, freight, furniture, packages, boxes, crates, paper, office material, or any other matter of thing, any hand trucks except those equipped with rubber
tires, side guards and such other safeguards as Landlord shall require.

 

 
23. Tenant shall not cause or permit any odors of cooking or other processes or any unusual or objectionable odors to emanate from the Premises in

disturbance of other tenants or which creates a public or private nuisance. No cooking shall be done in the Premises except as is expressly permitted in
the foregoing Lease.

 

 

24. Landlord reserves the right to rescind, alter or waive any rule or regulation at any time prescribed for the Building when, in its judgment, it deems it
necessary or desirable for the reputation, safety, care or appearance of the Building, or the preservation of good order therein, or the operation or
maintenance of the Building, or the equipment thereof, or the comfort of tenants or others in the Building. No rescission, alteration or waiver of any rule
or regulation in favor of one tenant shall operate as a rescission, alteration or waiver in favor of any other tenant.

 
 



 
 

 

25. The parking areas servicing the Building, including but not limited to any reserved spaces of Tenant, shall not be used for storage of vehicles or long-
term parking of vehicles; it being the intention that Tenant’s use of said parking areas is to be directly related to Tenant’s use of Premises as said use is
permitted by the terms of its Lease. Landlord reserves the right to cause the removal, by towing, of vehicles in violation of this parking rule, it being
understood and agreed by Tenant that Landlord’s right to tow illegally parked vehicles is hereby noticed to Tenant and no notice of Landlord’s right to
tow illegally parking vehicles by signage need be posted on the Land or the Building. All costs of the towing of illegally parked cars shall be borne by
Tenant and shall be deemed additional rent.

 
 26. The garage is only to be used by tenants and their employees. All visitors and guests shall use visitor parking spaces located on the plaza level.
 

 27. The garage will have control access gates at each entry and exit. In order to enter the garage, one must have a valid Smart Pass (affixed to the front
windshield of your car).

 
 28. The speed limit within the garage and on the flyover bridge shall be 5 m.p.h. and is strictly enforced.
 

 29. Overnight parking on the plaza level or in the garage is prohibited. You should defer to your specific lease for an individual tenant’s rights to park in the
garage after hours.

 

 30. Vehicles may not be parked in such a manner as to block access to: garages, fire hydrants, pedestrian crossing areas, designated fire lanes, or clear two
lane passage by vehicles on the flyover bridge and driveways. Violators will be towed.

 

 31. The following types of vehicles are prohibited in the parking areas or drives except for temporary loading or unloading: commercial vehicles (carrying a
sign advertising a business); trucks, vans and vehicles with more than four single-tired wheels.

 
 32. All vehicles parked on the property will be licensed and in operating condition for safe travel on public roads.
 

 33. The maximum height for vehicles accessing the garage is 6’ 8”. You will be responsible for damages resulting from any vehicles exceeding this height
requirement. Vehicles with roof racks shall enter at their own risk.

 
 34. All persons will comply with Connecticut State Laws and Department of Motor Vehicles regulations on the roads, drives and property.
 

 35. Parking in the garage is “at your own risk”. Ownership and management shall not be held responsible for any damage to vehicles nor be responsible for
any items left in vehicles.

 
 36. Tenants and their employees may park only in those areas assigned to them.
 

 



 
 
 37. Parking stickers are issued to each tenant to distribute to each of its employees. Each building is identified by a different color as follows:
 
 o 801 Main Avenue: Red
 o 901 Main Avenue: Green
 o 45 Glover Avenue: Blue
 
 38. Stickers should be affixed to the Speed Pass facing the windshield so that it is visible for inspections.
 
 39. All visitors must report to reception of the appropriate building of which they are visiting
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT G
 

SECURITY SPECIFICATIONS
 

BUILDING ACCESS
General:
Tenant shall have 24-hour, 7-day-per-week, 365-day-per-year access to the Building and to the Premises. Access shall be controlled by electronic cardkey and/or on-
duty personnel. All external doors to the Building, including all doors providing access from the Garage to the Building, shall be equipped with electronic card
readers, and access shall not be granted through such doors without a valid cardkey, whether during Business Hours or non-Business Hours. During Business Hours,
the main entrance to the Building may be accessed without a cardkey, provided that Building security personnel shall be on duty in the main lobby and shall verify the
identity of the employee or visitor.
 
Tenants:
Each tenant shall be given a set amount of cardkeys for their personnel (one (1) per parking space allocated to each tenant’s use) and shall be entitled to additional or
replacement cards as provided in the Building’s Rules and Regulations.
 
Upon notice from a tenant, the card keys of any tenant or Building personnel who are terminated or change their employment shall be de-activated by Building
management.
 
Visitors:
All visitors to the Building during Business Hours must sign in with Building security personnel and/or concierge at the reception desk located in the main lobby.
Building security/concierge shall require a photo i.d. of all visitors and shall verify the visitor’s bona fides with the host tenant before permitting the visitor past the
security desk. During Non-Business Hours, or at any other times that Building security personnel are not present in the main lobby, or at any time that a visitor is
unable to provide a photo i.d., visitors may access the Building only if escorted by an employee of a tenant with a valid cardkey.
 
Deliveries:
All deliveries must be made at the Building’s loading dock. Deliveries made other than during Business Hours must be scheduled with Building management 24 hours
in advance of the delivery to allow for notification to Building security. All out-going packages must be brought to the Tenant’s mailroom for pick up directly from the
appropriate carrier. Packages will not be allowed to be left at the main lobby reception desk or at the loading dock for pick up.
 
Garage Access:
The Building Garage shall be equipped with a “smart pass” or similar system that opens the control gate when activated, allowing for vehicle access into the Garage.
Authorized users shall be issued a “smart pass” and shall have the right to use the Garage. Building visitors may use the on grade portion of the parking deck located at
the front of the Building. In the event the visitor parking area becomes full, Building security may allow visitors into the Garage. In this event, visitors will be directed
to report to the security desk. The Building Garage shall be adequately lighted at all times that it is in use. All exterior parking areas, walkways and other accessways
shall be adequately lighted from dusk until dawn.
 

 



 
 
BUILDING SECURITY PERSONNEL
The Building shall have not less than one (1) person (unarmed security officers and/or concierge or other Building personnel) on duty at all times twenty-four (24)
hours a day, seven (7) days a week (including Building Holidays). During non-Building Hours, a roving security personnel on duty shall provide for various tours of
the Building, tenant premises, and other Glover Avenue properties. Security personnel shall be responsible for managing deliveries at the Building’s loading dock and
directing deliveries to the appropriate tenant. Building security personnel shall also patrol the Garage and exterior parking areas and shall escort employees and
invitees to the Garage and/or exterior parking areas upon request.
 
BUILDING MONITORING
The Building will be equipped with security cameras to cover all external door entrances to the Building and the Garage, as well as all entrances from the Garage to
the Building. Security cameras shall be actively monitored by Building security personnel on screens located at the main lobby security desk and/or at a central
monitoring station. Images provided by the cameras will be recorded on a DVR, digital or similar device and maintained for not less than 30 days, and shall be made
available to Tenant upon request for security purposes. Building intruder and fire alarms and life-safety generator systems shall be connected to a central monitoring
panel with automatic notification to Building management during Business Hours and off-site (as to the fire alarm only) during non-Business Hours.
 
 
LIFE SAFETY/EVACUATION AND BUILDING EMERGENCY PLANS
A plan for life safety/evacuation and for Building emergencies shall be adopted prior to the occupancy of the Building and a copy of such plans shall be distributed to
each tenant. Such plan as well as any modifications thereto shall comply with all Applicable Laws. Each tenant is expected to ensure that its employees and invitees
are aware of such plans and comply with them as needed. The Premises and the main lobby security desk shall be equipped with emergency/panic buttons that shall be
tied in directly to Landlord’s security provider.
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT H
 

GENERATOR LOCATION
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT I
 

LANDLORD’S WORK
 
All of the following is hereinafter referred to collectively as “Landlord’s Work”:
 
A.           Landlord’s Work to be Completed by the Possession Date. Landlord shall complete the following work by the Possession Date:
 

1.     Demolition per Addendum I attached hereto, including without limitation, demolition of the bathrooms, at a cost not to exceed $(Redacted). All
demolition costs in excess of $(Redacted) for the scope of work described on Addendum I or for any additional work requested by Tenant shall be paid by Tenant.
 
B. Landlord’s Work to be Completed No Later Than Thirty (30) Days Prior to the Commencement Date. Landlord shall complete the following work no later

than thirty (30) days prior to the Commencement Date:
 

1.     Installation of handicapped ramp on 8th floor terrace.
 

2.     Renovation of 1st floor bathrooms.
 

3.     Shuttle bus enclosure at site of Additional Parking.
 

4.     Marketplace Cafeteria located on the first floor of the Building in the location of the semi-demolished cafeteria. Such cafeteria shall be substantially
similar in quality to the cafeteria at 695 East Main Street, Stamford, CT (a rendering thereof is set forth on Addendum II, which rendering is provided as conceptual
only) and Landlord shall agree that any kitchen equipment to remain from the current build-out shall have a useful life in excess of ten (10) years.
 

5.     1st class fitness center (unmanned) with full locker rooms and showers (a rendering thereof is set forth on Addendum III, which rendering is provided as
conceptual only).
 

6.     State of the art conferencing center to be located across from the Marketplace Cafeteria with multi-purpose configurable, flexible space that can be used
by tenants of the Building or the Park (the “Conference Center”) (a rendering thereof is set forth on Addendum IV, which rendering is provided as conceptual only).
 

7.     Renovated, modern, upscale Building lobby designed by a qualified architect, such as Gensler. Some or all of the credit union space will be considered
in the design of the lobby and Landlord will consider a stairway in the lobby to the second floor of the Building, to be installed at Tenant’s cost, provided such
stairwell will become a part of the Premises and Rent and other economic terms under the Lease shall be adjusted accordingly and further provided such stairway does
not diminish the multi-tenant character of the Building and does not materially diminish the design of the lobby.
 

 



 
 

8.     Renovate the area immediately outside the newly installed “garage doors” leading from the Building to the plaza deck, as appropriate, to allow for a
smooth transition to the outdoor plaza deck.
 

9.     Additional seating for the outside plaza deck.
 

10.     Bike rack within the Building’s garage.
 

11.     Additional Parking.
 

12.     A “Starbucks type” Coffee Bar located in the Building which shall be open to all Building and other Park tenants
 

13.      Number 4 through and including Number 10 above is hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Planned Amenities”.
 

Landlord, at Landlord’s cost, agrees that all programming and design for the Marketplace Cafeteria, Fitness Center, Building Lobby and Conference Center
shall be done in conjunction with Tenant. Landlord shall construct such improvements in accordance with the final plans and specifications, subject to required field
changes, and will update Tenant periodically. As part of the design, Landlord has agreed to install “garage doors” with glass panels in the Marketplace Cafeteria to
allow flow into the courtyard, which will contain seasonal outdoor seating and eating area and tables.
 

The Subsidy System/Software and such “Starbucks type” Coffee Bar are hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Tenant Upgraded Amenities”.
 

 



 
 

Addendum I
 

 
 

(Redacted)
 

 



 
 

Addendum II
 

 
 



 
 

Addendum III
 

 
 



 
 

Addendum IV
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT J
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT K
 

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT L
 

FORM OF NONDISTURBANCE AGREEMENT 
 

[see ten pages attached]
 

 



 
 
RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:
 
 
Blank Rome LLP
405 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10174
Attention: Michael J. Feinman, Esq.

 

  
Space above for Recorder's Use    

 
 

SUBORDINATION, NONDISTURBANCE AND
ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT

 
 

This SUBORDINATION, NONDISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT (as amended, supplemented or modified from time to time, this
“Agreement”) is entered into as of February 14, 2018 by BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national banking association (“Bank”), as administrative agent for Lenders
(hereinafter defined), 45 GLOVER PARTNERS, LLC, a Connecticut limited liability company (“Landlord”), and FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC., a
Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).
 

RECITALS
 

A. Landlord and Tenant have entered into a lease agreement dated as of February 14, 2018 (as amended, supplemented or modified, the “Lease”),
covering certain premises, containing approximately 173,164 rentable square feet (the “Demised Premises”) located at 45 Glover Avenue, Norwalk, Connecticut
(“Property”). The Property is more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein.
 

B. Lenders (as hereinafter defined) have extended credit to 25 Glover Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC, 45 Glover Partners, LLC, and Merritt
River Commercial LLC (collectively, the “Borrower”), which credit is secured, in whole or in part, by that certain Consolidated, Amended and Restated Open-End
Mortgage Deed, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing from Borrower to Bank, encumbering the Property (as amended,
supplemented, modified, renewed, consolidated, replaced and extended from time to time, the “Mortgage”), dated as of November 17, 2016, which Mortgage has been
recorded in the Land Records of the City of Norwalk, Connecticut, and by that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (Consolidation), dated of even date
with the Mortgage (the “Credit Agreement”), and executed by and among Borrower, Bank, as administrative agent, and the lenders appearing as signatories thereto
(collectively, “Lenders”). The Mortgage secures certain obligations to Bank as more particularly described therein and in the other loan and security documents
executed in connection therewith (such documents collectively, with the Mortgage and the Credit Agreement, the “Loan Documents”).
 

C. On the terms and conditions in this Agreement, the parties desire to subordinate Tenant's leasehold interest in the Property to the lien of the
Mortgage and to assure Tenant possession of the Property in accordance with the terms of the Lease, even though Bank may foreclose the lien of the Mortgage before
expiration of the Lease.
 

 



 
 

Therefore, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

Section 1. Subordination.
 

The Lease, the leasehold estate created thereby, and all rights and privileges of Tenant thereunder shall be subject and subordinate to the lien of the Mortgage,
and to any increases, advances, renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements and extensions of or made under the Mortgage, to the full extent of the
obligations now or hereafter secured by the Mortgage.
 

Section 2. Nondisturbance.
 

So long as Tenant is not in default, beyond any applicable grace or cure period set forth in the Lease, in the payment of rent or any other amounts due under
the Lease, and no other Event of Default (as defined in the Lease) shall have occurred and be continuing, Tenant's possession of the Property and Tenant's rights and
privileges under the Lease, including any extensions or renewals, shall not be diminished, disturbed or interfered with by Acquiring Party (as hereafter defined)
following a Transfer (as hereafter defined) or Bank during the term of the Lease or any extensions or renewals thereof, subject to the express terms and conditions of
this Agreement. So long as Tenant is not in default, beyond any applicable grace or cure period set forth in the Lease, in the payment of rent or any other amounts due
under the Lease, and no other Event of Default (as defined in the Lease) shall have occurred and be continuing, Lenders will not join Tenant as a party for the purpose
of terminating or otherwise affecting Tenant's interest under the Lease, in any action of foreclosure or other proceeding brought by Bank or any of the Lenders to
enforce any rights arising because of any default under the Mortgage. Bank may, however, join Tenant as a party if joinder is necessary under any statute or law to
secure the remedies available to Bank under the Mortgage, but joinder shall be for that purpose only and not for the purpose of terminating the Lease or affecting
Tenant's right to possession of the Property.
 

Section 3. Attornment.
 

If the Landlord's interest in the Property is transferred to and owned by Bank, or any successor or designee of Bank, or any other party that acquires
ownership of the Property through the Bank (any such party that so succeeds, an “Acquiring Party”) because of foreclosure, deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, or other
proceedings brought by Bank, or by any other manner (a “Transfer”), Tenant shall be bound to the Acquiring Party, and Acquiring Party shall be bound to Tenant
under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease for the balance of the remaining term, including any extensions or renewals thereof, with the same effect
as if Acquiring Party were landlord under the Lease. Tenant agrees to attorn to Acquiring Party as the landlord, with the attornment being effective and self-operable
immediately upon Acquiring Party succeeding to the interest of Landlord under the Lease, all without the execution by the parties of any further instruments.
However, Tenant shall not be obligated to pay rent to Acquiring Party until Tenant receives written notice from Acquiring Party, together with evidence reasonably
satisfactory to Tenant, demonstrating that Acquiring Party has succeeded to Landlord's interest under the Lease and directing where rent should be mailed. The
respective rights and obligations of Tenant and Acquiring Party upon attornment, to the extent of the then-remaining balance of the term of the Lease, shall be the
same as in the Lease, which is incorporated by reference in this Agreement. If Acquiring Party succeeds to Landlord's interest in the Lease, Acquiring Party shall be
bound to Tenant under all the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease, and Tenant shall, after Acquiring Party's succession to Landlord's interest, have the same
remedies against Acquiring Party for the breach of any agreement in the Lease that Tenant might have had against Landlord; provided, however, that the terms,
covenants and conditions of the Lease pursuant to which Acquiring Party shall be bound to Tenant following a Transfer shall be subject to and superseded by any
contrary terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

 



 
 

Notwithstanding any provisions of the Lease, this Agreement, or any other document to the contrary, if Acquiring Party shall become the owner of the
Property, or the Property shall be sold by reason of foreclosure or other proceedings brought to enforce the Mortgage or if the Property shall be transferred by deed in
lieu of foreclosure, Acquiring Party shall not be:
 

(a)     liable for any act, omission, or obligation of any prior landlord (including Landlord) accruing prior to a Transfer, except to the extent that any
such acts, omissions, or obligations are expressly required under, prohibited or otherwise set forth in the Lease (as the case may be) and shall continue after the date
Acquiring Party succeeds to Landlord’s ownership interest in the Property (the “Transfer Date”), provided Bank has received written notice of such acts, omissions,
or obligations and fails to cure such continuing acts, omission or obligations after the Transfer Date within the cure period afforded to Landlord under the Lease; or
 

(b)     obligated to cure any defaults of any prior landlord (including Landlord) which occurred prior to the Transfer Date, except to the extent that
any such defaults shall continue after the date Acquiring Party succeeds to any such prior landlord (including Landlord), provided Bank has received written notice of
any such defaults prior to the Transfer Date and fails to cure such defaults after the Transfer Date within the cure period afforded to Landlord under the Lease;
 

(c)     subject to any offsets, defenses or counterclaims which Tenant may be entitled to assert against any prior landlord (including Landlord),
except (i) for Tenant’s rights to extend the Rent Commencement Date under Section 22.1(d)(i) of the Lease and to offset Rent (as defined in the Lease) under Section
22.1(d)(ii) of the Lease (it being understood, however, that neither Bank nor any of the Lenders shall have any obligation to pay for or perform any Landlord’s Work
(as defined in the Lease), Tenant’s sole remedy against Bank and the Lenders under said Section 22.1(d) being as described above in this clause (i)); (ii) for offsets
against Rent (as defined in the Lease) to the extent expressly permitted under Section 22.2 of the Lease in respect of unpaid TIA (as defined in the Lease), provided
that Bank received written notice thereof as provided in this Agreement (it being understood, however, that neither Bank nor any of the Lenders shall have any
obligation to pay any TIA, Tenant’s sole remedy against Bank and the Lenders under said Section 22.2 being the above described offset against Rent); and (iii) in the
case of any other offsets, defenses or counterclaims that may be expressly asserted under the Lease, to the extent the same shall continue after the Transfer Date,
provided that Bank received written notice thereof as provided in this Agreement and fails to cure such continuing acts, omission or obligations giving rise to the
offset, defense or counterclaim after the Transfer Date within the cure period afforded to Landlord under the Lease; or
 

 



 
 

(d)     liable or responsible for or with respect to the retention, application and/or return to Tenant of any security deposit paid to any prior landlord
(including Landlord), whether or not still held by such prior landlord (including Landlord), unless and until Acquiring Party has actually received said deposit for its
own account as the landlord under the Lease as security for the performance of Tenant's obligation under the Lease (which deposit shall, nonetheless, be held subject
to the provisions of the Lease); or
 

(e)     (i) bound by any amendment or modification hereafter made to the Lease that changes the term of the Lease or that reduces Tenant's
monetary obligations under the Lease (other than to a de minimis extent) or that increases Landlord's obligations or liabilities under the Lease (other than to a de
minimis extent) or that reduces Tenant's other obligations or liabilities under the Lease (other than to a de minimis extent), (ii) bound by any prepayment of the rents,
additional rents or other sums due under the Lease for more than one (1) month in advance of the due date thereof, except as expressly provided in Article 4 or Article
6 of the Lease; or (iii) except for a cancellation, surrender or termination effected unilaterally by Tenant as expressly permitted by the Lease or by an order of a court
of law, bound by any surrender of the Demised Premises or cancellation or termination of the Lease unless Bank shall have consented thereto in writing in each
instance (it being understood that a notice of termination delivered by Landlord without Bank’s written consent shall be ineffective, and in such case Landlord shall
be deemed to have elected not to terminate the Lease).
 
Tenant shall give Bank written notice of (i) any default by Landlord under the Lease, (ii) any damage to the Building, the Garage or the Premises as to which Tenant is
obligated to provide notice to Landlord under Section 15.1 of the Lease, (iii) any condemnation or similar proceeding affecting all or any portion of the Premises, as to
which Tenant has received notice, and (iv) any discontinuance of Essential Services (as defined in Section 11.7 of the Lease) that lasts for more than five (5)
consecutive days and renders all of a portion of the Premises untenantable. Tenant will accept cure of any Landlord default by Bank, but Bank has no obligation to
cure any default by Landlord and shall have no liability for not curing any Landlord default, and any cure by Bank shall not relieve Landlord of liability to Tenant for
such default, and Bank shall not have any cure period with respect to any such matters beyond the cure period provided to Landlord.
 

Section 4. Tenant’s Purchase Option.
 

The lien of the Mortgage shall unconditionally be and remain at all times prior to release of the Mortgage a lien on the Property prior and superior to any
existing or future option or right of first refusal of Tenant to purchase the Property or any portion thereof. In the event of any Transfer, Tenant specifically waives any
right, whether arising out of the Lease or otherwise, to exercise any purchase option or right of first refusal to purchase which remains unexercised at the time of such
transfer.

 
Section 5. No Change in Lease.

 
Except to the extent expressly permitted in Section 3(e) of this Agreement, the Landlord and Tenant agree not to change, alter, amend or otherwise modify the

Lease without the prior written consent of Bank, and any such change, alteration, amendment, or other modification to the Lease made without the prior written
consent of Bank shall be void as to Bank.

 
 



 
 

Section 6. Notices.
 

In this Agreement, wherever it is required or permitted that notice and demand be given by any party to another party, that notice or demand shall be given in
writing and sent by (i) pre-paid certified mail, return receipt, (ii) nationally recognized overnight courier, or (iii) by hand, addressed as follows:
 

Tor Landlord:         45 Glover Partners, LLC
One Elmcroft Road, Suite 500
Stamford, CT 06902
Attn: David F. Waters, Esq.

 
To Tenant prior to the Commencement Date:

 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
601 Merritt 7
Norwalk, CT 06851
Attn: Elizabeth Brennan
ebrennan@factset.com

 
with copies to:

 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
25 Sundial Avenue, Suite 205W
Manchester, NH 03103
Attn: Thomas Doucette
tdoucette@factset.com
 
and
 
Robinson & Cole LLP
1055 Washington Boulevard
Stamford, CT 06901
Attn:  Charles F. Martin III, Esq.

 
To Tenant after the Commencement Date:

 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
45 Glover Avenue
Norwalk, CT 06850
Attn: Legal Department and legal@factset.com
 
with copies to:

 
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
25 Sundial Avenue, Suite 205W
Manchester, NH 03103
Attn: Thomas Doucette
tdoucette@factset.com
 

 



 
 

and
 
Robinson & Cole LLP
1055 Washington Boulevard
Stamford, CT 06901
Attn:  Charles F. Martin III, Esq.

 
To Bank:               Bank of America, N.A.

One Bank of America Center
150 N. College Street
Charlotte, NC 28255
Mail Code - NC1-028-27-03
Attention: James Peterson, IV

 
Any party may change an address given for notice by giving not less than ten (10) days’ prior written notice of that change by certified mail to all other

parties. All notices and communications shall be effective (i) if delivered by hand, when delivered; (ii) if sent by mail, upon the earlier of the date of receipt or three
(3) business days after deposit in the mail, certified, first class, postage prepaid; and (iii) if sent by overnight courier, on the next business day.

 
Section 7. Authority.

 
If any party is a corporation, limited liability company, or a partnership, all individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of such corporation, limited

liability company, or partnership represent and warrant that they are authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of the corporation, limited liability
company, or partnership and that this Agreement is binding upon such corporation, limited liability company, or partnership.
 

Section 8. Miscellaneous.
 

This Agreement supersedes, as between the parties hereto and any Acquiring Party, including upon any attornment pursuant to this Agreement, all of the
terms and provisions of the Lease which are inconsistent herewith. This Agreement may not be modified other than by an agreement in writing signed by the parties or
by their respective successors in interest. If any party commences any action against any other party based on this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to
recover reasonable attorney fees, expenses, and costs of suit. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective heirs,
successors and assigns. The headings of this Agreement are for reference only and shall not limit or define any meaning of this Agreement. This Agreement may be
executed in one or more counterparts, each of which is an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall be construed in
accordance with and governed by Connecticut law.

 
Tenant acknowledges that the interest of Landlord under the Lease is assigned to Bank solely as collateral security, and Bank shall have no duty, liability or

obligation under the Lease or any extension or renewal thereof, unless Bank becomes an Acquiring Party and Tenant attorns to the Bank or another Acquiring Party
pursuant to Section 3 of this Agreement, in which case the Bank or such Acquiring Party shall become liable for all performances of Landlord under the Lease for the
balance of the Lease Term and any renewal thereof.

 
 



 
 

The Landlord agrees that (a) this Agreement does not (i) constitute a waiver by Bank of any of its rights under the Mortgage or any of the other loan and
security documents executed in connection therewith and/or (ii) in any way release the Landlord, as mortgagor and/or lessor, from its obligation to comply with the
terms, provisions, conditions, covenants and agreements of the Mortgage and such other loan and security documents and the Lease, (b) the provisions of the
Mortgage and such other loan and security documents remain in full force and effect and are not modified by this Agreement, and (c) in the event of a default by the
Landlord under the Mortgage, upon notice to Tenant, Tenant may be required (beginning with the next payment due) to pay all rent and all other sums due under the
Lease to Bank or Acquiring Party (as applicable) in accordance with the Lease, and, in such event, Tenant agrees to pay all rent and all other sums due Landlord under
the Lease directly to Bank or Acquiring Party (as applicable pursuant to the notice provided), and Landlord hereby expressly authorizes Tenant to make such
payments, and further agrees that any sums so paid shall be in satisfaction of Tenant’s obligations under the Lease.

 
In the event an Acquiring Party shall acquire Landlord's interest in the Property, Tenant shall look only to the estate and interest, if any, of Acquiring Party in

the Property and the income derived therefrom, or proceeds from the disposition thereof for the satisfaction of Tenant's remedies for the collection of a judgment (or
other judicial process) requiring the payment of money in the event of any default by Acquiring Party under the Lease or under this Agreement, and no other property
or assets of Acquiring Party shall be subject to levy, execution or other enforcement procedure for the satisfaction of Tenant's remedies under or with respect to the
Lease, the relationship of the landlord and tenant under the Lease, Tenant's use or occupancy of the Property, or any claim arising under this Agreement.

 
Tenant further represents and warrants that Tenant and all guarantors of all or any portion of the Lease, if applicable: (i) are not a person or entity with whom

Bank is restricted from doing business with under regulations of the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) of the U.S. Department of the Treasury (including,
but not limited to, those named on OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons list) or under any statute, executive order (including, but not limited
to, the September 24, 2001 Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism),
or other governmental action; (ii) are not a person or entity with whom Bank is restricted from doing business under the International Money Laundering Abatement
and Financial Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001 or the regulations or orders thereunder; and (iii) are not knowingly engaged in any dealings or transaction or otherwise
knowingly associated with such persons or entities described in clauses (i) and (ii) above.

 
Bank and Tenant agree to effect the recording of this Agreement in the Land Records of the City of Norwalk, Connecticut.
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
 

 



 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
 

 
 
Witnessed By:
 
 
 
________________________________________
 
 
Printed Name:____________________________
 
 
_______________________________________
 
 
Printed Name:____________________________

Bank:
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
 
a national banking association, as administrative agent for Lenders
 
 
By:___________________________(Seal)
 
Printed Name________________________
 
Title_______________________________

  
  
 
 
Witnessed By:
 
 
 
________________________________________
 
 
Printed Name:____________________________
 
 
_______________________________________
 
 
Printed Name:____________________________

Landlord:
 
45 GLOVER PARTNERS, LLC,
a Connecticut limited liability company
 
 
By:___________________________(Seal)
 
 
Printed Name________________________
 
Title_______________________________

 
 



 
 

 
 
Witnessed By:
 
 
________________________________________
 
 
Printed Name:____________________________
 
 
_______________________________________
 
 
Printed Name:____________________________

Tenant:
 
FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.,
a Delaware corporation
 
By:___________________________(Seal)
 
Printed Name: Philip Snow
 
Title: Chief Executive Officer
 

 
 



 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT
 
 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK )
 ) ss.
COUNTY OF NEW YORK )
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 16th day of February, 2018 by Nina McElroy, the Managing Director of Bank of America, N.A.,
a national banking association, as her free act and deed on behalf of said association.
 
 
 ____________________________________________
 Notary Public
 My commission expires: ________________________
  
STATE OF ____________________________ )
 ) ss.
COUNTY OF __________________________ )

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of _________, 20__ by ____________________________________, the

______________________________ of _______________________________________, a _______________________________, as his/her free act and deed on
behalf of said ____________________.
 
 
 ____________________________________________
 Notary Public
 My commission expires: ________________________
  
STATE OF NEW YORK )
 ) ss. New York
COUNTY OF NEW YORK )

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of February, 2018, by Philip Snow, the Chief Executive Officer of FactSet Research

Systems Inc., a Delaware corporation, as his free act and deed on behalf of said corporation.
 
 
 _____________________________________________
 Notary Public
 My commission expires: _________________________
 

 



 
 

Exhibit A
 

 
 

(LEGAL DESCRIPTION)
 

 
 
That certain piece or parcel of land, depicted as "Revised Parcel 10 on that certain map entitled, "Property Survey Depicting Revised Parcels 8, 9 & l 0, Map 12028
N.L.R., Norwalk, CT Prepared for 25 Glover Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC" dated April 4, 2002 and certified "To my
knowledge and belief this map is substantially correct as noted hereon," by Raymond L. Redniss CT Lie. No. l 0046, filed with the City Clerk of said Norwalk,
Connecticut as Map No. 12293 N .L.R.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated February 9, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4041
at Page 2; as amended by that certain First Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated April 22, 2002 by and among 25 Glover
Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC and recorded April 23, 2002 in Volume 4426 at Page 90 of the Norwalk Land Records, as
amended by Second Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated December 15, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5267 at Page 278
of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Fairfield Investors, Inc., dated June 18, 1996 and recorded in Volume 3222 at Page
284 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Merritt River Partners LLC dated June 22, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4146 at Page
346 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights created in the following:
 
Temporary Easement and Right of Way as set forth in a deed dated December 30, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5261 at Page 205.
 
Easement in a Quit Claim Deed from The State of Connecticut dated February 3, 2004 and recorded in Volume 5305 at Page 158. 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT M
 

ESTIMATED OPERATING EXPENSES AND REAL ESTATE TAXES
 

 
 

(Redacted)
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT N
 

CHANGE ORDER FORM
 

 
 

Change Order No. ____
 
To:
 
________________________

________________________
Attn:
 
From:
 
__________________ LLC
c/o Building and Land Technology
One Elmcroft Road
Stamford, CT 06851
 
 
Description of Change
 
 
Total Amount of Change $ _________________
  
Turnover of Floors ___________ Extended  _____________Days
  
Final Completion Date Extended _____________Days
 
 

 
Accepted:
 
____________________________ ______________________________
  
By:_________________________  By:_____________________________
  
Date:_________________________ Date:_____________________________
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT O
 

CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY FOR THE BUILDING
 

[see two pages attached]
 

 



 

 



 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT P-1
 

20 GLOVER
 
All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land, located in the City of Norwalk, County of Fairfield and State of Connecticut, being part of a common interest community
known as MERRITT ON THE RIVER, A COMMON INTEREST COMMUNITY, A CONDOMINIUM, the original Declaration ("Declaration") of which is dated
June 22, 2001 and recorded June 27, 2001 in Volume 4147 at Page 1 of the Norwalk Land Records; (the term "Declaration" shall include the original declaration
referred to above and that certain First Amendment recorded in Volume 4208 at Page 281, aforesaid records and that certain Second Amendment recorded in Volume
4544 at Page 206, aforesaid records) known, designated and identified as UNIT NUMBER 1 "MERRITT ON THE RIVER, A COMMON INTEREST
COMMUNITY, A CONDOMINIUM", together with buildings and improvements thereon, its allocated interest in the Common Elements and its Limited Common
Elements, and all appurtenances thereto as more fully set forth and described in said Declarations; SUBJECT, HOWEVER, to all of the terms, covenants, conditions,
agreements, restrictions, easements and matters set forth or referred to in the Declaration.
 
LESS AND EXCEPT the Development Rights, Special Declarant Rights and Additional Rights set forth in Article 9 of the Declaration recorded in Volume 4554 at
Page 206 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT P-2
 

801 MAIN
 
That certain piece or parcel of land, depicted as "Revised Parcel 8 on that certain map entitled, "Property Survey Depicting Revised Parcels 8, 9 & 10, Map 12028
N.L.R., Norwalk, CT Prepared for 25 Glover Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC" dated April 4, 2002 and certified "To my
knowledge and belief this map is substantially correct as noted hereon," by Raymond L. Redniss CT Lie. No. 10046, filed with the City Clerk of said Norwalk,
Connecticut as Map No. 12293 N.L.R.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated February 9, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4041
at Page 2; as amended by that certain First Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated April 22, 2002 by and among 25 Glover
Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC and recorded April 23, 2002 in Volume 4426 at Page 90 of the Norwalk Land Records, as
amended by Second Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated December 15, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5267 at Page 278
of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Fairfield Investors, Inc., dated June 18, 1996 and recorded in Volume 3222 at Page
284 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Merritt River Partners LLC dated June 22, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4146 at Page
346 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights created in the following:
 
Temporary Easement and Right of Way as set forth in a deed dated December 30, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5261 at Page 205.
 
Easement in a Quit Claim Deed from The State of Connecticut dated February 3, 2004 and recorded in Volume 5305 at Page 158.
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT P-3
 

901 MAIN
 
That certain piece or parcel of land, depicted as "Revised Parcel 9 on that certain map entitled, "Property Survey Depicting Revised Parcels 8, 9 & 10, Map 12028
N.L.R., Norwalk, CT Prepared for 25 Glover Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC" dated April 4, 2002 and certified "To my
knowledge and belief this map is substantially correct as noted hereon," by Raymond Redniss CT Lie. No. 10046, filed with the City Clerk of said Norwalk,
Connecticut as Map No. 12293 N.L.R.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated February 9, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4041
at Page 2; as amended by that certain First Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated April 22, 2002 by and among 25 Glover
Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC and recorded April 23, 2002 in Volume 4.426 at Page 90 of the Norwalk Land Records, as
amended by Second Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated December 15, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5267 at Page 278
of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Fairfield Investors, Inc., dated June 18, 1996 and recorded in Volume 3222 at Page
284 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Merritt River Partners LLC dated June 22, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4146 at Page
346 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights created in the following:
 
Temporary Easement and Right of Way as set forth in a deed dated December 30, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5261 at Page 205.
 
Easement in a Quit Claim Deed from The State of Connecticut dated February 3, 2004 and recorded in Volume 5305 at Page 158.
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT P-4
 

THE PARK SITE PLAN
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT Q
 

ROOFTOP TERRACE
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT R
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT S
 

ADDITIONAL PARKING AREAS
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT T
 

Shuttle Bus Enclosure
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT U
 

EXISTING THIRD PARTY ROFO RIGHTS
 
 
 
 
At 45 Glover Avenue:
 
 ● General Electric Capital Corporation
 ● Bridgewater Associates, LP

 
 
At 801 Main Avenue:
 
 ● Diageo North America, Inc.
 ● General Electric Capital Corporation
 

 
At 901 Main Avenue:
 
 ● Diageo North America, Inc.

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT V
 

FORM OF NOTICE
 

NOTICE OF LEASE
 
 
 

Pursuant to Section 47-19 of the Connecticut General Statutes (1958 version, as amended), notice is hereby given of the existence of the following lease (the
“Lease”):
 
 1. The name and address of Landlord is:
 

45 Glover Partners, LLC
1 Elmcroft Road, Suite 500
Stamford, CT 06902

 
 2. The name and address of Tenant is:
 
 
 
 
 3. The date of execution of the Lease is: _____ ____, 201___
 

 4. The description of the leased premises (the “Premises”) as contained in the Lease is ______ (___) floor in the building known as 45 Glover Avenue,
Norwalk, Connecticut on the land on which the building is located, described on Exhibit A hereto.

 

 5. The initial term of the Lease is for approximately _____________ (___) years, the scheduled date of commencement being approximately
______________ and the scheduled date of expiration being approximately _______________.

 
 6. The Lease contains the following right of extension or renewal: _______ (___) __________ (___) year option(s) to extend.
 
 7. The Lease contains no option to purchase.
 

 8. Nothing contained in this instrument shall be deemed to modify or change any of the provisions of the Lease. In the event of any conflict between the
terms of the Lease and the terms of this Notice, the Lease shall govern. A copy of the Lease is on file in the Landlord’s office.

 
 9. This instrument shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns of the parties.
 

 



 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument as of the ____ day of February, 2018.
 
 
Witnesses: LANDLORD:
 45 GLOVER PARTNERS, LLC
  
  
  
___________________________________ By:___________________________________
 Name:
 Title:
  
___________________________________  
  
  
 TENANT:
 FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.
  
  
  
___________________________________ By:___________________________________
 Name:
 Title:
  
___________________________________  
                         

 



 
 
STATE OF CONNECTICUT )
 ) ss: Stamford
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ________, 20___ by ____________, Authorized Signatory of 45 Glover Partners,
LLC, a Connecticut limited liability company, on behalf of the company.
 
 
 
 ___________________________________
 Name:
 Commissioner of the Superior Court
 Notary Public
 My commission expires:_______________
 
 
STATE OF CONNECTICUT )
 ) ss: Norwalk
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of February, 2018, by ____________________, ____________________ of FactSet
Research Systems Inc., a Delaware corporation, on behalf of the company.
 
 
 
 ___________________________________
 Name:
 Commissioner of the Superior Court
 Notary Public
 My commission expires:_______________

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT A
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
 
 
 
That certain piece or parcel of land, depicted as "Revised Parcel 10 on that certain map entitled, "Property Survey Depicting Revised Parcels 8, 9 & l 0, Map 12028
N.L.R., Norwalk, CT Prepared for 25 Glover Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC" dated April 4, 2002 and certified "To my
knowledge and belief this map is substantially correct as noted hereon," by Raymond L. Redniss CT Lie. No. l 0046, filed with the City Clerk of said Norwalk,
Connecticut as Map No. 12293 N .L.R.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated February 9, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4041
at Page 2; as amended by that certain First Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated April 22, 2002 by and among 25 Glover
Partners, LLC, 35 Glover Partners, LLC and Hewitt Associates VII LLC and recorded April 23, 2002 in Volume 4426 at Page 90 of the Norwalk Land Records, as
amended by Second Amendment to Reciprocal Easements and Restrictive Covenants Agreement dated December 15, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5267 at Page 278
of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Fairfield Investors, Inc., dated June 18, 1996 and recorded in Volume 3222 at Page
284 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights set forth in Declaration of Easement by Merritt River Partners LLC dated June 22, 2001 and recorded in Volume 4146 at Page
346 of the Norwalk Land Records.
 
TOGETHER WITH the easement rights created in the following:
 
Temporary Easement and Right of Way as set forth in a deed dated December 30, 2003 and recorded in Volume 5261 at Page 205.
 
Easement in a Quit Claim Deed from The State of Connecticut dated February 3, 2004 and recorded in Volume 5305 at Page 158. 
 



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, F. Philip Snow, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FactSet Research Systems Inc.;
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

 
 a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

   
 b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

   
 c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
   

 d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

   

 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have any significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

   
Date: April 9, 2018     
  /s/ F. PHILIP SNOW  
  F. Philip Snow  
  Chief Executive Officer  
 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Maurizio Nicolelli, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FactSet Research Systems Inc.;
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

    
 a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

   
 b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

   

 c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

   

 d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
     
 a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
   
 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have any significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
          
Date: April 9, 2018    
  /s/ MAURIZIO NICOLELLI  
  Maurizio Nicolelli  
  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer  
 



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2018, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, F. Philip Snow, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to
§906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
/s/ F. PHILIP SNOW  
F. Philip Snow
Chief Executive Officer
April 9, 2018

 

 



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2018, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Maurizio Nicolelli, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant
to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
/s/ MAURIZIO NICOLELLI  
Maurizio Nicolelli
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
April 9, 2018

 

 


